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PROFILE OF THE GROUP

Top Spring International Holdings Limited (“Top Spring” or the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, collectively the “Group”, “we"” or “us”) is a
conglomerate group integrating the real estate investment and development,
industrial operation, commercial property management, formative education
and emerging industries investment businesses operating in the mainland
(excluding Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan Province, “Mainland China”) of
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC” or “China”) and the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region (“Hong Kong”).

The Group always adheres to the positioning of building quality property. With
a strong focus on the commercial and residential property investment and
development, asset management, industrial operation and other businesses
in the Greater Bay Area (as defined below), the centres of which are Hong
Kong, Shenzhen and Guangzhou, as well as the economically dynamic regions
including Shanghai, the Group actively leverages multinational operations and is
familiar with the characteristics of Hong Kong and Mainland China to integrate
global resources and develop sustainable metropolitan industry communities
through city-industry integration, serve urban development and industrial
upgrading and strive to become a practitioner on diversified investments in
facilitating the achievement of national strategies.

Business Review

In 2022, the Group recorded an aggregate of pre-sales of properties and car
park units of approximately HK$703.0 million (2021: HK$1,709.6 million), pre-
sold saleable gross floor area (“GFA") of 7,877 square metres (“sg.m.”) (2021:
25,527 sq.m.).

In 2022, the Group’s rental income from investment properties was
approximately HK$223.2 million (2021: HK$247.0 million), representing
a decrease of approximately 9.6%. As at 31 December 2022, the overall
occupancy rate of the Group’s investment properties was approximately 83.3%.
As at 31 December 2022, the total leasable GFA of the Group’s operating
investment property portfolio was approximately 304,789 sg.m.. In addition,
as at 31 December 2022, the accumulated total area of properties managed
by the Group amounted to approximately 16,550,000 sg.m., of which
approximately 11,720,000 sq.m. was properties not developed by the Group
and approximately 4,830,000 sq.m. was commercial property management
projects. Currently, one of the property companies of the Group ranked
55th in the “Top 100 Property Management Companies in China” for eight
consecutive years from 2015 to 2022 with its scale of property management
expanding year on year.
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As at 31 December 2022, the land bank (that is, the net saleable/leasable GFA)
of 21 projects of the Group was approximately 447,849 sg.m.. In terms of land
bank strategy, the Group will primarily focus on the Greater Bay Area and the
first-tier cities in China, such as Shenzhen, Shanghai and Hong Kong.

Business Analysis

In 2022, the international landscape was subject to acute volatility while the
global economy suffered a major setback amidst serious conflicts caused by
a range of mutual factors including the COVID-19 pandemic, Russia-Ukraine
conflict and the resulting food and energy crisis, rising inflation, tightened
debt and urgent climatic conditions, among others. Confronted by challenges
both at home and abroad, China withstood the pressure and achieved stable
economic progress with record-high gross domestic product (“GDP"). Stability
in the real estate sector as a pillar industry of the national economy became
more important than ever. By the fourth quarter of 2022, the property market
policy had entered into a phase of comprehensive easing. Under the general
principle of “housing for accommodation, not speculation”, the regulatory
authorities announced a number of favourable policies ranging from support
for demand on one end to support for developers on the other end with
increasing magnitude. In the meantime, this also provided local authorities with
more leeway for policy implementation, as close to one thousand policies were
announced by over 300 provinces and municipalities (counties), representing a
record high for recent years, while mortgage interest rates in many local regions
reached historic low levels. Towards the end of 2022, the “three arrows” —
credit lines, real estate sector’s bonds and equities — were successively launched
to boost market confidence and support stable and healthy development of the
property market.

To address a changing world amidst the historic transition of times, the Group
persisted in an operating strategy that sought prudent progress as it closely
tracked the changes in industry policy and made timely adjustments in its
operating strategies based on analyses of economic developments and market
conditions to counter the risk of declining industry cycles and advance the
disciplined development of various businesses in a steady yet vigorous manner.
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For our urban industrial community business, Shanghai Top Spring International
Centre (with a GFA of approximately 100,000 sq.m.), the Group’s exemplary
project in the urban industrial community business, has been approved as
one of the third batch of Artificial Intelligence and Big Data Innovation Bases
in Yangpu District, Shanghai, while the Hi-Tech park, which is where the
project is located, has been included in the list of 2021 Shanghai Software
and Information Service Industry Bases (Integrated Incubation Bases). With
a strong focus on strategic new sectors such as innovative technology,
financial services and modern services, the project has attracted prestigious
enterprises in categories such as Shanghai Hi-tech Enterprises, Shanghai Hi-
tech Commercialisation Projects, Shanghai Technology SME Technological
Innovation Funding Programme Enterprises and Yangpu Innovative SMEs.
The project is committed to creating a positive industrial ecosystem, providing
industrial services to enterprises and assisting resident enterprises to apply for
benefits under various industrial policies and innovative projects of Shanghai
Municipality and Yangpu District, in a bid to facilitate their growth and
development.

For our urban renewal projects in Mainland China, the Group focused on
promoting the Jishengchang project in Longgang District, Shenzhen, which
has been included in the scope of prioritised projects for demolishing and
redevelopment under the “14th Five-year Plan” of the city. Currently, the study
of the plan of coordinating the benefits in land consolidation based on the
Measures on the Coordination on Benefits in Land Consolidation in Shenzhen
(ORI L B F 25 H Z 99X ) (draft for comment) is in progress, as
we strive to step up with the advancement of the project after the official
announcement of the policy. In connection with the renovation of old factories
in Nansha District, Guangzhou, the renovation plan for an area of 52.5 mu
has been included in the “Guangzhou Annual Urban Redevelopment Planning
20227 (CEM 2022 F4 ™ E# B EH FE5TE)), while the “Implementation
Plan for Redevelopment and Conversion (Government Intake)” ({3 #7 2k i&
H e 5 2= (BT U#E))) of the project has been considered and approved
at the preparatory meeting of the Urban Redevelopment Steering Group.
The “Planning Unit Control and Adjustment Plan” ({}8 &/ 28 jT % 48 38 &
75 Z&)) for the site has been completed and submitted to the approval
procedure. Following due approval, we will endeavour, in 2023, to submit
the “Implementation Plan for Redevelopment and Conversion (Government
Acquisition)” ((EFTHGEE 5 T (BAFUEE))) to the meeting of the Urban
Redevelopment Steering Group for consideration, as well as to enter into a land
acquisition agreement with the government of Nansha District to facilitate site
inclusion in the government’s land supply plan.
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For the development and construction of projects under construction in
Mainland China, the Shenzhen Upper Residence, a high-end residential and
apartment project with a GFA of approximately 77,800 sg.m. and a total value
of RMB2.5 billion launched for sale since late September 2020, registered
sales of approximately RMB1.763 billion as at the end of 2022. Topspring
International Mansion and Jianshang Commercial Building in Shenzhen, with a
GFA of approximately 101,700 sg.m., are scheduled for sale in the third quarter
of 2023. The districts where the two aforesaid projects are located have been
included in the core urban zones of Shenzhen and are within the boundaries
of Hongshan central business district in Longhua District, Shenzhen. As the
surrounding areas begin to develop into a cluster for medium- to high-end
consumer brands with further improvements in ancillary commercial facilities,
the overall value of the project will be further enhanced.

Our projects in Hong Kong have also reported sound progress. The PENTHOUSE
128, a featured breathtaking pool-view unit of 128 WATERLOO in Hong Kong,
was sold for over HK$240 million at HK$70,000 per square feet (“sq.ft.”),
smashing previous price records as highest transaction price for high-rise
properties in Kowloon in 2022. As at the end of 2022, a total of 45 units
had been sold since the launch of the project, generating sales in excess
of HK$1 billion, including revenue from sales of parking lots. Customers
included celebrities and professionals of the city, while the featured units were
enthusiastically sought after. For Yuen Long Shap Pat Heung Road Project and
Tai Tong Road Project with a GFA of approximately 280,000 sq.ft. developed
in joint venture with Kerry Properties Limited, advanced design and ground
engineering works are currently in progress and completion of construction is
scheduled for 2025. The Sheung Shui Ma Sik Road Project (with a site area of
approximately 142,000 sq.ft.) has received approval from the Town Planning
Board for changing from low-density into high-density residential units and
application regarding the conditions of exchange and land premium payment
is in progress. The Group will seize the development opportunities in Hong
Kong’s Northern Metropolis, where the project is located, and fully explore
the development potential of the land and the project. The Group will also
work actively through various channels to identify opportunities for investment
in premium projects, with a view to ensuring continuous investment and
development in the Hong Kong market.
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In connection with commercial and property management, certain commercial
tenants of Top Spring were subject to the volatile cycle of business suspension
and resumption all through the year in 2022 owing to the pandemic. Top
Spring actively adopted a number of stabilising measures such as assistance
in resources and rental concessions to help its tenants get back on track.
Meanwhile, we also optimised the retail portfolio of our properties and stepped
up with tenancy solicitation to fill up the unoccupied properties, so as to assure
continuity of our commercial operations. As at the end of 2022, Top Spring
reported an overall occupancy rate of 94%, bucking the market trend with a
year-on-year increase of 5% and earning itself a place among the “TOP100
Commercial Property Enterprises - Business Performance”. Currently, Top
Spring Property are managing 104 projects under contract with an aggregate
GFA of 16.55 million sgq.m., among which 4 have been awarded with the title
"Exemplary Residential Communities with Excellence in Property Management
at Provincial Level” and 7 have been awarded with the title “Exemplary
Residential Communities with Excellence in Property Management at Municipal
Level”. Shenzhen Top Spring Property ranked 55th among the “China Top
100 Property Service Companies”, up by 3 places compared to last year. Other
honours awarded include “Shenzhen Top 100 Property Service Enterprises in
Comprehensive Strengths”, “Member of Excellence” of Shenzhen Property
Management Industry Association and Vanguard Entity in Anti-epidemic Work
nominated by Shenzhen Property Association and Longhua District Housing
and Urban-Rural Development Bureau. In 2023, the Group will continue to
maintain stable growth in operating revenue and profit from commercial and
property service. In connection with our commercial business, we will focus on
enhancing the rate of return from rental assets. In connection with property
service, we will vigorously advance developments in the dual business drivers
of residential and non-residential properties, remaining deeply engaged in core
cities with a special emphasis on seizing resources in ancillary urban services
to expand our market share for sub-segments, with a view to upscaling the
size under management, increasing regional concentration and forging brand
reputation.

For our education business, operations were affected to different extents
in 2022 as the Hong Kong economy suffered from the impact of various
adverse factors in 2022. Nevertheless, we allocated all resources in support
of efforts to address such adversities, providing anti-epidemic support to
tutors, students and parents in a bid to share in action our compassion and
care for the community. In adherence to the principle of “prudent progress
and commitment to innovation”, we have developed a number of innovative
teaching models and professional certificate courses, while completing volumes
of projects in teaching training, home education, academic exchange and
curriculum development. In particular, we have vigorously promoted positive
education in the community through our education exhibitions and roadshows.
In the future, we intend to solidify our business foundation in Hong Kong
while seizing development opportunities in the Greater Bay Area to expand
cooperation on education projects with asset-light model.
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FUTURE OUTLOOK

Consistently Focusing on the Guangdong-Hong Kong-
Macao Greater Bay Area by Grasping the Development
Opportunities within the Core Cities and Regions

The Outline Development Plan for the Greater Bay Area has been released for
four years. This area, as one of the most open regions enjoying the strongest
economic vitality, is accelerating and accommodating multi-dimensionally,
reaching a new level of integration and development. In 2022, the total GDP
of the nine cities in the Greater Bay Area exceeded RMB10 trillion, all showing
positive growth and demonstrating strong economic resilience. The Group
will continue to focus on the core cities of the Greater Bay Area, including
Guangzhou, Shenzhen and Hong Kong, and explore investment opportunities
leveraging its advantages.

Maintaining and Increasing Where Appropriate Rental
Properties That Generate Stable Income Growth

The management believes that a steady increase in rental income is an
important support for sustainable cash flow. Therefore, it hopes to further
increase rental income and profit by holding more premium properties and
properly conducting refined asset management in the future, so as to enhance
property value.

Actively Seeking Overseas Investment Opportunities by
Focusing on Hong Kong

The Group has always been optimistic about the important role and position
of Hong Kong, an international financial centre, in the construction of the
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area, as well as the development
opportunities in the northern metropolitan area of Hong Kong. Under the
new international political and economic landscape, the Group will fully
leverage its strengths and capabilities in building high-end properties and
continue to publicize its international brand value and image, actively exploring
opportunities for quality projects in Hong Kong.

Eyeing Potential Investment Opportunities to Foster New
Business Growth Points

We will continue to monitor market and industry changes and focus on new
economic development opportunities. In line with the actual development
needs of the Group, we will integrate resources and make prudent investments,
seeking opportunities in new business breakthroughs and growth points.

APPRECIATION

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to all our colleagues for their
hard work and dedication. The trust and recognition of our shareholders are
our driving force in such era of uncertainties. We will continue to create the
maximum value for our shareholders and contribute to our society on an
ongoing basis.
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Shenzhen Top Spring Property Services Co., Ltd.
2022 Growth Property Service Companies

Outstanding Real Estate Companies
Guandian Index Academy

Shenzhen Top Spring Property Services Co., Ltd.
2021 Shenzhen Property Management
Association — Outstanding Enterprise
Shenzhen Property Management Association

Shenzhen Top Spring Property Services Co., Ltd.
2022 China Top 100
Property Management Companies
2015-2022 China Top 100 Property
Management Companies for
Eight Consecutive Years
Beijing China Index Academy
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Changzhou Top Spring Property Services Co., Ltd.
2022 Anti-epidemic Pioneer Property
Changzhou Zhonglou District South Street
Construction Administration Bureau

Chengdu Fashion Mark
2021 Boutique Community Business
The 10th (2021) Chengdu Annual Business Ranking
Chengdu Retailers Business Association
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HONOURS AND AWARDS

FMTHREMERBER DA BrEE S
2021 FRE i RE BEEA

BMNTEEREATHEREREER bemmAEREeRES S
Changzhou Top Spring Property Services Co., Ltd.
2021 Reward for Advanced Collective
Changzhou Zhonglou District South Street
Construction Administration Bureau

Top Spring International
A Council Member
Yangpu Sci-tech Finance Association of Shanghai

I E
BRRA TR R ARERE AN
LETEBERMERMEZES

LEBERBERERAR
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EEREBHEETEARAR
EETRBLHEREESE
EEmRITE

Juls)3

Top Spring International Centre
Yangpu Artificial Intelligence and Big Data
Innovation Base
Yangpu Science and Technology
Committee of Shanghai

Shanghai Pengji Business Consultancy Co., Ltd.
A Council Member
Yangpu Sci-tech Finance Association of
Shanghai

Shanghai Laijun Commercial Management
Co., Ltd.
Shanghai Harmonious Labor Relations
Standard Enterprise
Shanghai Federation of Trade Union
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
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RPBEREEXENERABMLE O HE -

As an evolving listed company living up its corporate value of “joint efforts
in creating and celebrating success”, Top Spring is always conscious of its
responsibilities as a corporate citizen to the community at large and spares
no effort in fulfilling its social responsibility and has always been proactive in
promoting the development of corporate social responsibility.

In 2022, the Group, under the leadership of our Chairman, Mr WONG Chun
Hong, gained a lot of recognitions from society for a variety of charitable works
including the provision of aids to minority society, improving the living standard
of the community and making contributions in education and cultural affairs.

Top Spring put forward with continued efforts to support students from poor
families for further education in China. Since 2010, Top Spring and China
Foundation for Poverty Alleviation have jointly established New Great Wall
Scholarship Project — Top Spring International Scholarships, providing supports
to college students from poor families in Guangdong, Jiangsu, Jiangxi and
Sichuan. Meanwhile, Shenzhen Topspring Charity Foundation, founded in
2013, adheres to its philosophy of “supporting education development,
caring lonely elderly; promoting humanitarian spirit, developing social welfare
undertakings”, and has proactively supported and participated in various charity
activities in the society and donations, contributing its part to the development
of the charity undertakings in China.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

R AEERIERAERESES S
IR RARESE BERNTERASRERS
Ao S WIELIBENE1,463,000/8 7T LARHE
SOEMRERE  KEREXUELEERNTE
RS o

EREHTRIE AEBPNEBEHZDEDN
MEz= BETREEEFER  AELTHE
ARWEGRELE -

AEEREZERORE  —MEEERIRAE -
KE HESHRELHEY BOIKAZEEM
SEANRIEEAR  HHEEMHLENA
FEER-

In 2022, the Group made donations in excess of HK$1,463,000 in aggregate
to the institutions including Beijing Green and Shine Foundation (1t R 2224
ZH £ @), Beijing Zhonglun Charity Foundation (1t R R A 25 E £ &) and
Hong Kong Federation of Guangzhou Associations Charitable Fund (&% &N
HEBEEEES) for the promotion of healthy growth of the youth, support
of educational and cultural activities and fight against the COVID-19 pandemic.

In connection with the fight against the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group
assisted in meeting the urgent need for anti-epidemic supplies to ensure orderly
resumption of the daily life of people and protect their life, health and safety
with charity.

While pursuing stable development, the Group continued to commit itself
to charity and public welfare activities relating to people’s livelihood, poverty
alleviation and education, as it endeavoured to be a good corporate citizen
that honoured its social responsibility and drive sustainable development of the
enterprise as well as the community.



14 REEREEERAT — 25§

KN EBEHRE
OVERVIEW OF OUR BUSINESS

TRER ZEZ_ZF+=A=+—B &M
QVEYMEEENGEFAURE HERE
HmEEH (ZEREMERRE D) -

The table below sets forth the net saleable and leasable GFA information of
our 21 property projects in terms of planned use of the properties as at 31
December 2022.

EFAETEE
o [E 7 B il
M1 i R
BEEEE
Contracted

to be Acquired
or under
Application

Completed
GFA

FHK

sq.m.

Development
GFA

FHK

sg.m.

For Change In
Land Use GFA

FHK

sq.m.

FELHEME Properties held for sale
Ex=c Residential 16,293 23,037 6,497
I8 =W Serviced apartments 298 - -
2 Retail 30,421 67,812 -
NE Sub-total 47,012 90,849 6,497
KEREME Properties held for investment
TE/MAE Retail/Office 302,917 - -
R Campus 574 - -
INE Subtotal 303,491 - -
FUHERTHEHEESEMEBE Netsaleable and leasable GFA 350,503 90,849 6,497
REREBERBTE S NEH ZAUHERTHEEZEEE
R-E-—F+-H=+—H
Estimated net saleable and leasable GFA by development status and city
as at 31 December 2022
BRRBEERES BT
H T HESEEIE
GFA by GFA by
Development Status City
1.4% 8%
18.4% 0.3%
31.9%
78.3% 21.8%
= TIER Completed projects 350,503 = RIS Shenzhen and 143,075 LN Tianjin 22,703
= EEIER Projects under development 90,849 Dongguan n EM Changzhou 82,490
= BETAS FHEESK  Projects contracted to be 6,497 = bE Shanghai 97,824 = B Kunming 1,415
IEAERHFENRE LM acquired or under application B Nanjing 717 =% Hon
N . 7 g Kong 35,158
RiEryIE B for change in land use . K Chengdu 38,285
HREEE Total GFA 447,849 . Hangzhou 26,182
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REVIEW OF BUSINESS IN 2022

(1) Pre-sales

RZZEZ—F AEEHEYEREE
I FEE 58 A £ 49703,000,000% 7T (H &
#7663,300,000 8 TR EMFXTEERE) -

B-E - —F T R4589% AEEBETE
EHEEEMBENRISITER K B -F
T ENEN691% M ZEZZF K
E@%%,\mﬂ?ﬁ%ﬁ(r»‘%i@%m)ﬁ
BEHKL8420728 T (Z T = —F ¢

¥ HK466,647.177T) - f_y_*
FLF4263%  c AEEMEBEFHE
BEADEZHR-_ZE-_—FFIIESE
ERYEEEBE 2 FHEEREMEM™

In 2022, the Group recorded an aggregate of pre-sales of properties and
car park units of approximately HK$703.0 million (of which approximately
HK$663.3 million was from pre-sales of properties), representing a
decrease of approximately 58.9% as compared with 2021. The Group’s
total pre-sold GFA was approximately 7,877 sg.m., representing a
decrease of approximately 69.1% as compared with 2021. The average
selling price (“ASP") of the Group’s pre-sales of properties in 2022 was
approximately HK$84,207.2 per sq.m. (2021: approximately HK$66,647.1
per sg.m.), representing an increase of approximately 26.3% as compared
with 2021. The increase in ASP of the Group’s pre-sales of properties was
mainly due to the pre-sales of properties in Shenzhen and Hong Kong in
2022, which has a relatively higher ASP as compared to projects in other

HH E’J$i"]’§f’i$5¥1%‘i’—‘%ﬁﬁﬁ ° EHN - A
SER-_FT__FHEEMEEEOR
39,700,000 # 7T ©

cities. In addition, the Group’s pre-sales of car park units in 2022 was
approximately HK$39.7 million.

REBRHE T -_—_F+-_/F=+— A breakdown of the total pre-sales of the properties and car park units of
AIEFEMNYEREFBENTESRERMA the Group during the year ended 31 December 2022 is set out as follows:
oM

(a) YMHEHEEH (a) Pre-sales of properties

EHREEEER BER REFHEE
Pre-: sold GFA Pre-sales Pre-sales ASP

5 BEATT B FRK

HK$ million % HK$/sg.m.

W City b= =F

Project - type of project

K#  Tianjin REREH Tianjin Le Leman City
—F=E - residential 4,960 63.0 56.2 85 11,330.6

RIKBE EZRE  Shenzhen Upper Residence
/¥ - residential/commercial 1,636 208 112.8 17.0 68,948.7

%3 Shenzhen

&% HongKong &% 128 WATERLOO Hong Kong 128 WATERLOO
- ~ residential 1,281 16.2 494.3 74.5 385,870.4

#5t Total 7,877 100 663.3 100 84,207.2
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(b) FEALEEHE

(b) Pre-sales of car park units

EREFENHE
Number of pre-sold BEE BEFHEE
Project car park units Pre-sales Pre-sales ASP
f& EX- Yoy B/
unit HK$ million HK$/unit
fR  Nanjing KEER-BR The Spring Land — Nanjing 2 2.0 03 0.8 150,000.0
R Nanjing KEGEH R The Sunny Land - Nanjing 91 89.2 11.8 29.7 129,670.3
&% HongKong %78 128 WATERLOO Hong Kong 128 WATERLOO 9 8.8 27.6 69.5 3,066,666.7
@it Total 102 100 39.7 100 389,215.7

2 R=ZE-_—FXHFARAKRWNIER
BE-_Z-—#+-_A=+—HI1FE "
AEERKE - FINRBBENMERE
E¥NERYEHEEWRA (TEIEEEMH
) #93,115,700,00078 7T © [FES 2 R
A EREEELN BA2,206F 5K - &
BE-_E-—F+-A=+—RHILEE
3 B IN#)4,294.5% M 3 I149567.5% °
BE-_Z-—#+-_A=+—HI1FE "
AEBHEEMENCERFTAHEBENA
FF¥HK73,8213%8m - BERFHEE
EINH558.4% + hEEZBHRAEER R
NEEANEEEE BERCERYEH
E T BEEEMEE) FMELHEKX (%
HEREBEE-_Z-_—F+=-A=+—H
LtFEEEHEEMBENFHEEHE -
HEHEEHYRS) AT -

BHE-_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—8L1L#F
B AEEXRXNAEREEMLEEN A
24,100,000 &7t + & 96 E{EENL ©

(2) Projects delivered and booked in 2022

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s property development
business in Tianjin, Shenzhen and Hong Kong achieved revenue from
sale of properties (excluding sale of car park units) of approximately
HK$3,115.7 million with saleable GFA of approximately 42,206 sq.m.
being recognised, representing an increase of approximately 4,294.5%
and an increase of approximately 567.5%, respectively, as compared
with the year ended 31 December 2021. The recognised ASP of the
Group’s sale of properties was approximately HK$73,821.3 per sq.m. for
the year ended 31 December 2022. The approximate 558.4% increase
in recognised ASP was primarily attributable to the fact that a significant
proportion of the recognised sale of properties (excluding sale of car park
units) was contributed by the Group’s residential projects in Shenzhen and
Hong Kong, which have a relatively higher ASP as compared with the ASP
of other projects sold during the year ended 31 December 2021.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group delivered and
recognised the sale of car park units of approximately HK$24.1 million
from the sale of 96 car park units.
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Details of sale of properties and car park units of the Group recognised in 2022

are listed below:

PN
AHE 2R
EEER MEHER
Saleable Sale of
GFA properties
HE-EEER Project - type of project booked recognised
FH K HEBTT
sg.m. HK$ million
KZE  Tianjin REREH Tianjin Le Leman City 2,332 283
—fF=E ~ residential
R Shenzhen RIKBHE FRE Shenzhen Upper Residence 38,128 2,402.3
=/ ¥ - residential/commercial
% HongKong &% 128 WATERLOO Hong Kong 128 WATERLOO 1,746 685.1
—fF=E ~ residential
42,206 3,115.7
EPN: 2R
EENHAE BEUHER
Number of Sale of
car park car park units
Project units booked recognised
&
unit HK$ million
P Nanjing KEGK - AR The Sunny Land - Nanjing 88 113
S Nanjing KEER — ER The Spring Land - Nanjing 2 0.2
E%  HongKong &% 128 WATERLOO Hong Kong 128 WATERLOO 6 126
@i Total 9% 24.1

BRR
FHEN

Recognised
ASP
HK$/sg.m.

12,1355

63,006.2

392,382.6

73,8213

BRR
FHEN

Recognised
ASP
w8
HK$/unit

128,409.1

100,000.0

2,100,000.0

251,041.7
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(3)

REW=E

BRIHEBTRENMEIN AKEIH
HEgstBlhAREMEES T ERR
BYRS HERAXRYL TERHE R
BARE RIFENL - 27 B R a K

BWEX R BMNRRHE  REHK
Fﬁ%qﬂm MINRRAEER D FINKG
TEHP  EER R EE - LIS BHLRE

EEEANEREMBEES  URAR
BEEMNERERGBHEEE N
TZAZT B AEEREMENSE
NRE ﬁﬂmasm79mmmm%n;{£$
EEEEHRELZ81% - REBILEYE
HEWAIHERZEEMIEL A304,789F
FR-BEZZZZF+ZF=+—H
EFE AEBSESREVELINEE
B8 (F0BRIEEFR IE) £917,100,0007% 7T
(BE—ZE-—F+-_A=+—HIFE:
WEMERNAEBERZEL 152,100,00078
TTHBREERIE)) -

AEERBEEENERTEMN  BRME
WHEER mHEHESKERAPHNE
REEZZRAZB/LRERKEAS - K
EERS AT HEL  BPHRAEE
RAEEEBE ASEHZZFNEEN
HEFIERPEFAEENHLER
HEBREZENE R  EHEE R EEN
MEEZBEAREREBHIEREER -
W-E-—F+-_F=+—H &A&EH
WAMEBEENBER(BE—REMEREREE
HEGHERRELEEERIB10.0%)
EEE£EFM$%I%@¢&§%¥
A HEEEmELN295% (R -—F
+—A=+—8 :429.6%) °

(3) Investment properties

In addition to the sale of properties developed by the Group, the Group
has also leased out or expects to lease out its investment property
portfolio comprising mainly shopping malls, community commercial
centres, retail shops, serviced apartments and car park units in The Spring
Land — Shenzhen, Changzhou Fashion Mark, Dongguan Landmark,
Hangzhou Landmark, Shenzhen Water Flower Garden, Chengdu Fashion
Mark, Shanghai Shama Century Park, Shanghai Bay Valley and Kunming
Dianchi Lakeside Peninsula in mainland China and Kowloon Tong Rutland
Quadrant Project in Hong Kong. As at 31 December 2022, the total
fair value of the investment properties of the Group was approximately
HK$8,317.9 million, representing approximately 38.1% of the Group’s
total asset value. The Group's investment property portfolio had a total
leasable GFA of approximately 304,789 sq.m.. The Group recorded
approximately HK$17.1 million (net of deferred tax) as loss in fair value of
its investment properties for the year ended 31 December 2022 (for the
year ended 31 December 2021: approximately HK$152.1 million (net of
deferred tax) as gain in fair value of its investment properties).

The Group carefully plans and selects tenants based on factors such as a
project’s overall positioning, market demand in surrounding areas, market
levels of rent and development needs of tenants. The presence of large-
scale anchor tenants which the Group has attracted enhances the value of
its projects. The Group enters into longer-term and more favourable lease
contracts with such anchor and reputable tenants which include well-
known brands, chain cinema operators, reputable restaurants and top
operators of catering businesses. As at 31 December 2022, the GFA taken
up by these anchor and reputable tenants, whose leased GFA was over
10.0% of the total leasable GFA of a single investment property, made up
approximately 29.5% (as at 31 December 2021: approximately 29.6%)
of the Group’s total leasable area in its investment properties under
operation.
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HE-T-_—_F+-A=+—H Jtif‘; For the year ended 31 December 2022, the occupancy rate of the Group’s
AEBEREWENLEEEH T = — investment properties increased from approximately 82.1% as at 31
FT_A=T—HAL21%EME_F December 2021 to approximately 83.3% as at 31 December 2022. The
::i-i— —“A=+—H#%833% - EHZEC Group generated rental income of approximately HK$223.2 million for the
T F+ZA=+—HIEFE" ZK% year ended 31 December 2022, representing a decrease of approximately
B = A e U A 49223,200,0008 7+ 8 9.6% from approximately HK$247.0 million for the year ended 31
HE-_ZT-_—F+-A=1+—HIEFE December 2021. The average monthly rental income of the Group’s
%’J 247,000,000 % 7T 2 419.6% © H == investment properties under operation for the year ended 31 December
=z __i‘f' A=+—BLEFELREE 2022 was approximately HK$70.7 per sq.m. (for the year ended 31
BERREVENALESRANES December 202 1: approximately HK$82.6 per sq.m.).

?E%mﬁ%ﬂﬁi_$:—¢+iﬂ
—t+—HLEFE:HNATFHKS26E

TT) e
AEER-_Z-_—_F+=ZA=+—80H Details of the Group’s major investment properties as at 31 December
TEREMEREZAEE_S = 2022 and their respective rental income for the year ended 31 December
+TZA=Z+—HLEFEMNHSBRAFE 2022 are set out as follows:
HIMT
Bz
—E-C
t=h
SE ==Ff
b et fl:3:1:
+=h §EAK
R=%== Sir=f ABASKA g ot 4
+=A R=Z== ILEEH  Average monthly +=A
=t—AK t=A BelA rental income =+-Af
THE =t-Ai Rental income per sq.m. itk
BEER DREE for the year for the year Occupancy rate
Leasable GFA as Fair value as at ended ended as at
RENE at 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
Investment properties 2022 2022 2022 2022
(i)
(Note)
SN B BEBT BT/ TR
S.M. HK$ million HK$ million HKS$/5q.m.
EEVRENFE Investment properties under operation
BMREDE—HR Changzhou Fashion Mark Phases 1and 2
—BBENESR (Shopping mall and car park units)
BEfi) 80,771 13823 279 36.5 89.0
MMRREER L Hangzhou Landmark (Shopping mall)
(Enms) 26,182 3949 14.7 618 758
RBREHE Chengdu Fashion Mark (Shopping mall and
(BhEEREE) car park units) 38,285 768.7 255 57.1 97.2
Liga Shanghai Bay Valley 97,854 2,968.8 576 703 7n
e W_ZE_—_F+_A=+—HHITHEEE Note: The leasable GFA as at 31 December 2022 excluded car park units.

HEHBETBEREN -
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4 N=B-=F+=-A=+—-HHWZx
i {5

(4)

2
The PRC

HREBRSEHE
Chengdu Fashion Mark

EHIEHEY S

Kunming Dianchi Lakeside Peninsula

R=—ZB-_—_F+=-A=+—H 21 property projects

H211B¥ %R R as at 31 December 2022

® BRTIAA Completed projects

® EEIEA Projects under development

@ EH{ERKRBERKDETL Projects held for future
W E S LSk development or contracted to
+H B IEE be acquired or under application

for change in land use
REDREROERRT

& Major city with high speed railway
— R

High speed railway

hi]

mE (.
Nanning(7

Land bank as at 31 December 2022

o ey b

— A, SN
Tianjin Le Leman City
_ kBIEX-ER
The Spring Land - Nanjing

BEMNESHE
Changzhou Fashion Mark

A
N

EEEREE
Shanghai Bay Valley Project

EESHiHLEAE
Shanghai Shama Century Park

b
Shanghai _ MiMESEEHL

zhou
men
REREEHEF O
73 guan l_ Dongguan Landmark
gzhou | &F# Hong Kong B L AEEBEE

Hong Kong Sheung Shui
Ma Sik Road Project

EETAT\BEEE

Hong Kong Yuen Long

Shap Pat Heung Road Project
HBTHARKIER

Hong Kong Yuen Long

Tai Tong Road Project
ERTHEANNER

Hong Kong Yuen Long

Tong Yan San Tsuen Road Project

&l Shenzhen

RINKBITER

Shenzhen Water Flower Garden

ARYIK AL
Shenzhen Hidden Valley

XEER - #Y
The Spring Land - Shenzhen

RYNREERKRE

Shenzhen Topspring %7128 WATERLOO
International Mansion Hong Kong 128 WATERLOO
RN L R EENEEEAREER

Shenzhen Jianshang
Commercial Building
FYIKBE LRE
Shenzhen Upper Residence

Hong Kong Kowloon Tong
Rutland Quadrant Project
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AEBRPEXNER RT=AM FEH -
RERKAMBREEHTREBOER
REEANREEMENERREE

R-_ZE-_—F+-_A=+—8 A&£H
RI0ERTHES L 21 EERTRER
PEERMIEE » BIEMETFIIHEE A A
ERESEMIEA 350,503 F H KB R TIA
B A e MHEREEREY
90,849 F KM L 218 B R i& & F o] 84
& M HERLERMELNE6497 P KNE
R THEENIEERBZRE L AR
WIEE  FIEEEMNGBEFAHEE 1
HERERBAFHN AT BIIF K -
BRAFFBOT

HEAR

Project &1,/ Region/
no. Hm City

BRIER
Completed Projects

1 R Shenzhen RYIRA L
2 3l Shenzhen KEEX - R

3 I Shenzhen RYKEITEED

4 2 Changzhou  BMNHZHE

5 R Dongguan ~ REHEHEHL
6 M Hangzhou  MMEFEEHL
7 B #6 Chengdu RBREEHE

8 g Shanghai HEDPBERAR
9 KE Tianjin KEFESH

10 AR Nanjing KEEXR - ER

11 IS Shanghai ERIEE

12 G HongKong EBNEEERRE
HE

13 B Kunming BHENHEYS

14 A Shenzhen  RIIKHZE ERE
15 B Hong Kong %% 128 WATERLOO

Project

The Group is specialised in the development and operation of urban
mixed-use communities and the development and sale of residential
properties in the Greater Bay Area, the Yangtze River Delta, the Central
China, the Beijing-Tianjin and the Chengdu- Chongging regions in the
PRC.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had a total of 21 projects over
10 cities in various stages of development, including an estimated net
saleable/leasable GFA of completed projects of approximately 350,503
sq.m., an estimated net saleable/leasable GFA of projects under
development of approximately 90,849 sq.m., and an estimated net
saleable/leasable GFA of projects contracted to be acquired or under
application for change in land use of approximately 6,497 s.q.m., totalling
an estimated net saleable/leasable GFA of approximately 447,849 sq.m.,
the details of which are as follows:

fhat R

AHE/THE r&H

EEEE LR

Estimated net Interest

saleable/  attributable to

Type of project leasable GFA the Group
FERHK

sg.m. %

Shenzhen Hidden Valley T Residential 4,015 100.0
The Spring Land [EES Commercial 33,454 100.0
- Shenzhen
Shenzhen Water Flower Garden % Commercial 4,992 100.0
Changzhou Fashion Mark [SES Commercial 82,490 100.0
Dongguan Landmark [EE3 Commercial 20,172 100.0
Hangzhou Landmark RS Commerdial 26,182 100.0
Chengdu Fashion Mark [EES Commercial 38,285 100.0
Shanghai Shama Century Park ~ fRISEAE  Serviced apartments 298 70.0
Tianjin Le Lemen City F%/H% Residential/Commercial 22,703 58.0
The Spring Land - Nanjing [ES Commercial 717 100.0
Bay Valley Project [EES Commercial 97,526 70.0
Hong Kong Kowloon Tong R& Campus 574 100.0
Rutland Quadrant Project
Kunming Dianchi Lakeside [EES Commerdial 1,415 100.0
Peninsula
Shenzhen Upper Residence FE/7% Residential/Commercial 12,630 100.00
Hong Kong 128 WATERLOO T Residential 5,050 60.0

/Mgt Sub-total

350,503
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a3
e/ AHEE r&
EEEE 3y £
HARS Estimated net Interest
Project EiF,/ Region/ saleable/ attributable to

no. W City E Project Type of project leasable GFA the Group
FRHK

sg.m. %

HEEE

Projects under Development

16 F Shenzhen  FIIHKREBEKE Shenzhen Topspring International % Commerdial 58,294 100.0
Mansion
17 | Shenzhen RIS EEEAE Shenzhen Jianshang Commercial &% Commercial 9,518 100.0
Building
18 G Hong Kong & CBA+/\45% Hong Kong Yuen Long Shap Pat % Residential 20,050 10.0
HE Heung Road Project
19 EE HongKong &BTHARKER Hong Kong Yuen Long FE Residential 2,987 10.0

Tai Tong Road Project

/Mgt Sub-total 90,849

BANRTFRESEERFARZLHARNER

Projects Contracted to be Acquired or under Application for Change in Land Use

20 EE HongKong &BTBAEA#MIEE  Hong Kong YuenLong Tong Yan #RAE#E Composite TEFA NA 100.0
San Tsuen Road Project development
21 BE HongKong &% EKBEE Hong Kong Sheung Shui Ma Sk~ £% Residential 6,497 50.0
EH Road Project
Nt Sub-total 6,497

@it Total 447,849




TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022 23

BEERBFWR D
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REBH ML HEFEFBESRWOT - Details of land bank in major cities are set out below:

fhatF

AHE FHE

EEME

Estimated

net saleable/

B, W m Region/City leasable GFA

sq.m.

AR FEEE (BIERE) Shenzhen and surrounding regions (including Dongguan) 143,075

adic) Shanghai 97,824

R Nanjing 717

X &P Chengdu 38,285

LN Hangzhou 26,182

K& Tianjin 22,703

B Changzhou 82,490

EH Kunming 1,415

BB Hong Kong 35,158

mst Total 447,849
REBREERELSH TEFBEER The Group intends to continue to leverage its experience in identifying
RESREAR LR EENEREERE land parcels in and/or outside the PRC with investment potential at
BB T WREEREEEIBR advantageous times and acquiring land reserves which are or will be
EMSini R BREE N T EE o st well connected with transportation and infrastructure developments.
RNEBEREBNPBEAR P EE Moreover, the Group intends to continue to acquire new land parcels or
INFERGCEFEHDLEBEBERERE DD projects in locations in and/or outside the PRC with vibrant economies
HfE W T LS IEE  LEERER (8 and strong growth potential, in particular, the Greater Bay Area

BES  ANERE) R LEE - (including Hong Kong, Shenzhen and Dongguan) and Shanghai.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

In 2022, the Group’s consolidated revenue reached approximately HK$3,667.2
million, increased by approximately 473.9% as compared with 2021. The
loss attributable to equity shareholders of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2022 was approximately HK$185.1 million, as compared
to a profit attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company of
approximately HK$33.4 million recorded in the previous year. For the year
ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s basic and diluted loss per share of
the Company (the “Share(s)”) were approximately HK$0.12 and HK$0.12
respectively (for the year ended 31 December 2021: basic and diluted earnings
per Share of approximately HK$0.02 and HK$0.02, respectively). Net assets
per Share attributable to equity shareholders of the Company and the holders
of perpetual subordinated convertible securities (“PCSs”) decreased by
approximately 10.4% from approximately HK$6.7 as at 31 December 2021 to
approximately HK$6.0 as at 31 December 2022.

In order to maintain a stable dividend policy, the Board has recommended the
payment of a final dividend of HK1 cent per Share attributable to the equity
shareholders of the Company and the holders of PCSs for the year ended 31
December 2022 (for the year ended 31 December 2021: HK1 cent per Share),
subject to the approval by the shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

Revenue

Revenue represents income from sale of properties, rental income and income
from provision of property management and related services and income from
provision of education related services earned during the year, net of value-
added tax and other sales related taxes and discounts allowed.

Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2022 increased by approximately
473.9% to approximately HK$3,667.2 million from approximately HK$639.0
million for the year ended 31 December 2021. This increase was primarily
due to the increase in the Group’s income from sale of properties. During
the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recognised property sales of
approximately HK$3,139.9 million, representing approximately 85.6% of the
total revenue. The Group recognised rental income of approximately HK$223.2
million, representing approximately 6.1% of the total revenue. The Group
recognised property management and related services income of approximately
HK$267.8 million, representing approximately 7.3% of the total revenue. The
remaining approximately 1.0% of the total revenue of approximately HK$36.3
million was income from education related services.
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Revenue from the Group’s sales of properties increased by 4,031.4% in 2022 as
compared with 2021 primarily due to the increase in sale of properties and car
park units in Hong Kong and Shenzhen.

Direct costs

The principal component of direct costs is the cost of completed properties
sold, which consists of land premium, construction and other development
costs, capitalised borrowing costs during the construction period, the cost of
rental income, the cost of property management and related services and the
cost of education related services. The Group recognises the cost of completed
properties sold for a given period to the extent that revenue from such
properties has been recognised in such period.

The Group’s direct costs increased to approximately HK$3,072.9 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022 from approximately HK$318.8 million for the
year ended 31 December 2021. This increase was primarily attributable to the

increase in the sales of properties for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Gross profit

The Group’s gross profit increased by approximately 85.6% to approximately
HK$594.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 from approximately
HK$320.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2021. The Group reported
a gross profit margin of approximately 16.2% for the year ended 31 December
2022 as compared with approximately 50.1% for the year ended 31 December
2021. The decrease in gross profit margin was mainly due to the lower gross
profit margin of property sales when compared to other types of revenue, and
in 2022, 85.6% of the Group's total revenue was derived from property sales.

Other revenue

Other revenue decreased by approximately HK$5.8 million, or approximately
3.3%, to approximately HK$169.7 million in 2022 from approximately
HK$175.5 million in 2021. The decrease was primarily attributable to a decrease
in bank and other interest income.
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Other net (loss)/income

Other net (loss)/income decreased significantly by approximately 101.7% to net
loss of approximately HK$3.8 million in 2022 from net income of approximately
HK$218.6 million in 2021, mainly due to the reversal of impairment on recovery
of certain impaired receivables and the gain on disposal of subsidiaries in Hong
Kong in 2021.

Selling and marketing expenses

Selling and marketing expenses increased by approximately 87.7% to
approximately HK$155.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 from
approximately HK$82.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2021.

The increase in selling and marketing expenses was primarily attributable to the
increase in commission expenses incurred in 2022 as compared with 2021.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses decreased by approximately 22.4% to approximately
HK$258.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 from approximately
HK$332.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2021. The decrease was due
to the decrease in staff costs incurred and legal and professional fees.

Valuation (losses)/gains on investment properties and
investment properties classified as held for sale

Valuation losses on investment properties and investment properties classified
as held for sale increased by approximately 111.4% to approximately HK$23.0
million for the year ended 31 December 2022 from valuation gains of
approximately HK$202.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2021. The
turnaround from valuation gains to losses was primarily due to the lower rental
rate in 2022.
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Finance costs

Finance costs increased by approximately 10.1% to approximately HK$324.3
million for the year ended 31 December 2022 from approximately HK$294.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2021. The increase was primarily
attributable to the decrease in capitalization of interest.

Income tax

Income tax expense decreased by approximately 21.5% to approximately
HK$110.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 from approximately
HK$140.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2021. The decrease was
primarily attributable to the reversal of over-provision of CIT in respect of prior
year.

Non-controlling interests

The gain attributable to non-controlling interests was approximately HK$1.5 million
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (for the year ended 31 December 2021:
approximately HK$13.3 million).

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Cash position

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of the Group’s cash and bank
deposits was approximately HK$2,637.4 million (as at 31 December 2021:
approximately HK$3,939.4 million), representing a decrease of approximately
33.1% as compared with that as at 31 December 2021.

Borrowings and charges on the Group’s assets

The Group had an aggregate borrowings (including bank and other borrowings,
bonds payable and lease liabilities) as at 31 December 2022 of approximately
HK$7,712.4 million, of which approximately HK$2,579.4 million is repayable
within one year, approximately HK$4,408.8 million is repayable after one year
but within five years and approximately HK$724.2 million is repayable after five
years.
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As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s bank loans of approximately HK$6,902.2
million (as at 31 December 2021: approximately HK$8,670.0 million) were
secured by certain investment properties (inclusive of investment properties
classified as held for sale), other land and buildings, leasehold land held for
development for sale, properties under development for sale, completed
properties for sale, pledged deposits and rental receivables of the Group with
total carrying values of approximately HK$12,972.2 million (as at 31 December
2021: approximately HK$15,720.6 million).

The carrying amounts of all the Group’s bank and other borrowings were
denominated in RMB except for certain borrowings with an aggregate
amount of approximately HK$2,141.8 million (as at 31 December 2021:
approximately HK$3,817.4 million) and HK$979.3 million (as at 31 December
2021: approximately HK$985.7 million) as at 31 December 2022 which were
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and US dollars, respectively.

Cost of borrowings

The Group’s average cost of borrowings (calculated by dividing total interest
expenses expensed and capitalised by average borrowings during the year) was
approximately 6.3% in 2022 (2021: approximately 6.0%).

As at 31 December 2022, the weighted average borrowing cost for the Group'’s
existing borrowings was approximately 4.9% (2021: approximately 5.1%).

Net gearing ratio

The net gearing ratio is calculated by dividing the Group’s net borrowings
(total borrowings net of cash and cash equivalents, and restricted and pledged
deposits) by the total equity. The Group's net gearing ratio was approximately
54.7% and 59.8% as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021.

Foreign exchange risk

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had cash balances denominated in
RMB of approximately RMB2,225.7 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$2,519.2 million), in US dollars of approximately US$0.5 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$3.8 million) and in Australian dollars of approximately
AUD2.3 million (equivalent to approximately HK$12.4 million).
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Almost all of the Group’s operating activities are carried out in the PRC with
most of the transactions denominated in RMB. The Group is exposed to foreign
currency risk arising from the exposure of RMB against Hong Kong dollars
or Australian dollars as a result of its investment in mainland China and the
settlement of certain general and administrative expenses and other borrowings
in Hong Kong dollars or Australian dollars. In addition, RMB is not freely
convertible into foreign currencies and the conversion of RMB into foreign
currencies is subject to rules and regulations of the foreign exchange control
promulgated by the PRC Government. The Group does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, the Directors monitor the Group’s foreign
exchange exposure closely and may, depending on the circumstances and trend
of foreign currency, consider adopting significant foreign currency hedging
policy in the future.

NET ASSETS PER SHARE

Net assets per Share of the Company as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 are
calculated as follows:

+=A=t-~8

As at
31 December
2022

31 December
2021

Net assets attributable to equity shareholders

(F#7T) of the Company (HK$'000) 9,223,880 10,302,826
BETEBEREE (TR Number of issued ordinary Shares ('000) 1,412,733 1,412,733
M ARITEE K A ARARFE S 2B (FA%) Number of outstanding PCSs ('000) 116,553 116,553
REsTEEREEFENRNEE Number of Shares for the calculation of net

(Fr%) assets per Share ('000) 1,529,286 1,529,286
AATERR MK AR E 535 Net assets per Share attributable to equity

BAEGEEREEFEGET) (H3E)  shareholders of the Company and the

holders of PCSs (HK$) (Note) 6.0 6.7

Mizk: ARREEBREEKATRREFSFTEARE
BREEFERKATRBRESFEBEANRS
T-_—F+-A=+—BR=ZZT=—%+=A
=+ —HAEEBRKATRRESBROTE -

Note: The net assets per Share attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company and the
holders of PCSs is calculated as if the holders of PCSs have converted the PCSs into Shares
as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2022, save for the guarantees of approximately HK$462.4
million (as at 31 December 2021: approximately HK$862.0 million) given to the
financial institutions for the mortgage loan facilities granted to the purchasers
of the Group’s properties, the Group had no other material contingent
liabilities.

Pursuant to the mortgage contracts, the Group is required by the relevant
banks to guarantee its purchasers’ mortgage loans until it completes the
relevant properties and the property ownership certificates and certificates
of other interests with respect to the relevant properties are delivered to its
purchasers. If a purchaser defaults on a mortgage loan, the Group may have to
repurchase the underlying property by paying off the mortgage. If the Group
fails to do so, the mortgagee bank may auction the underlying property and
recover any shortfall from the Group as the guarantor of the mortgage loan.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

The Group did not have any material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries,
associates or joint ventures from 1 January 2022 up to the date of this report.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2022, the Group employed a total of approximately 883
employees (as at 31 December 2021: 825 employees) in mainland China
and Hong Kong, of which, approximately 55 were under the headquarters
team, approximately 117 were under the property development division,
approximately 706 were under the retail operation and property management
division and approximately 5 were under the education division. For the year
ended 31 December 2022, the total staff and related costs incurred was
approximately HK$238.6 million (for the year ended 31 December 2021:
approximately HK$247.1 million). The remuneration of the employees was
based on their performance, work experience, skills, knowledge and the
prevailing market wage level. The Group remunerated the employees by means
of basic salaries, fringe benefits, cash bonus and equity settled share-based
payment.
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The Company adopted a post-IPO share option scheme (the “Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme”) on 28 February 2011 for the purpose of recognising
and acknowledging the contribution that eligible employees have made or
may make to the Group. On 26 June 2012, 20 June 2013, 28 April 2015, 8
September 2015 and 23 October 2015, the Group granted 15,720,000 share
options (Lot 1), 14,000,000 share options (Lot 2), 82,650,000 share options
(Lot 3), 3,000,000 share options (Lot 4), 10,000,000 share options (Lot 5) and
31,000,000 share options (Lot 6), respectively, under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme at the exercise prices of HK$2.264 per Share (adjusted), HK$4.14
per Share, HK$3.3 per Share, HK$3.65 per Share, HK$3.45 per Share and
HK$2.796 per Share, respectively, to certain Directors, senior management
and selected employees of the Group. The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme was
terminated on 8 June 2022. While no new share option can be granted, all
outstanding share options granted shall continue to be valid and exercisable in
accordance with the rules of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme.

A new share option scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme") was adopted
pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the annual general meeting of
the Company held on 8 June 2022. As at 31 December 2022 and the date of
this report, no share option was granted by the Company pursuant to the New
Share Option Scheme.
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MEREBE
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

REREREEERAR —T__F%

ERYIK A5 1L
SHENZHEN HIDDEN VALLEY

FERTTHE Key Statistics

EREL No. of phases 4 4
AR (F77K) Site area (sq.m.) 143,047 143,047
R #aHE T A HA Construction start date —ZETLFLA July 2007
3% T B Completion date —T——%~A June 2011
fhEH AR SEEE (FHK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 131,736 131,736
RZZE-_—F+=-A=+—HHK Estimated net saleable / leasable
HETFAIHE A HEEREmE (FHK)  GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2022 4,015 4,015

HEME

Project Overview

i B Location ERERYTERRFER Yulong Road, Bao'an District, Shenzhen,

Guangdong Province
WEER  Property type =% Residential
=E Highlights FISRERIEIER 2 — W4 [ 25K One of the best villa projects in Shenzhen and was

BIFREE A R iR 4 88| & [ BB R
TEE R A%

sahOEEE(hOEBE]) (B
BERPLORERETSESRE)
mEREBB AR BEEREER

—HR BT N \FEAEHL R
EZENFRARYSEETETIHN
RGHEAER - —HIR_FTTN\FAh
A IfEEE 2R A
MR REREA 2 E L

awarded “Global International Garden Community
Nominations Award” and “China International
Garden Community Award”

Offers close proximity to central business district
("CBD") (10 minutes drive from Futian CBD) and
is surrounded by suburb parks with natural living
environment

Phase 1 was launched in May 2008 and became the
best selling project in the luxury residential market
in Shenzhen in 2009. Phase 2 was launched in
September 2008 and was sold out within a short
period of time despite the global financial crisis

R KL
Shenzhen Hidden Valley
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KEEX-RY
THE SPRING LAND - SHENZHEN

FEHRTTEE Key Statistics
HAZ No. of phases 6 6
i ERmEAE (SF 75 K) Site area (sq.m.) 166,979 166,979
Faase L A HA Construction start date —ZEZTNFAHA May 2009
% T HE Completion date —ZT—HFENA August 2014
fhEHABEEERE (T K) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 774,371 774,371
RZEZZF+ZA=+—H0H Estimated net saleable / leasable
hEHFAISEE AITAERE®E ((F5K)  GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2022 33,454 33,454
HEME
Project Overview
b B Location ERER)TEL REER Renmin South Road, Longhua Town, Bao’an District,
AREE Shenzhen, Guangdong Province
BELDH Lease termof RHMEE Long lease
HEMR  investment
portion
YIEER Property type FE=RZTE Residential and retail
=% Highlights {7 A Hb 8 U 555 AR AT 1L 3k Located at the Hongshan Station of Subway Line No. 4

K ER—FIN(—H K —H) X (= The Spring Land — Shenzhen (Phases 1 and 2) and

YR -_Z—ZFK-T——%F 57| (Phase 3) were ranked the best and the second best-

BRIV &G HERE ZGIETER selling projects in Shenzhen for 2010 and 2011,
respectively

Kt ERX—FI (HH) B —F— = The Spring Land — Shenzhen (Phase 5) was ranked
FEZFHIFIIFBHEEEEE  the best selling residential project in Shenzhen in the
third quarter of 2012

K#EFER R
The Spring Land - Shenzhen
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ARYIK A5 7E R
SHENZHEN WATER FLOWER GARDEN

EfRTEE Key Statistics

EREL No. of phases 3 3
AR (F77K) Site area (sq.m.) 164,764 164,764
%A T B & Construction start date —ET_F=A March 2002
T HH Completion date —ETNES+A October 2006
fhEH AR SEEE (FHK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 294,638 294,638
RZZEZZF+=-A=+—HH Estimated net saleable / leasable
HETFAIHE A HEEREmE (FHK)  GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2022 4,992 4,992
HEBE
Project Overview
ih B Location ERERYITEDEEEE Xiangmei Road, Futian District, Shenzhen,
Guangdong Province
BEILDH Lease termof RHMEE Long lease
HEHR investment
portion
YRR Property type = - ZEKEFT Residential, retail and clubhouse
=B Highlights FA?\%EEF DB ER - IR B E B Situated prominently in the exclusive region of the
BE_HER city centre and offers unique view of the Honey
Lake

YR F[hEEELHERE It was awarded ‘Classical Chinese Model Residential
BEIUE-ZZEZ-_FLR_FE=F Property’ in 2003 and 'Real Estate of the Year’ in
BEIEIELE both 2002 and 2003

RYIK B TEH

Shenzhen Water Flower Garden
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EMNRERHEG
CHANGZHOU FASHION MARK

EfTEE Key Statistics

-1 21 No. of phases 4 4
HARERE (F 5 K) Site area (sq.m.) 120,296 120,296
FiaHE T A HA Construction start date —ZETRFNA August 2005
% T HH Completion date —T—=%F7"A June 2013
ET R EmEE (F 77 K) Total estimated GFA (sq.m.) 513,404 513,404
RZTE_—_F+A=+—HH Estimated net saleable / leasable
fREEATNE RIABRE®EAE (F5K)  GFA(sq.m.) as at 31 December 2022 82,490 82,490
HEME
Project Overview
b B Location TEEEMmERRFARE Xiyingli, Zhonglou District, Changzhou,
Jiangsu Province
BREMBDH Lease term of HHHE Medium-term lease
HEHR  investment
portion
YIEER Property type =X ZELRHAE Residential, retail and office
= Highlights TR EMHEEES O Located at the commercial centre of Changzhou city

Y —ZEZRFE[PREFEMET A Ranked in “China Top 10 Mainstream Real
EREBER]  MBEEMNEKETE Estate Projects” in 2005 and Twin Stars (serviced

flﬁ%‘\ B (R A®)HREI—F  apartments) of the project was awarded “2006 Best

TRPBHEREREAS] International Apartment in China”

—HE=BEBHTENAEFLAM - Phases 1-3 comprise mainly retail or apartments
/Y HER Bl 75 = /8 150 0K E’] KEVEEIE  while Phase 4 is a large-scale residential project with
H height over 150 metres

BHHAEEMRRF Secured well-known anchor tenants

EMEERE
Changzhou Fashion Mark
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RRREREH O
DONGGUAN LANDMARK

TERTBE

Key Statistics

EREL No. of phases 1 1
WAREE (F77K) Site area (sq.m.) 18,738 18,738
F 16 5E T B 53 Construction start date ZETRFRA June 2006
3% T B Completion date —EENELA July 2008
hEtEEmE (FAK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 79,679 79,679
RZZE-_—F+=-A=+—HHK Estimated net saleable / leasable
HETFAIHE A HEEREmE (FHK)  GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2022 20,172 20,172
HEBE
Project Overview
ih B Location ERE R SETh 513 B 88 5k No. 88 Hongfu Road, Nancheng District, Dongguan,
Guangdong Province
BEILDH Lease termof RHMEE Long lease
HEHR investment
portion
YRR Property type FE=RZTE Residential and retail
=E Highlights MUARRZEFLERE  AEFEF L Located in the CBD of Dongguan and the dramatic
JEEERE MEMEH  KKIEHAE setting and accessibility of the mall substantially
b, 55 Y 7K upgrade the local amenities
REXREFHEPL

Dongguan Landmark
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BN SRR = D
HANGZHOU LANDMARK

FERTTHE Key Statistics
HRZH No. of phases 1 1
AR AR (F 77 K) Site area (sq.m.) 14,780 14,780
46 5 T B B Construction start date ZTTF—A January 2006
% T A 5 Completion date —ET+FtA July 2007
HatEEmE (FAXK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 49,989 49,989
RZE_—F+A=+—HH Estimated net saleable / leasable
EEH RO iEE MHEREEE (FAKX) GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2022 26,182 26,182
HEHE
Project Overview
i B Location ALA TN T R R B T Ouhuazhou Avenue, Linping, Yuhang District,
BIEMARE Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province
BREILDH Lease term of FHIHE Medium-term lease
HEHR investment
portion
YI¥EEH  Property type T& Retail
= Highlights 52 3T Hb 88 Close proximity to metro station

BRESERHMES  BFEHTA Leveraging on high growth city attributes, Linping is
MmN = EmEREFERT 2 — set to be one of the three high growth satellite cities
of Hangzhou

ERMBMEENEP - TEMKY Secured well-known anchor tenants attract not only
Wl K TR - M B RS/ EEAR A other retailers, but also significant pedestrian traffic

=3
A

DITIES 5 LN

Hangzhou Landmark
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REBREHE
CHENGDU FASHION MARK
FERTTHE Key Statistics
EREL No. of phases 2 2
AR (F77K) Site area (sq.m.) 20,727 20,727
F 16 5E T B 53 Construction start date —E——%~A June 2011
BT HH Completion date —T——&+_H December 2012
fhEHABESEmE (FFK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 139,265 139,265
RZZE-_—F+=-A=+—HHK Estimated net saleable / leasable
hEHFAIHE AT EREmME (FHK)  GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2022 38,285 38,285
HEBE

Project Overview

i B Location W RE TR R ZIREME Hongpailou, Fourth Section of Second Ring Road,
AN Wuhou District, Chengdu, Sichuan Province

MEER  Property type ZERPAE Retail and office

=8 Highlights S = SR AR SR PR IR Uh Close proximity to Jialing Road Station of Metro line

HBIET T KO AREE,426.57T
BE  REERITELREENHF
B4 Ak A

no. 3

Site was secured at approximately RMB1,426.5 per
sg.m., significantly lower than the average land cost
for comparable projects

REEERE
Chengdu Fashion Mark
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BB HHLEAE
SHANGHAI SHAMA CENTURY PARK

Key Statistics

HAZ No. of phases TiEA N/A
Y i B A Acquisition date =Z== 27 September
NANAZ++H 2013
ErrREE®E (FAK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 49,357 49,357
T T AL AR Total number of underground
car park units 240 240
R=_E-_—F+=-—A=1+—HH Estimated net saleable / leasable
EEHF O iEE MHEREEE (FAK) GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2022 298 298
HEBE
Project Overview
i Bh Location LBHRRRAAR Dongxiu Road, Pudong New District, Shanghai
BREWBDH Leasetermof EHHEE Long lease
HEHR investment
portion
MEFRR Property type REXAQE Serviced apartment
=% Highlights EESBHELAB AN ERFE Shanghai Shama Century Park is a serviced
o) WNGS apartment located in Pudong New District
LESHiLENE

Shanghai Shama Century Park
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KRB
TIANJIN LE LEMAN CITY
FERTTHE Key Statistics
EREL No. of phases 3 3
g mAE (5 K) Site area (sq.m.) 114,080 114,080
a6 T BEA Construction start date —E—=—#xA June 2012
T HH Completion date —E-EFXA June 2020
fhEH AR SEEE (FHK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 114,080 114,080
RZE-_—_F+_-_A=+—HK Estimated net saleable / leasable
EEHE A G, A HEREEEE (FK)  GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2022 22,703 22,703
HEBE
Project Overview
i 2h Location KRBT AR 8 I EE R i Junction of Beihua Road and Jincang Expressway,
EREERRAKED Jinhai County, Tianjin
mERR Property type TERTE Residential and retail
= Highlights PEEEREMH L (FHHEE) 2022 Located 20 kilometres (“km*) away from Tianjin city
(2R centre (Nankai District)

e R RIERRE A UL 12 Approximately 12 km away from the south station
PRERIEFREFRAELSAE  of Beijing-Tianjin high-speed railway and 5 km away
from Beijing-Tianjin Expressway

REREH

Tianjin Le Leman City
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KBER-ER
THE SPRING LAND - NANJING

FEHTTEE Key Statistics
HAZ No. of phases 1 1
AR mEAE (SF 75 K) Site area (sq.m.) 60,825 60,825
FaaHE L A HA Construction start date —E—=F—FA January 2013
3% T B Completion date —ZT—RFN\A August 2015
fhEHABEEEE (7 K) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 188,125 188,125
RZBEZZF+ZA=+—HH Estimated net saleable / leasable
HEH RO iEE MHEEREEE (FAK) GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2022 717 717

HEME

Project Overview

i 25 Location IEREmRmERE NP Hexi CBD, Jianye District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province

%=
WEER  Property type FERTE Residential and retail
= Highlights Az 5R PE RO P TS [ B RO b A Located in the central area of Hexi CBD

TR LEEEBEZERER AT Hexi CBD has been planned to be a modern area
BRAEES mE L MEFNE integrating trade, business, culture and sports in
im A WiE B AL R = AME)  the city which is connected with Shanghai in the
abic] Yangtze River Delta

KEGHFER-BR
The Spring Land - Nanjing
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FEEBAIER
SHANGHAI BAY VALLEY PROJECT
FERTTHE Key Statistics
EREL No. of phases TEA N/A
Y s B A7 Acquisition date —E—+F 31 July
+A=+—H 2017
fhFTABEEmE (T K) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 97,854 97,854
R-FE-_—_F+-_A=+—HHK Estimated net saleable / leasable
BEHFEE A MAEREERE (FHK)  GFA(sg.m.) as at 31 December 2022 97,526 97,526
HEBE
Project Overview
i B Location EESHEEINTENEEARIRSE  International Community Sector, New Jiangwan
City, Yangpu District, Shanghai
YIEER Property type iz Office
=% Highlights LR EERIEIF L — EFEAR Located at Yangpu Technology Venture Centre —
CHAFHERKT SR ERERSE  Bay Valley Technology Park, with the same level as
WIEAL Zhangjiang Hi-tech Park
tiEEAER

Shanghai Bay Valley Project
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BRANEREEREER
HONG KONG KOWLOON TONG RUTLAND QUADRANT PROJECT

Key Statistics

HAZ No. of phases TiEA N/A
AR (F77K) Site area (sq.m.) 958 958
Y5 B A7 Acquisition date —E-N\F 7 February
—AtH 2018
R-_ZE-_—&F+—-_A=+—HH Estimated net saleable / leasable
EEHE AT E, AT EEZEETE (FK)  GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2022 574 574
HEBE
Project Overview
h B Location ERENEEERBHOR No. 6 Rutland Quadrant, Kowloon Tong,
Hong Kong
YIEER Property type #&& Campus
=% Highlights BN EESE M UL 21T 5 D 6 5-minute walk from Kowloon Tong MTR Station
EBNEREEWEEE

Hong Kong Kowloon Tong Rutland Quadrant Project
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EHEMEEY S
KUNMING DIANCHI LAKESIDE PENINSULA

FERTTHE Key Statistics

EREL No. of phases TEA N/A
AR (F77K) Site area (sq.m.) 558 558
Y iE B A7 Acquisition date —E-N\F 31 January
—BA=+—H 2018
R-ZE-_—F+-A=+—HK Estimated net saleable / leasable
BEHFEE A MAEREERE (FHK)  GFA(sg.m.) as at 31 December 2022 1,415 1,415
HAHE
Project Overview
ih B Location EHEEERANFHEMREREN Dianchi Lakeside Peninsula Business Center,
W SEBHO Liujia Sub-district Office, Guandu District,
Yunnan Province
YIEER Property type f{I= Residential
=3 Highlights WRERCEM K E  IRIEE M - EF  Close to the waterfront of Dianchi with superior and
& comfortable living environment
EREMHEES

Kunming Dianchi Lakeside Peninsula
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RYIREKEBRKE
SHENZHEN TOPSPRING INTERNATIONAL MANSION

Key Statistics

HAZ No. of phases 1 1
Faa e T A H Construction start date —ZE-NENHA August 2019
TEHR% T H HA Expected completion date —EZ=F)N\A August 2023
hFHARREmE R (F77K) Total estimated GFA (sq.m.) 107,281 107,281
RZE_ZF+A=+—HHX Estimated net saleable / leasable
At RO iEE M HEREEE (FAK) GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2022 58,294 58,294

HEBE

Project Overview

b Fh Location BRARIMEERNEXER Xinqu Ave West, Longhua District, Shenzhen,

Guangdong Province
YIEER Property type ZTELMHAE Retail and office
=3 Highlights ZiMITE - BRI U b Convenient transportation and close to Shangtang

Metro Station

RYREEBRKE

Shenzhen Topspring International Mansion
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RYIE LR KRR
SHENZHEN JIANSHANG COMMERCIAL BUILDING

FELRTHE Key Statistics
EREL No. of phases 1 1
FA e T A & Construction start date —ZET—NFNA  September 2019
TEHR% T HHA Expected completion date —EZ=F)N\A August 2023
hFH R EmE S (F77K) Total estimated GFA (sq.m.) 21,829 21,829
RZBZZF+-A=+—0H Estimated net saleable / leasable
EEt RO tEE M HEREEE (FAKX) GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2022 9,518 9,518

HEBE

Project Overview

i B Location BRERYIMIEERNEAER Xinqu Ave West, Longhua District, Shenzhen,

Guangdong Province
MEER Property type ZTELEMAE Retail and office
=% Highlights ZimTTE - BRI b Convenient transportation and close to Shangtang

Metro Station

RYIE LA KR

Shenzhen Jianshang Commercial Building
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RYKBE LR E
SHENZHEN UPPER RESIDENCE

EfRTEE Key Statistics
HAZ No. of phases 1 1
Faa e T A H Construction start date T —+ & A April 2017
FEHRME T H Hf Expected completion date —T-—FMA April 2022
fhstEgsEmE (P A K) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 73,228 73,228
KRB ZF+ZA=+—HAH Estimated net saleable / leasable
fHETF Al E M AEELEmME (FHK)  GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2022 12,630 12,630
EHEHE
Project Overview
ih B Location EREFRYITEEERTEAE Xinqu Ave West, Longhua District, Shenzhen,
Guangdong Province
YIEER Property type = Residential

=& Highlights RBHE - B

57088

f EyE sl - 2617

Highly accessible with a 5-minute walking distance
from Shangtang Metro Station

RYIKBE ERE

Shenzhen Upper Residence
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% %128 WATERLOO
HONG KONG 128 WATERLOO

FELRTHE Key Statistics

EREL No. of phases 1 1

g mAE (5 K) Site area (sq.m.) 1,692 1,692

I i& B 88 Acquisition date —E & 15 December
+=ZA+AH 2017

MEEEE (FHK) Total GFA (sq.m.) 7,966 7,966

RZEBEZ_F+-A=+—HK Estimated net saleable / leasable

st R e M HEREEE (FAK) GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2022 5,050 5,050

HERE

Project Overview

It B Location BAENEESITEE 1285 No. 128 Waterloo Road, Kowloon Tong,
Hong Kong
MEER Property type f{t= Residential

o

] Highlights A NEERRIERERE

Luxurious landmark residence located in prestigious
school district in Kowloon Tong

& 7% 128 WATERLOO
Hong Kong 128 Waterloo
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BRTHT N\HMKER
HONG KONG YUEN LONG SHAP PAT HEUNG ROAD PROJECT

Key Statistics

HAZ No. of phases 1 1
R A& (FF 7 K) Site area (sq.m.) 6,504 6,504
W g B HA Acquisition date —E—hF 9 October
+ANH 2015
EEEEE (T K) Total GFA (sg.m.) 22,764 22,764
RZEZZF+ZA=1+—HH Estimated net saleable / leasable
EEH RO iEE M HEREEE (FAK) GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2022 20,050 20,050
HEBE
Project Overview
i Bh Location BRI R ITRAR T\ 45K Shap Pat Heung Road, Yuen Long District, NT,
Hong Kong
YI¥EH  Property type = Residential
=% Highlights PR ARTTRAUA 5 D $E A2 - H/\BF 5-minute drive from Yuen Long Station of West Rail
AR ET R Line, to reach downtown within half an hour
EABTH T N\MEER

Hong Kong Yuen Long Shap Pat Heung Road Project
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ERATEARERIER
HONG KONG YUEN LONG TAI TONG ROAD PROJECT
FELRTHE Key Statistics
EREL No. of phases 1 1
AR (F77K) Site area (sq.m.) 1,031 1,031
W B H Acquisition date —ZT—hF 31 December
+=ZA=+—H 2015
wrsEmE (FAK) Total GFA (sq.m.) 3,383 3,383
RZZEZZF+ZA=+—HH Estimated net saleable / leasable
HET Bl E A HERZEmE GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2022
(F7HK) 2,987 2,987
EHEAHE
Project Overview
i B Location BEFTRTHERER Tai Tong Road, Yuen Long District, NT, Hong Kong
WEER  Property type =% Residential
=B Highlights PP AR TRAUA S D EEE AR 5-minutes drive from Yuen Long Station to West
FNBFRRETR Rail line, to reach downtown within half an hour
EBTHARKER

Hong Kong Yuen Long Tai Tong Road Project
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BB LKEHEKER
HONG KONG SHEUNG SHUI MA SIK ROAD PROJECT

Key Statistics

HAZ No. of phases TiEA N/A
R A& (FF 7 K) Site area (sq.m.) 9,098 9,098
Wi H 58 Acquisition date —E—+F 11 July
+A+—H 2017
et EmE (FHXK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 7,278 7,278
RZBZ_F+_A=+—HH Estimated net saleable / leasable
HEHEHE MIHEEERR GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2022
(F7K) 6,497 6,497
EHEHE
Project Overview
i Bh Location ERIAR LKE B Ma Sik Road, Sheung Shui, NT, Hong Kong
YI¥3EE  Property type = Residential
=E Highlights BRI b 7K b 88k LA % 6 48 b 88 b Proximity to Sheung Shui MTR Station and Fanling
MTR Station
EBLKEEKER

Hong Kong Sheung Shui Ma Sik Road Project
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o RYIKHL
Shenzhen Hidden Valley
o RYKBIEER
Shenzhen Water Flower Garden
e REHEBEEFDL
Dongguan Landmark
o MINEEEEHDL
Hangzhou Landmark
. REEEN

Tianjin Le Leman City

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Top Spring International Holdings Limited (“Top Spring” or the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, collectively the “Group”, “we" or “us”) is
pleased to present our Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the
"ESG Report”) to outline our environmental, social and governance (“ESG")
strategy, management approach and achievements for the 2022 calendar
and financial year. This report details our initiatives and measures undertaken
to fulling our environmental and social responsibility. This report should be
read in conjunction with the Company’s 2022 annual report, which contains a
comprehensive review of its financial performance and corporate governance.

Reporting Period

This report provides an overview of Top Spring’s ESG management approach
and performance during the year from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022
(“the reporting period” or “the year under review"”), unless otherwise
specified.

Scope of this Report

This report focuses on the environmental and social performance of our
core business during the year under review. Top Spring is a conglomerate
group with business focused on boutique residence, retail, industrial park,
property management, education, and investment. The Group is specialised
in the development and operation of urban mixed-use communities, and the
development and sale of residential properties with regional footprint covers
core cities including Shenzhen, Shanghai and Hong Kong.

The environmental key performance indicators (the “KPIs") disclosed in this
report cover our offices and own assets (prior to sales) under our operational
control in Mainland China and Hong Kong during the year under review as
listed below:

o KBIEXR-RY
The Spring Land — Shenzhen
o EBMNEFRHE
Changzhou Fashion Mark
o RYIFEFEM
Shenzhen Fashion Walk
o  KEHFHE
Chengdu Fashion Mark
e BiIEEEA
Waterloo Road Project
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Reporting Guidelines

This report is prepared in accordance with the “mandatory disclosure
requirements” and the “comply or explain” provisions of the ESG Reporting
Guide set out in Appendix 27 of the Main Board Listing Rules issued by the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“HKEX").

We have followed the four reporting principles as set out in the HKEX ESG
Reporting Guide to define the report content and to ensure the quality of

EMEWEMNE R B

information presented in this report, including:

AEHCEREEUNERPNHEERFETE -BHELZEN  FR2HUARS[EE AL —4 -
The Group has identified its material issues through materiality assessment. For more information, please refer to
the section headed “Materiality Assessment” of this report.

c BRARE - 5 MERMBRFAERREHEBENBRER
KPIs are recorded and disclosed in quantitative terms whenever possible. Information on the standards,

methodologies, assumptions, and source of conversion factors used for the calculation of environmental data are

AEERABEPATBENSTABRBELALEEARER  BRABTKBBERE -

The Group disclosed both positive and negative performance in this report in an impartial manner to ensure that

EhABEAEB K ERETRE -

EFE2M
Materiality
21k AEBERAEASEANEERBEEBRENIEZ
AR E R I AR5 i8R -
Quantitative
also disclosed in this report.
T
Balance
the content and data are unbiased.
—HUE RRERNRB T EBEN F—FE W - REBE RS
Consistency

EXZesEERAEENERE e RER
RA - -EFETEAREERARSHAKE
BREBMEANRE HEREARAEE HE
RE  HERERARE  WEHRBREAHER
REFHERBR - BRARE  HERER
ERTTEAFE

The preparation approach of this report is substantially consistent with the previous year. Any changes in the
reporting scope and calculation methodologies will be disclosed where applicable.

The Board attaches great importance to the ESG performance of the Group.
Taking overall responsibility for the oversight of ESG issues that have been
identified as relevant and material to the Group, the Board formulates ESG
strategies and reviews progress made against our sustainability goals on a
regular basis. For details on our ESG management approach, please refer to the

BLMARE [BEEEIRIE - 1= section headed “Overall ESG Approach” in this report.

GRERTTE] —Eh e

BRAHENREE Feedback for this Report
BMEREEOHENES  BRENESR We value the voices of our stakeholders as their valuable views and insights
MEMERREOA ﬁt?"@&)\ﬂﬂﬁ’]@) create positive momentum to the sustainable development of Top Spring.

B e BAIRIE SRR E DR KE N REHE
RE - -HgkERTH  RAH
RE - B NEHRMNERE HehkERT
ERARERFEAMERLLER  BLEEEE

We shape our ESG approach in accordance with the feedbacks received from
stakeholder engagement and address their concerns wherever possible. We
welcome all comments and suggestions regarding our ESG efforts and this
report to IR@topspring.com to help Top Spring build our sustainable future.

ERFIDE TR

IR@topspring.com * B IS ITE A HEER D

R e
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Overall ESG Approach

Sustainable development remains a top agenda in the business world and
stakeholders are demanding more actions from corporations to address
emerging ESG challenges. We operate with a mission to explore relationship of
privity between men and city, to make positive impact on communities in which
we invest, and to lead a quality and environmental-friendly lifestyle.

The Group commits to the incorporation of sustainability into our business
strategy, planning and overall governance structure. Recognising the
importance of ESG-related matters, the Board carries overall responsibility
for overseeing the Group’s ESG issues, ESG strategy and reporting, relevant
policies, and initiatives. It is also the responsibility of the Board, to evaluate
and determine the ESG-related risks, and ensure appropriate and effective ESG
risk management and internal control systems are in place. The management
monitors the implementation of relevant policies and measures to ensure the
Group is on track to achieving our ESG-related goals and targets. Reports are
made to the Board for their review and confirmation.

Stakeholder Engagement

The Group strives to continuously engage with our stakeholders through the
establishment of diversified communication channels. It is the material ESG
concerns and opinions of our stakeholders, including shareholders, customers,
employees, suppliers, communities, government, and regulators, that
contributed to the formulation of our overall ESG approach. We will maintain
open and regular dialogue with stakeholders to build trusted bonds and keep
abreast of their expectations as we develop our sustainability strategy.
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Materiality Assessment

The Group identifies the most relevant ESG aspects on an ongoing basis
by reviewing our business operation, latest market landscape and relevant
legislations to understand and address the concerns of our stakeholders There
were no major changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during
the year under review, hence our latest list of material issues has remained
unchanged on the basis of the materiality assessment conducted in previous
year. 15 material ESG issues across environmental, social and governance
aspects have been identified as impactful and significant to the Group and its
stakeholders.

BRI e B
Environmental Social Governance
o FEIKE REFKI K o iR o BEER
Water consumption and conservation Community Corporate governance
o BEIRINIE I i REHE B e EmAE s BEFHE

Energy efficiency and conservation
o BEERYER
Waste management

Product responsibility
o frEER
Supply chain management

Business integrity

s TNEREE o B TR

Indoor air quality

o BERHEM
Air emission

o RRE ML FORE REBHEN
Climate change and GHG emission

Labour practices
s EREERD
Health and safety
o EE RN
Employee development and training

o ETEF
Employee benefits

ELAIRT - B — S FR H YA RE R
HONEREEN/\BEH - HPIBROIRED
RZERE YRAHHELZH BHMEER
PIMIRE - B RERTIE -

Within the list above, we have further identified eight most significant issues to
our Group and stakeholders. We are committed to adequately address these
issues and maintain comprehensive and transparent disclosures of our ESG
efforts to our stakeholders.
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BE HEREREEZEM
Em
Aspects

-84
Environmental

e
Social

RN
‘Bon

Governance

ESG Material Aspect

EXBEH

Material issues
ENEREE

Indoor air quality

FEKE R ETH K
Water consumption and conservation

BE IR R PE I EP e TR e
Energy efficiency and conservation

EmEE
Product responsibility

R % 2
Health and safety

EEERKIEI
Employee development and training

©ERER

Corporate governance

BREE

Business integrity

i ] 1%

Relevance

FREARMETHENENEZEREZRUREEETER
Improve living quality with enhanced indoor air quality in our
residential projects

EHMRF REBHYES - BBEKRGRES ARG
BEKTHEKBEREBRER  BRIMBERAITKEE
BRARBEUEE

Improve water use efficiency through water efficient designs
in our designed and managed properties; recycle and reuse
of water in our construction sites as much as possible; ensure
wastewater discharge on our construction sites meet relevant
discharge standards

FRE R R RE B E RN B R T R B S ae
R HEEERRER  RESHDER

Improve energy efficiency through the adoption of energy-
efficient designs and equipment in our designed and managed
properties; continue monitoring of energy consumption to
promote energy conservation

BRMEHEERAEEVENRE  BREKENEPERE
FHERE

Ensure the quality of property projects and educational supplies;
ensure customer information collected is well protected
MRETIAZALZE2MNITERE  WEEEEEISO 45001
B % 62 22 42 2 B ¥ B8 K (Occupational Health and Safety
Management System) 5278 © [ 8 TR 7 B g i 2 2457l
Ensure safe working environment for our staff; property
management is certified with ISO 45001 Occupational Health
and Safety Management System; provide regular health and
safety training for staff

FHiRPAT R E TREABEI R E B RFE S EEET
TR

Continue staff's development by providing in-house training to
front-line staff and sponsoring further studies by application
BRAQDRMMA - BRREBFE - WHEREKRQANER
e RERN =R

Ensure system of rules, practices and processes are in place and
that the Company is managed in the interest of shareholders
EREHMEERRTNER BEEHR RERRHEE -
REEF=ZTHMBEE  ALDIERBEFITH

Manage issues surrounding ethical conduct of business,
including compliance, anti-corruption and bribery, protecting
intellectual property rights of third parties, and preventing anti-
competitive practices

o

s T

\
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ENVIRONMENT

Commitment Principle

Guided by our vision to be the provider of ideal living space, the Group strictly
abides by the national and local laws and regulations relevant to greenhouse
gas emissions and air pollution, discharges to water and land, and generation
of hazardous and non-hazardous waste, including but not limited to the
Environmental Protection Law of the PRC, the Law of the PRC on the Prevention
and Control of Air Pollution, the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control
of Water Pollution and the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste.

As an effort to minimise the adverse environmental impacts generated
during our business activities, the Group has implemented a wide range
of environmentally friendly practices across our property development and
education-related businesses. The green practices adopted range from
integrating green building designs in our projects, implementing responsible
construction practices in our work sites, to enhancing reduce, recycle and reuse
of resources.
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BRERERR
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HMeZeRRBEomARENER B -
HYENRE  [REEHBIRES  BMEL
BB 4% & 72 52 W) 5T 14 1Z % (Assessment Standard
for Green Building) (GB/T 50378-2020) &4
BEEERER - BEBRFAAREN  ENE
AR - REIEAE  BEIY  BEMEMEL
BREESSETRTENERE  BMAETER
BYEQEMEERE -

RIB-_—F FAEBEBEBRTATHEREER
BT

BERTREH

Green designs and features

Initiatives and Performances
Property Design

Green building concept is incorporated in the lifecycle of our buildings. From
the development and design phases to the construction of properties, we
refer to green building guidelines and requirements, including the Assessment
Standard for Green Building (GB/T 50378-2020). By putting into account
various aspects such as public green space, indoor natural ventilation, sound
insulation quality, building lighting, construction material optimisation,
thermal insulation and shadings, we are creating green buildings with lowered
environmental impacts.

In 2022, the Group has implemented the following green building designs and
features:

HHEE

Relevant measures

OENE T -

Passive building design -

BE R K B BE HE B -
Energy efficiency and conservation -

FRK R T 87 40 FA 7K -
Water efficiency and conservation -
ERNERE R -
Indoor air quality -
£33 -

Green space -

MARBARERAUREERRFEARFZEFRRALIR

Incorporating passive building designs to improve ventilation and optimise
sunlight exposure

EEEETEHEERRE RS  WEERNEERY

Installing smart temperature and humidity sensors in each unit to enhance living
conditions of residents

LRERLEE (WLEDER)

Installing energy-efficient fixtures such as LED lighting

150 P 22 i 8 L BE B =5 R 0k [0 W 55 BR AT B0 E BE IR R

Improving energy efficiency with designs such as variable speed ventilation
drives and heat recovery

REXGESEHERRES

Exploring renewable energy opportunities such as solar energy

2 RN ER7K & B 8 /KR AT

Using water-efficient designs such as water-saving features
TRERFCRENEZEANEZREER

Installing air purifying equipment to improve indoor air quality
BTk R EE AL

Greening of rooftops and vertical walls
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Construction Sites

We ensure full compliance with the relevant environmental laws and regulations
at operating locations through enforcing various monitoring and control
measures in different key construction site management aspects. Implementing
the measures promotes environmental friendliness of our construction sites and
reduce its negative impacts on the nearby communities.

EEEM HHBAtE HE

Management aspects Relevant measures

KRR - BREEERTRIM EUERSEENREZERI61E100% ] ([ 618
Air emissions 100% |)

- Implementing the “Six 100%" ("6 1&100% ") measures of dust pollution
prevention and control at construction sites in accordance with regulatory
requirements

- REBEE BN R 2 KRR IEE R B #5051 E BV EE R

—  Measuring and limiting the exhaust smoke of diesel engines for non-road mobile
machinery as required by local government

FEEME R - DNRBR B R EREERL L SO AR E O] R SRR R ) B 28

Waste management -

REKE R -
Wastewater management -
REER -
Environmental management -

Reinforcing the management of the disposal and recycling of construction
wastes in response to latest requirements
ERSERNERRREERENEEGSEY

Sourcing qualified vendors to ensure proper treatment and disposal of hazardous
wastes

FEHE B2 AT A% 40 % 7K B B2 2 AT A K SF

Treating wastewater at our work sites to acceptable limits prior to discharge
ZHHREABHETHIRE L2 REEHEETERRSE

Arranging regular inspections on the environmental, safety and health measures
conducted by construction contractors
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MEEE

Property Management

BB BB SERRER  BERSEZY  We continue to enhance the environmental performances of our self-operating
EMIRRRIR - TRHEVAFEABEEHIE  properties by adopting various green measures. Below are the major initiatives

FNREFEMRMOEREE -

EEEE

carried out during the year to manage the environmental impacts of our
activities.

HEEE

Management aspects

ERERE

Energy management

RIBER

Environmental management
HPE2H

Tenants’ engagement

&= % A
Recycling

K ERER

Rainwater collection and reuse

MEERE

Property management

Relevant measures

- HBRBERGARSLEDEAR

—  Upgrading lighting systems with LED fixtures

- RS AHEEHNRAERAERS

—  Reducing the amount of lighting used in common areas

- HEFFISO 14001 IRIFE IR R F AR E

—  Maintaining ISO 14001 Environmental Management System certification

- EEEPKEIR(E KERMEER) BEERERE

—  Encouraging tenants to minimise their resource consumption (electricity, water
and material use)

- mEPREHEBUHRE - RS EY

—  Providing tenants with recycling facilities for waste reduction

- RMREHSHLEREBRETEHFDUSBEFBLHEXRD TEREN
AL AXHEBBTNEXRYEREBREZE

—  Supporting the old clothing recycling activity of local government by providing
venues for equipment and publicity activities and encouraging tenants to donate
old clothes to those in need

- RMBEBERKESKSR Rt IHRREEARESEBEPETLR
R IE FE B4R 11t 175 B

—  Assisting construction contractors to implement safety protective measures for
tenants during construction work by separating rainwater from sewage

- WRERRBEEEZACHARERNERE BEEATREHARRERER
B S

—  Ensuring strict compliance with relevant regulations when using pesticides and
cleansing agents, and aiming for zero incidents regarding their use and storage

- RERATHEBNEERAMETRE

—  Treating waste cooking oils from restaurants before being discharged

- BEEREMFEREEELEAHFRAITK  BERES

—  Managing community wastewater, waste and noise according to national and
local standards
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Education-related business

As part of our environmental protection efforts, the Group emphasises energy
conservation and reduction of paper use in the operation of our education-
related business. Through the replacement of paper-based office administrative
system by electronic office automation (OA) system, we are promoting paperless
practices across our offices. We have also raised environmental awareness of
employees as they are encouraged to turn off electronic appliances when not in
use, reuse paper and adopt double-sided printing whenever possible.

In terms of provision of educational products, in addition to strictly complying
with the stringent requirements of the Education Bureau of Hong Kong on
quality of educational supplies, we are advocating the adoption of energy-
efficient and environmental-friendly products such as supporting the
transitioning from traditional paper books to e-books and will work towards
this direction in the course of book publications. We have also provided
recyclable teaching supplies to schools by storing them in warehouses when not
in use. In 2022, the Group has organised recycling campaigns of second-hand
textbooks, which were donated to students in need, relieving economic burden
of the families, as well as reducing the consumption of natural resources.

Climate Change

Global warming is unequivocal and threatening the stable business operations
and development of corporates worldwide. Extreme weather events such
as floods, strong typhoons and heat waves may severely disrupt our daily
operations, while increasingly stringent environmental laws and regulations can
potentially raise compliance and operating costs of the Group.

Recognising the physical and transition climate risks in the near future, the
Group is actively implementing various emission reduction measures and
energy efficient initiatives to mitigate the environmental impact of our business
activities. We will continue to explore solutions to better manage our climate-
related risks as we strive to achieve sustainable development.

During the year, we have monitored our carbon footprint and calculated
the greenhouse gas (“GHG") emissions of our operations with reference to
applicable international and local guidelines. In 2022, the Group’s operations
generated 10,281.84 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent. Among the Group’s
GHG emissions, our primary source of emissions is from energy consumption
through purchased electricity (Scope 2), which represents approximately 96%
of our total GHG emissions. In the future, the Group will continue to actively
implement carbon reduction measures and explore potential opportunities to
contribute to the global fight against climate change.
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Performance of Identified Material Environmental Aspects 2022

8 (%)
Material Aspects % change
BEREEmE (REEE) Total GFA (Gross floor area) 10,000 F 75 2K 156.82 155.79 +0.66%
10,000 m?
BEREBHEKRE? GHG emissions?
BEHERE?® Scope 1 emissions? WB_ftikE= 411.98 344.07 +19.74%
tCO.e
SE2BEME Scope 2 emissions? u¢a:§ftﬁﬁ§:5§ 9,319.61 9.534.54 -2.25%
tCOe
BEREERAE Total GHG emissions ﬂﬁigﬂiﬁﬁ?ﬁ?% 9,731.59 9,878.60 -1.49%
tCO.e
BERBHENREE GHG emissions intensity WSS 0.01 0.01 -2.14%
FHK
tCO,e/m?
HRER Energy consumption
EEEERHEE Indirect energy consumption
AE= Electricity consumption TR E 16,390,724.24 16,410,564.00 -0.12%
kWh
REmE Electricity intensity FRE,FFK 10.45 10.53 -0.78%
kWh/m?
ERERERAEES ° Direct energy consumption® ©
R&mE Diesel oil consumption FRE 87,492.59 36,406.01 +140.32%
kWh
BAmE Petrol oil consumption FTER  319,987.29 - T iE A
kWh N/A
RARARE Natural gas consumption’ FEE 1,775,732.11 1,965,724.99 -9.67%
kWh
BRBREE’ Total energy consumption’ TR 18,573,936.23 18,412,695.00 +0.88%
kWh
BLIRARR T Total energy intensity’ FTREEFhHX% 11.84 11.82 +0.21%
kWh/m?
K& Water consumption
FAkE Water consumption V75K 553,752.60  606,782.30 -8.74%
m3
FK& & Water intensity SRS T K 0.35 0.39 -9.34%
m3/m?
FEEXNEEY Waste generated
—REEED General waste Wa 26,260.66 33,079.07 -20.61%
tonne
RERER Construction waste Wa - 72.00 -100.00%
tonne

BN T —FRRARMRAMEENRER
BERAZEHMLRPEABRFEOMRELR -

REREHFREN2E(RERBHTE)  BHR
BEREHMIOCERMA FM) REAREE R
BIRFEMHEERENIRERBIRL
B EMRERSD( =T —TFR) | SHEST -
BENHNEREEERBEHAIRMERE 2 E

373 OV E SV ES

AR B BEIR -

HE2HNEREBERNEEZERMESN -

KRN AARERHEEN

ERRBAMBRERE

SLEBIAMBEMAREERSR HERER
FIRTHER2  IRAMRARIERREERM
AR TSR RERNBBEERAE
BIE B ARIR A S R TR ERE
—ECFHBRCFARAREERIER -

In 2022, we have expanded the data scope of our environmental KPIs to cover our offices
in Mainland China and Hong Kong.

The GHG emissions are calculated with reference to the Greenhouse Gas Protocol, IEA’s
Energy Statistics Manual, and Environmental Protection Department and the Electrical and
Mechanical Services Department’s “Guidelines to Account for and Report on Greenhouse
Gas Emissions and Removals for Buildings in Hong Kong (2010 Edition)”.

Scope 1 emissions include direct emissions from combustion of fuel in stationary and
mobile sources and fugitive releases from equipment and systems.

Scope 2 emissions include energy indirect emissions from the generation of purchased
electricity.

The conversion factors from volumetric units of diesel and natural gas consumption to
energy units are referenced from Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPls
under “How to Prepare an ESG Report” released by HKEX.

In 2022, we have expanded the data scope of our energy consumption to include
consumption of diesel oil and petrol oil in mobile sources.

The 2021 data has been adjusted to reflect actual situation.
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Regulatory Compliance

During the year under review, the Group did not involve in any non-compliance
with relevant laws and regulations relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste of the countries where we operate.

EMPLOYMENT

The Group believes that the contribution of our employees is critical to
our business and overall success. We aim to provide an inclusive working
environment to foster the diversity of employees, as well as constantly
improving our human resources management and providing diversified career
development opportunities such that our employees can excel and develop to
their full potential.

Employment Practice and Employee Benefits

We strictly comply with the Labour Law of the PRC, the Labour Contract Law,
the Law on the Protection of Minors, and other relevant laws and regulations
in relation to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare, in where we operate, ensure occupational health and
safety, optimise employee career development mechanism and strictly prohibit
any form of discrimination. Our policies and guidelines, such as the Recruitment
Management System, the Attendance and Leave Management System, the
Assignee Management System, and the Guidelines for Career Planning for
Officers, outline the provisions and conditions of employment, recruitment,
benefits and remuneration, code of conduct, attendance management, etc.

The Group values a diverse workforce as it enables us to attract the best
candidate and access a greater range of talents. We anticipate our staff to
“be virtuous and talented, have morality come first”. We strictly observe
our Employment Policy, Guidelines for Talent Referral Reward and Training
Management System to guarantee employees’ basic rights, protecting them
from any form of discrimination of employees based on gender, race, age,
marital status, religion, nationality or disability and other statuses protected by
local laws, thereby providing them with an equal opportunity environment to
thrive and realise their full potential. Such commitment is also reflected in the
talent acquisition process.

The Group is committed to protecting fundamental human rights and exercising
a zero-tolerance approach to the hiring of all forms of child labour and forced
labour practice. As a control measure, all personnel are required to provide
valid personal identification documents for verification purposes during the
recruitment process to ensure that the workforce engaged by the Group is not
associated with any form of child and/or forced labour.
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In addition to our commitment in promoting equal opportunity, we have
designated grievance channels in place such that employees can report
suspected non-compliance or misconduct without fear of reprisal. We
encourage our employees to report on any alleged unlawful practices or
misconduct and maintain two-way communication through networking
activities and feedback sessions. Upon receipt of the suspected case, we will
address their complaints or grievances according to our predetermined formal
procedures.

In order to attract and retain high-quality talents, we offer competitive salaries
and remuneration packages to recognise our employees’ hard work and
contributions, which are regularly reviewed based on their performance. We
ensure that the compensation system of our employees is fair and competitive.
Performance appraisals are carried out annually to provide adequate feedback
to employees on their work, evaluate their performance and maximise their
future potential and value to the Group.

All of our employees are entitled to paid annual leave (adjusted by seniority),
paid sick leave, compassionate leave, maternity leave or abortion leave, work
injury leave and etc are provided on top of statutory holidays, aiming to support
their work-life balance and accompany their needs. In accordance with statutory
regulations, all eligible employees are enrolled to a defined contribution
mandatory provident fund scheme in Hong Kong or social insurance scheme
in Mainland China. As of 31 December 2022, the Group has a total of 883
employees (full-time: 882 and part-time: 1).
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EEEN(BE-Z2=-_—+=-A=+—8) Employee Profile (as of 31 December 2022)

ES 482 - 8834 Total Number of Employees: 883
BY GENDER BY REGION
R R E 2 B EES
e 5t it e EFE R B A b,

Male Female

40%
BY AGE
BERED
30BMT @ 30-505% 5080 £
Under 30 30-50 Over 50
20% 12%

Hong Kong Mainland China
4%

BY EMPLOYMENT CATEGORY
BRI D

BREERE PRERRE ® RER
Senior management Middle management  General staff

3% 8%

89%

EEERM Regulatory Compliance

REBG S TIZERRREBT—YIEERT B The Group strictly complies with all the regulatory requirements with respect
B IHERS TRMAST - REIBEEMN ©  to labour standards and prohibits the employment of child and forced labour.
AEBMEZETAEBER ET k5884  During the year under review, neither any non-compliances with respect

THEEBEM  IMER AT EAEKEIES - to employment, child labour or forced labour, nor any discrimination or
harassment incidents were reported within the Group.
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Healthy and Safe Working Environment

We are committed to creating a safe and comfortable work environment that
allows employee to thrive and succeed. The Group strictly adheres to local
health and safety laws and regulations, including the Law on the Prevention and
Control of Occupational Diseases of the PRC, the Provisions on the Supervision
and Management of Occupational Health at Work Sites, the Regulation on
Work-related Injury Insurances and other relevant laws and regulations.

Safety of our employees is a top priority for the Group. We have set an
ambitious safety objective of zero major health and safety incidents to mitigate
and minimise risks in the workplace. Our Safety Management Handbook and
Emergency Management Handbook have detailed the guidance for health and
safety management to ensure that employees are aware of safety precautions.
We have also formulated the Occupation Health and Safety Policy for regular
identification, monitoring and management of potential health and safety
risks. Our safety management system for property management business is
certified with the 1ISO 45001 Occupational Health and Safety Management
System. Nonetheless, the Group conducts regular safety inspections to ensure
our health and safety measures are properly implemented in our self-managed
properties and construction sites.

Regular trainings are also provided to our employees to enhance their overall
awareness of safety and preparedness for emergencies. According to their job
duties, employees are provided with relevant work injury insurance, accidental
injury insurance and annual physical examinations. We also provide workers
with regular body check-ups and medical insurance.

Despite seeing trends of recovery, resurgence of the COVID-19 pandemic
during the year has impacted everyone and shaped a “new normal” for all
people and businesses. Since the outset of the COVID-19 pandemic, every
effort was taken to ensure control measures and preventive procedures are in
place as we assume the responsibility to safeguard the health and safety of our
employees. We provided employees from our property management business
with appropriate personal protective equipment including surgical masks, face
shields and disinfectants. Their protection preparation statuses are inspected
before starting their daily duty to minimise the risks of infection. Training
sessions are also arranged to enhance their pandemic prevention awareness.
In preparation of face-to-face classes resumption, we have ensured good
ventilation of classrooms and conducted extensive disinfection and cleaning
procedures strictly in accordance with the requirements of authorities.

Regulatory Compliance

During the year under review, there were no work-related fatalities® and lost
days due to work-related injuries recorded, nor any non-compliance of laws and
regulations relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards.

8 There were no work-related fatalities recorded within the Group in the past three years
(including the year under review).
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Development and Training

We actively support the continuous development of our employees to help
them develop in their both existing roles and future careers. In accordance with
our internal policies and guidelines such as the Training Management System,
the Guidelines for Assignment Management Training and the Internal Trainer
Management Guidelines, the Group continues to allocate resources to promote
the long-term professional and personal development of our employees that
align with their professional ambitions and goals.

The professional growth of our people is essential to the advancement of
our business. Training Plan are developed annually to ensure the training
provided aligns with the needs of the Group and employees, keeping them
abreast of the latest developments in the industry. To nurture our talented
workforce, we offer tailor on-the-job training and self-learning programmes
to build an elite team that is long-last, professional and highly efficient. For
example, employees under the education division are provided with training in
curriculum development and facility management to enhance their knowledge
in the education services industry. Meanwhile, employees under property
management division are offered job-specific training on topics such as
standardised management, emergency response and epidemic prevention and
control.

To foster a culture of lifelong learning and continuous pursuit of excellence,
we also encourage our employees to participate in courses organised by
professional organisations which are beneficial to their career development,
enhancing their professional knowledge and skillsets.

We care about our employees’ well-being and encourage them to achieve
work-life balance. Through organising different team building events, we aim
to enhance cohesion and teamwork among staff and deepen their sense of
belonging to the Group.

RZTZZ%F BMABIRHETH 10,200/ 05 I R R -

In 2022, we provided approximately 10,200 hours of training and development for our employees.

FHBEREETH
Y 55 Bl B B (B 0
Average training
hours completed

ZHEE LA

Percentage of

Category employees trained® per employee (hour)™
33 By gender
-3 - Male 81% 12.57
— - Female 77% 10.10
REBERE D By employee category
-ERERE — Senior management 82% 6.07
—FRERE — Middle management 100% 9.31
—E@mET - General staff 77% 8.68
9 ZHEELLO(%)=HERRZERNZIEENE  ° Percentage of employees trained (%) = number of employees trained in the category/total

2/ ZAREBAEHX100% °
0 LR B TR E B I B (/N ) =R A HE R
ZERREBETHIBIERYZEREE G -

workforce of the category at the end of the reporting period x 100%.

10 Average training hours completed per employee (hour) = total hours of training received
by employees of the category/total workforce of the category at the end of the reporting
period.
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Business Ethics

We deem to advocate the highest standard of integrity and ethics. In order
to maintain a zero-tolerance policy on unethical behaviours, our Employee
Handbook and Group Disciplinary System clearly lays out the provisions on anti-
corruption to ensure that our employees understand how to avoid bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering. We expect all employees uphold the
highest professional standard and work with honesty, broadmindedness,
integrity and righteousness.

Furthermore, the Group adheres to all applicable regulations and laws,
including the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Anti-Unfair
Competition Law of the PRC and Criminal Law of the PRC, in its operations.
We strictly forbid activities in relation to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering. The Group conducts various types of ethics and anti-corruption
training every year to raise the awareness and moral consciousness of the Board
and our staff, not only to remind them of the need for strict compliance but
also to avoid opportunities for miscreants to take advantage of our staff for
illegal activities.

We encourage employees to report on any suspected non-compliance or
misconduct through designated channels without fear of reprisal. To maintain
appropriateness to our business and regulatory compatibility, we periodically
review and conduct internal audit to eliminate all irregularities within the
Group.

During the year under review, there were no reported non-compliances with
regard to bribery, extortion, fraud or money laundering involving the Group or
our employees.

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY AND SUPPLY CHAIN
MANAGEMENT

We are committed to being a responsible business and delivering customer-
oriented services through innovation and delicacy. It is of utmost importance
to ensure sustainability practices are supported and adopted along our supply
chain. By engaging with stakeholders in our value chain closely and regularly,
we are creating the ideal living environment for customers.

Supply Chain Management

Our Group has extended responsivities and standards to our suppliers. With our
commitment of “open, fair and impartial” supply chain management, we have
developed policies and measures to manage risks along our supply chain and
maintain transparency and fairness in our procurement process.
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Through taking a prudent approach, we select and evaluate our suppliers
based on pricing, reputation, as well as construction and product safety. We
also consider whether the suppliers demonstrate high corporate standards,
whereby site visits are arranged to assess operations status, qualifications and
other aspects. Once contracted, the performance of suppliers and contractors
is reviewed periodically to ensure they are meeting the Group’s environmental
and social standards. Criteria such as corporate governance, labour conditions,
ethics and environmental performances of suppliers are also key aspects to be
considered. These requirements are in place to ensure they continue to meet
the needs of the Group and also encourage them to continuously improve their
environmental and social responsibility performance.

For our education-related business, we regularly evaluate our food suppliers
and school bus operators to assess their alignments with our strategic visions
and guarantee the delivery of quality products and services.

Furthermore, we liaise frequently with suppliers and contractors on
construction and sourcing affairs to strengthen collations and facilitate two-way
communications, thus ensuring effective communication of any possible delay
or conflict and minimising the chances of affecting our product and service
quality due to undesirable services from suppliers.

During the year under review, we have a total of 185 suppliers, of which 11%
were location in Hong Kong and 89% location in Mainland China.

Quality Services

We aim to achieve service excellence by establishing a comprehensive
management system to guide our work, which certified with the I1SO 9001
Quality Management System. We are committed to our customers with the
most professional, comprehensive and caring experience. Our products and
services strictly abide by laws and regulations relevant to the health and safety.

For our property management services, we stick to the following objectives in
delivering quality services to our tenants:

Develop quality properties that embrace innovation and enhance the
neighbourhood;

- Provide sincere service and constantly improve our property management;

—  Strive for high standards by building scientific and standardised property
management, and achieve customer satisfaction; and

- Provide a tasteful living and working environment with standardised
service.
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Safety is of paramount importance to our business. To ensure the quality of
property, we carried out assessment on a variety of criteria in our property
development projects, including actual measurements, safety and civilisation,
quality risk and management measures. Furthermore, we commissioned
independent third-party professionals to carry out additional inspections,
including delivery risk inspection, quality inspection and sentience evaluation, to
obtain impartial and unbiased opinions on delivered projects. For major defects
identified from the assessments, we would explore relevant improvement
measures and review annually, thus allowing us to adopt more appropriate
construction methods and further improve the construction quality in our future
projects.

We place the health and safety of students and staff in our schools as a top
priority. We have established a hierarchical quality control system in managing
the quality of our day-to-day food supplies. To ensure that food quality is
up to standard after the long delivery journey, we have appointed dedicated
personnel to manage food supplies in specific areas of each school. Regular
inspections on the hygiene conditions of food processing, handling, storage
and distribution are also conducted.

We aim to achieve service excellence by thoroughly understanding the needs of
customers and surpassing their expectations. As a regular practice, the Group
conducts a customer satisfaction survey to gather honest feedback on our
service quality. Through assessing the survey results, we are better equipped
to achieve our objective and make meaning improvements. For our property
management business, we have consistent protocols and solutions for handling
customer complaints in a closed-loop management approach. Through our
offline and online platforms, we promptly handle the complaints and comments
from our customers, proving them with timely and detailed response. During
the year under review, the Group addressed customer complaints related to our
products and services, with a 100% prompt processing rate. We also arrange
customer site visits to our commercial projects quarterly and our residential
projects biannually. These site visits enable us to better communicate with our
customers and quickly respond to their needs.

During the year under review, the Group had no non-compliance with relevant
laws and regulations concerning health and safety relating to products and
services provided.

Protection of Privacy

The Group is committed to safeguarding client confidentiality. Through
upholding professionalism regarding information protection, we strive to
minimise the risks from our operations to provide customers with quality
products and services. When providing service to clients, we ensure that
personal data will only be collected for necessary purposes by lawful and fair
means.
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We have formulated a series of internal policies to identify the rationale for
collection personal information and detail how we responsibly collect, manage
and store data, including but not limited to the Guidelines for Information
System Security Management and the Staff Non-disclosure Agreement. These
policies abide by relevant laws and regulations, including the Personal Data
(Privacy) Ordinance of Hong Kong. A hierarchical authorisation management
system has been established to protect personal data from unauthorised
or accidental access, and processing or erasure. All employees are required
to stringently comply with all internal guidelines relating to the collection,
handling, transferring, storage, and disposal of customers’ personal
information.

During the year under review, there were no reported non-compliances
regarding product responsibility within the Group.

Protection for Intellectual Property

The Group acknowledges the importance of intellectual property rights
protection as our business involves book publishing. We strictly comply with
the Intellectual Property Law of Hong Kong, the Patent Law of the PRC and
other applicable laws and regulations relevant to advertising, labelling, and
intellectual property rights, so as to protect our trademark and the book
authors’ intellectual properties from infringement.

During the year under review, there were no reported non-compliances
regarding intellectual property and copyright, and advertising and labelling of
our products and services.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

It is our duty as a responsible corporate citizen to give back to the society that
has provided us with ample opportunities to succeed. The Group is involved in
various social welfare and charity projects to invest in education and help the
underprivileged groups.

Since 2010, the New Great Wall-Top Spring International Scholarship program
established by the Group in association with the China Foundation for Poverty
Alleviation (“CFPA") has been providing financial support for college students
from Guangdong, Jiangsu, Jiangxi and Sichuan. During the year, we donated
approximately HK$1,463,000 to support a wide array of community investment
programmes. We are dedicated to supporting and participating in charitable
initiatives and donations in adherence to its philosophy of “supporting
education development, caring lonely elderly; promoting humanitarian
spirit, developing social welfare undertakings” to contribute its part to the
development of charity undertakings in China.



74

REREREEERAR —T__F%

RiE - -HEREBRSE
ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

|
S

>

A1l

Al

Al.2

A13

Al4

A15

B
Aspects

B
Environmental
3587
Emissions

— R

BRBERKRERBHN  MARLOHS BEREE
BENNELEN

@ BER: R

b) FETHETAREATENRBERIAGINEH -

General Disclosure

Information on:

(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

PERUTEE R AR AR

The types of emissions and respective emission data.

B (8E) RicRE# (BE2) RERBHNE CAM:E)
R(WEm) BE (MABES S - BERMHE) -

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas
emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per
unit of production volume, per facility).

FELEEREENEE CNEHE) R (WER) BE (UE
ESBN - BEREHE)

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).
FEAEERENEE UHAE) R (WER) BE (WAE
ESEM - BERMEIH) -

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

BRI MENERRRAEELE RARRNTR
Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.

Ef
Section

B -
A R A
Environment -
Commitment
Principle

B —
BERRR
Environment -
Initiatives and
Performances

B -
BERRE
Environment -
Initiatives and
Performances
BE -
BERRE
Environment -
Initiatives and
Performances

gr%\ﬁﬁfgiﬁ - #EREARRK  HKEX ESG CONTENT INDEX

i
Remarks

HERENEERAFAEASEREE - AN BEEBER
EERDURBRVEREMTMREER -

This KPI is not identified as material for the Group. We will
continue to observe regulatory changes to update any disclosures
needed in the future.

BEBRENNYERNIRE -BAMBEBEBELEZY
REGRLEREREMREEH -

The amount of hazardous waste is insignificant. We will continue
to observe regulatory changes to update any disclosure needed
in the future.



RiE - -HEREBRS
ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Al6

A2

A2.1

A2.2

A2.3

A2.4

A25

EE
Aspects

B EEEERBERENN AL - RERATET LA B
BRAENELERMRRNTR -

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are
handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.

BERER

Use of resources

—REE

BERERER (BREER KREMBRMH) OHE -

General Disclosures

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water
and other raw materials.

RENASNERR/LEERR(WE  fsloh) B57E (L
TEFREAE) REE (WASESEL - BERMAH) -
Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity,
gas or oil) in total (kWh in ‘000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

BRKERERE (WASEREN  BRREHE)

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

BT UM RER NG A R RAEREL R EARIA
SR

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken
to achieve them.

RS RE AR LA AR E - AR LR KRS
ARRAENELERMRRNIR -

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that
is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.

R MAMAEENHNAE R R (MER) BLER
fiifh e -

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes)
and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced.
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1]
Section
B -

BERKR
Environment -
Initiatives and
Performances

BE -
HeERA
CE &
Environment -
Commitment
Principle;
Initiatives and
Performances
BE-
BERER
Environment -
Initiatives and
Performances
BH-
CE &S
Environment -
Initiatives and
Performances
Bl
CE &
Environment -
Initiatives and
Performances
B
CE &
Environment -
Initiatives and
Performances

L
Remarks

FUKE M REKEBPIURS - HRBRAUREERR -
Water is supplied by municipal water supply department. No
potential risk is anticipated in its sources.

BEMHERRBI AL EEANEEEE -
The use of packaging material is not identified as a material
aspect of the Group.
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EH Ef k|
Aspects Section Remarks
A3 BRERRAER
The environment and natural resources
— MR RE-
BERERR
BERSETAHRERRRERENEAYENUE - Environment -
General Disclosure Initiatives and
Performances

Policies on minimising the issuer's significant impact on the
environment and natural resources.

A3.1 WLEBEDHRERRRERNEAF ERCENERA RE-
BEENTE - BERRR
Description of the significant impacts of activities on the  Environment -
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to Initiatives and

manage them. Performances
A4 RIREL
Climate Change
—RBEE RE-
BEkERR

HRIRAERER TS HETAEAYENEARFAES  Environment -
EEMER Initiatives and
General Disclosure Performances

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-
related issues which have impacted, and those which may
impact, the issuer.

A4 HREERA e ETAELEYENEARBREREE BE-
RERREREHYENTE - EEEE
Description of the significant climate-related issues which have — Environment -
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the Initiatives and

actions taken to manage them. Performances
B e
Social
B1 ER
Employment
—RBRE EEZHR
FBRTHREE BEREA TIESH RE TE#e EE&R
Sl REGUREMFBREFRM : Employment
@ BE:R Practice and
b) BETHETAREAYENEBERRROINER - Employee
Benefits

General Disclosure

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

B1.1 RIS BREL (W2BRRB)  FRAEFNIEEEHNN ERERR

EEZE - EEREH

Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- ~ Employment

or part-time), age group and geographical region. Practice and
Employee

Benefits
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EE B A

Aspects Section

B1.2 RIEF] - FREFIRIEEDHEER KL X - -
Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical

region.
B2 REEZ2
Health and safety
—REE REZ2H
IHRE
BRRMZ2IHEREIRREESREBELEEN - Healthy and
@ WE R Safe Working

b) BETHETABBEAZENRREIZRATINER - Environment

General Disclosure

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a
safe working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.

Remarks

BER KR (%)
Employee turnover rate (%)°
beRlE )

. S 55%
. T 42%
By gender

. Male: 55%

. Female: 42%

RERARIZ D

J 30T £ 101%
o 30-507% :39%

J S0 LE27%

By age group

. Under 30: 101%
o 30-50: 39%

J Over 50: 27%

BiEEn

o BB 3%

o PEIR: 50%

By region

. Hong Kong: 33%

. Mainland China: 50%
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o EERALE(%)=MEHRZERNEINREIAN Employee turnover rate (%) = number of turnover of the category/total workforce of the

AR E THBH X 100%

category at the end of the reporting period x 100%
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B2.1

B2.2

B2.3

B3

B3.1

B3.2

B
Aspects

BE-F(REERFE)SFRIUHIMAZ R E -
Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of
the past three years including the reporting year.

AIGEATIERS
Lost days due to work injury.

B RMNBERRAR 2B UWEBRTRER
b

Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted,
and how they are implemented and monitored.

BERE
Development and training

—RBE

BRRITESRTTIERAMAB R RENEE - #d 7
HE e

General Disclosure

Policies on improving employees' knowledge and skills for
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.
BUEFIREEER (WEREEE PRERE) S HZI
EBEADL -

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee
category (e.g. senior management, middle management).
BHFIREEERES  BEEETRZINTHES -
The average training hours completed per employee by gender
and employee category.

1]
Section
BEZ2H
TERR
Healthy and
Safe Working
Environment
BEZ2H
TERR
Healthy and
Safe Working
Environment
BEZ2H
TIERR
Healthy and
Safe Working
Environment

BRRIE
Development
and Training

BRRIE
Development
and Training

BRRIE
Development
and Training

3

Remarks
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B4

B4

B4.2

B5

B5.1

B5.2

B
Aspects

BIg%E
Labour standards

—RBE

BEBILETSARHNETH
@ BE: R
b) BFHETABEAVEZNAREEZRANNER -

General Disclosure

Information on:

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing child
and forced labour.

IR REENEENBEETREHST

Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid

child and forced labour.

HREERERBRSEREBERARRN TR -
Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when
discovered.

HEEEE
Supply chain management

—RBE

ERUERORE A SRRICR o
General Disclosure

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply
chain.
BERESNEERHE -

Number of suppliers by geographical region.

HERREARERNEN WERTEBENNHERIE
URIEESTRER L -

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of
suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and how
they are implemented and monitored.
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B

Section

ERERR
ESEF

Employment

Practice and
Employee
Benefits

EEZHR
ESEF
Employment
Practice and
Employee
Benefits
EEERR
ESEF
Employment
Practice and
Employee
Benefits

HERER
Supply Chain
Management

HERER
Supply Chain
Management
HERER
Supply Chain
Management

L
Remarks
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Em B i 5

Aspects Section Remarks
B5.3 BFREHERNERBEERSORERMGRARMEN - A HERER

REBRITRER Supply Chain

Description of practices used to identify environmental and social ~ Management
risks along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and

monitored.
B5.4 HiEMEFEEERREERRERARRBAEN Uk HEHEEE
BERTRERRZE Supply Chain

Description of practices used to promote environmentally ~ Management
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, and
how they are implemented and monitored.

B6 EmEAHE
Product responsibility
—RBE BERY
RERL
FBMRUERNIRBEARRERS EE BERLRBE RENZER
HURRERAER Quality Services;
@ HBE: R Protection of
(b)) BTHETARGEAYENERERRROINER - Privacy;
General Disclosure Protection of
Intellectual
Information on: Property
(@)  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods of redress.
B6.1 EEIEERERAETRAR 2 ERFREMMERNLNE - HEHRTEENEBRE R -
DL e The issue is not relevant to the Group’s business nature.

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for
safety and health reasons.

B6.2 BRUNEMIRBORFEEARESTE - BERY
Number of products and service related complaints received and  Quality Services
how they are dealt with.

B6.3 Bl EAERREOZEEEHOEN - REHBERE
Description of practices relating to observing and protecting  Protection of
intellectual property rights. Intellectual

Property

B6.4 HnESRTHREREREKER - BERY

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. Quality Services
B6.5 BUEBEERREBRALBRE  ARBHENTRERRE RERAL

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and  Protection of

how they are implemented and monitored. Privacy
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Bl B 9t B8

Aspects Section Remarks
B7 R&S

Anti-corruption

—MRBE HEER

Business Ethics
AR LLGBE DR RFRLREN:
@ BE: R
() BTUHBTABERYENREZERBAONNES -

General Disclosure

Information on:
(@)  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering.
B7.1 RESBAUETAIEEEREVEEENEGHARNE HEER
MEE RAFAER - Business Ethics
Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices
brought against the issuer or its employees during the reporting
period and the outcomes of the cases.
B7.2 MRS EERBRER  URRBRTREERE- HEER
Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing  Business Ethics
procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored.

B7.3 HitmEERE TRENREFE - HEER
Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and  Business Ethics
staff.

B8 HERE
Community investment
—REBE HEiRE

Community

BHENEB2ERTHETACENELRTERBREE  Investment
BEBEEBHBFZEOME -

General Disclosure

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs
of the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its
activities take into consideration the communities’ interests.

B8.1 EIEREE (NHE BREE 415K BE Xt HERE
BE)- Community
Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental  Investment
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).

BS.2 EEIEEFHRER(MEEHER) - HERE
Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Community

Investment
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ARBOEMN LTRSS+ OAESmEEE
AT ((RRERFADERRRRLEENR
FROER EEFRNIRERSIFENDLE
Bh EHREEXEEE RERRERMNE &
SEAEREAEARRERRNEMEHEES -

BERAE REE-Z-_—_F+-A=+—H
LEFE AR —BEEFLEEARATAIEZ
B —RgeEEAMRA - SFAMEX RiEZE
BEBRIFTEAE TR - W (EA)
KM XERTRIMENERRETR - HEMU
TRBEE BRI

REBECEEATRZFAIBEXEC21E £
FETBREZNAGATIUADY BT EHRA
—ATHEE-BHE-Z-_—F+-_A=+—H
LHEE BERELAEETARREERITHRE
B - EFEERABERA—ARTEERITH
BEABESHRANEEN—BMEEN - BR
SRR N BN EAMEEBERERRM -
EESREEEEMNEEREEE HE BRE
NEREMNZ FE EESHAEBRREKER
EAMER BB —FALNEEERE AIEH
THBIIERITES - ARAIGEBRNES
20 o

EEg
EFSREREREERRRAMAEIESE
BAEHIE R ERBE IR RS RE  FHA
ARSI AR EEGE  BEMBRE  EE
BREBEIERSRERBNRR  ERER
BEREENRAEERERKE

Exelid-2RTESE (AIE&RRAELE M
ERXRRELRERRELE)  WMEIFFRTESR (A
EREXEERREEL) R=RBIFNTE
= (NEEGFELE  RMRHEERRELE) A
MK - BEREERERTEIE BRREL
REEBREEZTF -

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES AND
PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code contained
in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules (the “CG Code”) as the basis of the
Company’s corporate governance practices. The Board is committed to
achieving high corporate governance standards which is essential in enhancing
corporate value, safeguarding interests of shareholders, enhancing transparency
and accountability and facilitating effective contribution.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with all the Code
Provisions set out in Part 2 — Principles of Good Corporate Governance, Code
Provisions and Recommended Best Practices of the CG Code during the year
ended 31 December 2022 and, where appropriate, adopted the Recommended
Best Practices set out in the CG Code, except for the following deviation:

Under Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman and
the chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. During the year ended 31 December 2022, Mr. WONG Chun
Hong performed his duties as the chairman and the chief executive officer of
the Company. The Board considers that vesting both roles in the same person
ensures consistent leadership within the Group and enables more effective
and efficient planning of long-term strategies and implementation of business
plans. The Board believes that the balance of power and authority is adequately
ensured by the operations and governance of the Board which comprises
experienced and high calibre individuals, with more than half of the Board
members being non-executive or independent non-executive Directors. The
Company will review the current structure when and as it becomes appropriate.

THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for supervising and overseeing all major matters of
the Company, including the formulation and approval of overall management
and operation strategies, reviewing the internal control and risk management
systems, reviewing financial performance, considering dividend policies and
monitoring the performance of the senior management, while the management
is responsible for the daily management and operations of the Group.

The Board currently comprises three executive Directors, namely Mr WONG
Chun Hong, Ms LAM Mei Ka, Shirley and Mr WONG Sze Yuen, two non-
executive Directors, namely Mr YIP Hoong Mun and Mr KUI Qiang, and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr CHENG Yuk Wo, Professor
WU Si Zong and Mr CHAN Yee Herman. Mr. WONG Chun Hong is the
chairman of the Board. Mr. WONG Sze Yuen is a son of Mr. WONG Chun
Hong.



TERERB®E

TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022 83

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ARREEIHES  BREESUESELE
REEE  EMEHINMT
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BHARRAEBMEBEAZEERMR
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RKZBREER

- HE RIREFREEREFIHETE
AREHRFM: &

— WEANRRESTTRMEXAE R R ED
EERMENNBEE -

The Company has established mechanisms to ensure that independent views
and input are available to the Board, a summary of which is set out as follows:

1. In terms of composition of the Board, (i) at least one-third of its members
are independent non-executive Directors; (ii) the Company would receive
independence confirmations from its independent non-executive Directors
annually pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules; and (iii) the Board
composition and the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors are reviewed by the nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) of the Company on an annual basis (in particular, for
independent non-executive Directors who have served for more than nine
years).

2. In terms of conduct of Board proceedings, (i) all Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) are provided with regular updates of
the Group’s performance, position and prospects to enable them to make
informed decision; (i) all members of the Board may seek independent
professional advice when necessary to perform their responsibilities; (iii)
the Directors shall not vote or be counted in the quorum on any Board
resolution approving any contract, arrangement or any other proposal
concerning a matter that is significant to the Company’s business in which
such Director or any of his/her close associates has a material interest,
save as otherwise permitted under the Listing Rules; and (iv) the chairman
of the Board shall meet the independent non-executive Directors at least
once annually.

The Board reviews the implementation and effectiveness of the above
mechanisms on an annual basis.

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties set
out in Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code and performed the following
duties in 2022:

—  develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and make recommendations to the Board;

—  review and monitor the training and continuous professional development
of the Directors and senior management;

—  review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements;

—  develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual
applicable to employees and Directors; and

—  review the Company’s compliance with the Code Provisions and disclosure
in the corporate governance report.
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During the year under review, the Board held four Board meetings (exclusive
of meetings of the Board committees constituted by the Board held during
the year under review). The attendance of each Director is set out in the table
below:

HERE, B

Number of
attendance/Total

HITES Executive Directors
BERBAE(EERTHAER) Mr WONG Chun Hong (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) 4/4
MERLZ L Ms LAM Mei Ka, Shirley 4/4
P (BT - —F )\ ANBLET) MrLUANG Rui Chi (resigned with effect from 4 August 2022) 1/4
HRERAEE(BEZZEZZFN\ANBE Mr WONG Sze Yuen (appointed with effect from

BZE) 4 August 2022) 3/4
FHTES Non-executive Directors
BERENXEE Mr YIP Hoong Mun 4/4
BRos s & Mr KUl Qiang 4/4
BYKBTES Independent non-executive Directors
EPER AN S A Mr CHENG Yuk Wo 4/4
SRS Professor WU Si Zong 4/4
PR {2 55 A Mr CHAN Yee Herman 4/4

FRTEFERBUFRTETATRERSS
BRERAEREE EHR=F -BHZEE
AREEGERBEA - RS —TRAELT
PR=(EAEEBATIAL L o

MEESEHARBALRABKERZAA (A8
ERMAR D E)E=FRERBFAS LH/E
RESTEERBIBEEE -

B RAE
BREFECNEFEZETRAADNEER
575 - AR E AR RIS 8 A AR ROA
RRE LRI FAARNEL - KN ERE
FERBERE—R2E  EHTERER
RN -

The non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors are
typically appointed for a term of three years under their respective letters of
appointment. Each appointment letter may be terminated in accordance with
the provisions therein by either party giving to the other not less than three
months’ prior written notice.

All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and eligible for re-election at
the annual general meeting at least once every three years in accordance with
the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”).

TRAINING AND COMMITMENT

To ensure that a newly appointed Director will have a proper understanding
of the operations and business of the Company and is fully aware of his/her
responsibilities under all applicable laws and regulations (including the Listing
Rules), he/she will be provided with a comprehensive, tailor-made and formal
induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment.
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(ZERITEAZ)
MERLZL
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REXERE
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FEARKEEHORR K - LS EFAER
AARREBREFREFON S RNEM EH
AR EEBOEMEY  WARNRKRAEEER
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The Group also provides trainings, briefings and materials to the Directors and
senior management from time to time to help and ensure that they are apprised
of the latest changes in the commercial, legal and regulatory environment in
which the Group conducts its businesses and to refresh their knowledge and
skills on the roles, functions and duties of a director of listed company. For the
year ended 31 December 2022, materials relating to various latest amendments
to the Listing Rules, new guidance letters and listing decisions were distributed
to the Directors as part of their continuous professional development trainings.

The training records of the Directors for the year ended 31 December 2022 are
as follows:

LHRAFHET
Latest
amendments to
the Listing Rules

Name of Director

Executive Directors
Mr WONG Chun Hong

(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) v/
Ms LAM Mei Ka, Shirley v/
Mr LIANG Rui Chi (resigned with effect from 4 August 2022) v/
Mr WONG Sze Yuen (appointed with effect from 4 August 2022) v/
Non-executive Directors
Mr YIP Hoong Mun v/
Mr KUI Qiang v/
Independent non-executive Directors
Mr CHENG Yuk Wo v/
Professor WU Si Zong v/
Mr CHAN Yee Herman v/

Remarks:
v represents compliance

The Company has received confirmations from the Directors that they have
provided sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Group. Besides, the
Directors have disclosed to the Company their interests as director and other
office in other public companies and organisations in a timely manner and have
updated the Company on any subsequent changes. Each of the Directors has
complied with Code Provision C.1.4 of the CG Code.
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Name of Director

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman and
the chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. With effect from 1 March 2018, Mr WONG Chun Hong has
become the chairman and the chief executive officer of the Company. The
Board considers that vesting both roles in the same person ensures consistent
leadership within the Group and enables more effective and efficient planning
of long-term strategies and implementation of business plans. The Board
believes that the balance of power and authority is adequately ensured by the
operations and governance of the Board which comprises experienced and
high caliber individuals, with more than half of the Board members being non-
executive or independent non-executive Directors. The Company will review the
current structure when and as it becomes appropriate.

DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE AT GENERAL MEETINGS

During the year under review, the Company held one annual general meeting
on 8 June 2022 ("AGM") and one extraordinary general meeting on 16
November 2022. The attendance of each Director is set out in the table below.

BRRRFRRE
Extraordinary
general meeting

—Eg-=
+—HA+7H
16 November

2022

BRBAFARE
AGM

HITES Executive Directors
EERERE Mr WONG Chun Hong
(FEHFITEAAE) (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) v v
MERZ L Ms LAM Mei Ka Shirley v v
R E(BEZE = Mr LIANG Rui Chi (resigned with effect from N/A
J\A U H REEHE) 4 August 2022) v FEA
HRREE(BZE = Mr WONG Sze Yuen (appointed with effect N/A
NAMBEEEZT) from 4 August 2022) TEA v/
FHTES Non-executive Directors
BEREXEE Mr YIP Hoong Mun v v
PR od % A4 Mr KUl Qiang v v
BYkHTES Independent non-executive Directors
ERER AN ST A Mr CHENG Yuk Wo v v
ROMREIR Professor WU Si Zong v v
PR {2 58 A Mr CHAN Yee Herman v/ v
- Remarks:
v EERE v/ represents attendance
X 1ERRE X represents absence
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The chairman of the remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”) is Mr CHENG Yuk Wo. As at the date of this
report, the Remuneration Committee consists of one executive Director, Mr
WONG Chun Hong and two independent non-executive Directors, Mr CHENG
Yuk Wo and Professor WU Si Zong.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for
remuneration of Directors and senior management and on the establishment
of formal and transparent procedures for developing such remuneration
policy. The duties of the Remuneration Committee are detailed in its terms of
reference which is available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

In determining the remuneration of the Directors and the senior management,
the Remuneration Committee would consider factors such as salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the Directors
and the senior management, performance and contributions of the Directors
and the senior management and the change in market conditions.

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during the year under review.
The attendance of each member of the Remuneration Committee is set out in
the table below:

HERS B

Number of

attendance/Total

ERERASTE (FE) Mr CHENG Yuk Wo (Chairman) 212

EERERE Mr WONG Chun Hong 2/2

RN REE Professor WU Si Zong 22
REBEEEN HFHWEESEBETHITEE 23 For the year under review, the Remuneration Committee determined the
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policy for the remuneration of executive directors, assessed performance of
the executive Directors, approved the terms of executive Directors’ service
contracts, recommended to the Board on the year-end bonus of executive
Directors and the senior management of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2022. No Director was involved in deciding his own remuneration or
options granted.

The Company adopted Code Provision E.1.2(c)(ii) out of the two models
suggested by the CG Code. As a result, the Board as a whole is responsible
for determining the remuneration of non-executive Directors whereas
the Remuneration Committee makes recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management of the Company and its subsidiaries as well as share options
related matters. Details of the remuneration of each of the Directors and senior
management of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set
out in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group and in the
section headed “Remuneration for Senior Management” under the Directors’
Report of this report.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The chairman of the Nomination Committee is Professor WU Si Zong. As at
the date of this report, the Nomination Committee consists of one executive
Director, Mr WONG Chun Hong and two independent non-executive Directors,
Mr CHENG Yuk Wo and Professor WU Si Zong.
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The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to (i) review the structure,
size, composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience required)
and diversity of the Board on a regular basis; (i) to identify individuals suitably
qualified to become board members and select or make recommendations to
the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships, having
due regard to the board diversity policy and the nomination policy of the
Company, when a vacancy occurs on the Board by reason of disqualification
resignation, retirement, death or an increase in the size of the Board; (iii) to
make recommendations to the Board on matters related to the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors, and
any other area where action or improvement is needed; (iv) to assess the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors; (v) to review the
board diversity policy as appropriate and make recommendations on any
required changes to the Board for consideration and approval, and monitor
its implementation so as to ensure its effectiveness, and make disclosure
of its summary and the progress of its implementation in the corporate
governance report; (vi) to review the nomination policy for directors and to
make disclosure of the summary of nomination policy in annual report of the
Company annually; and (vii) to ensure the disclosures required by the terms of
reference are set out in the circular where the Board proposes a resolution to
elect an individual as an independent non-executive Director. The duties of the
Nomination Committee are detailed in its terms of reference which is available
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The chairman of the Nomination Committee shall attend the annual general
meeting of the Company to answer questions raised by the Shareholders on
Directors’ nomination and other nomination policy matters.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted a “Nomination Policy” on 1 January 2019 in relation
to the nomination, appointment, re-appointment of new Directors and the
nomination procedure of the Company, which provides that in evaluating
and selecting any candidate for directorship, the Nomination Committee shall
consider the candidates’ character and integrity, professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience, independence, diversity on the Board,
willingness to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a Board member
and such other criteria that are appropriate to the business of the Company.

Before a prospective Director’s name is formally proposed, opinions of the
existing Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors) will be
solicited. The proposed appointment will first be reviewed by the Nomination
Committee, taking into account the balance of skills, knowledge and experience
on the Board. Upon recommendation of the Nomination Committee, the
proposed appointment will then be reviewed and, if thought fit, approved by
the Board after due deliberation. If necessary, the Company may also engage
external search firm to assist in the sourcing and identification of appropriate
candidates for Board appointments. The Company will also consider the
prospective Director’s time commitment to the role being applied for and any
potential conflicts of interest identified, if he/she has outside mandates.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a revised “Board Diversity Policy” on 1 January 2019 in
relation to the nomination and appointment of new Directors, which provides
that the selection of Board candidates shall be based on a range of diversity
perspectives with reference to the Company’s business model and specific
needs, including but not limited to gender, age, race, language, cultural
background, educational background, industry experience and professional
experience. The above measurements were also reviewed and adopted when
the Nomination Committee reviewed the composition of the Board. After
assessing the suitability of the Directors’ skills and experience to the Company’s
business, the Nomination Committee confirmed that the existing Board
was appropriately structured and no change was required. The Nomination
Committee reviews the Board Diversity Policy annually.

The Board’s composition as at the date of this report under diversified
perspectives is summarised as follows:

B

Designation

1 5

Gender

1

3

y

6
2
Z+ Bachelor @ 9T 4 Postgraduate @ 77 %= % Executive Directors 3E%0,77 2 = non-executive Directors 2z 4 female @ 5 male
¥ 37 E# 7T E = independent non-executive Directors
Fie AR (B%) PR 7 4 55
Age group (years old) years of service
1
3
4 ! ’
5
2
0
®31-40 51-60 @61-70 O71-80 2-5 6-10 @11-15
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The Board achieved gender diversity as it has appointed one female Director.
The Board will maintain at least one female Director to be a member of the
Board. To develop a pipeline of potential successors to the Board to achieve
gender diversity, the Company has adopted relevant hiring policies for
considering candidates of senior management positions which would take into
account diversity perspectives including gender diversity.

As at 31 December 2022, the ratio of male and female in the workforce is
60% and 40%, respectively; and the ratio of male and female in the senior
management is 90% and 10% respectively. As such, the Company’s workforce
and the senior management have both achieved gender diversity between
males and females. The Company would continue to take into account of
diversity perspectives including gender diversity in its hiring.
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The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year under review.
The attendance of each member of the Nomination Committee is set out in the
table below:

HERE B

Number of

attendance/Total

SROMREIR (£ )E) Professor WU Si Zong (Chairman) 11
=HEREE Mr WONG Chun Hong 11
BB AN A Mr CHENG Yuk Wo 11

REBEFERN REZEBERELTHRAUE
BI0A R EFTERE  RERMARIA K
ERERRIESE-

BEREES

FARBEEEE (BREAR) TRADS
Mkt RAREAN BREARRE=S
BUEHITES  DEHNEE - RNRAE
RIS -

ERZEENESTERLEEESRENE
ZHRRERARAMBERROTEN - ERE
EEEEMAMBREREARARR ZARE
B R N B R AR R - R EREBSNE
mEMmEEEREERANREBERELR
B MBS B SMNE A B RO B S R BB R X
BIZZ K o

ERLZBEARENAHEE BENERIE
REMNEENERSREMERS  HAH
EHAREZEMERRARARRAS L#
o TR -REBEFERN EESLE]
BE - R BHOR AR NI A BUAD M BR A4 £
ERLZBETRANER -ERZESEEFE
BEEEBHFE BT BN ZBENE®E - A
AT AERREL 2 FE RIS BB AT 88
REZEMHEMEE BFERZEGHNREFR
HEGHE - BgasE RN AR R Rk 8
uh EER -

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee reviewed the
structure, size and composition of the Board in accordance with Rule 3.10A of
the Listing Rules, and recommended the re-election of the retiring Directors.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The chairman of the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit
Committee”) is Mr CHENG Yuk Wo. As at the date of this report, the Audit
Committee consists of three independent non-executive Directors, Mr CHENG
Yuk Wo, Professor WU Si Zong and Mr CHAN Yee Herman.

The Audit Committee reports to the Board and is authorised by the Board
to assess, review and monitor the integrity of the financial statements of the
Company. The Audit Committee oversees all financial reporting procedures
and the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal control
system, advises the Board on the appointment and re-appointment of external
auditors, and reviews and monitors the independence and objectivity of
external auditors and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with
the applicable standard.

The Audit Committee is responsible for recommending to the Board on matters
related to the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external
auditors, which is subject to the approval of the Board and the Shareholders
at general meeting of the Company. For the year under review, the Board has
not taken a different view from that of the Audit Committee regarding the
selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of the external auditors. The
Audit Committee meets with the external auditors annually in the absence of
management to discuss matters relating to any issues arising from audit and
any other matters the external auditors may wish to raise. The duties of the
Audit Committee are detailed in its terms of reference which is available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year under review. The
attendance of each member of the Audit Committee is set out in the table
below:

HERE B

Number of

attendance/Total

ERERRN S A (£ /) Mr CHENG Yuk Wo (Chairman) 22
SOMREIE Professor WU Si Zong 2/2
BREESE Mr CHAN Yee Herman 212
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At the above meetings, the Audit Committee considered, reviewed and
discussed the accounting principles and practice adopted by the Group,
the annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021, the
interim results of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2022 and the
effectiveness of financial reporting, internal control, consultancy services,
internal audit function, risk management systems and its other duties under the
CG Code.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the total fees paid/payable to the
external auditors of the Company, KPMG, in respect of audit and non-audit
services are set out below:

+ —H :'|‘ =]

IEFE

For the year ended

31 December 2022

FHET

HK$°000

EZRS Audit services 4,950

H b BR 7S (KT 7E) Other services (Note) 2,183

#Et Total 7,133
et : £ RIRBFEBZREI - NEBIMNEZH Note: Apart from the provision of annual audit services, KPMG, the Group’s external auditors,
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also provided review services on half yearly financial results, audit services on the financial
statement of the Group’s subsidiaries and other non- audit services including provision of
environmental, social and governance report advice and tax advice during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY ON THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2022, and confirm that the
financial statements give a true and fair view for the year under review, and
are prepared in accordance with the applicable statutory requirements and
accounting standards. The statement of the external auditors of the Company,
KPMG, in relation to their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements
of the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report of this report.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is fully responsible for maintaining proper and effective internal
control system and for regularly reviewing the operational efficiency of the
financial, operational, compliance controls, risk management and other aspects
of the system in order to safeguard the investment of Shareholders and the
assets of the Company. During the year under review, the Board has conducted
an annual review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control system of the Group covering the above aspects. The Board has also
considered the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff
of the Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting function,
and their training programmes and budget during the year under review. The
Board is not aware of any significant internal control and risk management
weaknesses nor significant breach or limits of risk management policies, and
considers the existing internal control system and risk management systems
effective and adequate. The Company has complied with the risk management
and internal control code provisions under the CG Code for the year ended 31
December 2022.

The internal audit department of the Company is responsible for regular review
and audit of the Group’s major finance and operating activities. The purpose of
such work is to ensure the normal operation of internal control and the playing
of its due role.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board has an overall responsibility for the risk management framework,
and for determining the significant risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company’s objectives.

The Audit Committee is delegated with overseeing the effectiveness of internal
control and risk management, while management is responsible for the design,
implementation and monitoring of such systems. The Board office is responsible
for coordinating risk management activities, and to report regularly to the
Board.
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Our approach to manage risks involves identification and assessment of
principal risks from the external and internal environment at different
organisation levels. The assessment considers the changes in nature and
extent of significant risks and the Group’s ability to respond to changes in its
business and the external environment. Action plans have been developed and
risk ownership has been assigned for each key principal risk. The risk owners
coordinate the mitigation measures to ensure proper implementation of these
action plans. The process is closely monitored by the Board office. The internal
control and risk management systems and the effectiveness of internal audit
function are reviewed by the Board on an on-going basis to ensure they are
effective.

Taking into consideration the principal risks and mitigation actions, the Board
believes that the Company has the ability to respond to any such changes in
our business and the external environment.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted the “Dividend Policy” on 1 January 2019 in
recommending dividends, to allow the Shareholders to participate in the
Company’s profits and enable the Company to retain adequate reserves for
future growth, which provides that subject to the approval of the Shareholders
and requirement of the relevant law, the Company shall pay annual dividends
to the Shareholders if the Group is profitable, operations environment is stable
and there is no significant investment or commitment made by the Group.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal risks and uncertainties that may cause the Group’s financial
conditions or results materially different from the expected or historical results
are described below:

Risks with regard to the property market in the PRC

Most of the Group’s property projects are located in Mainland China, and
some in Hong Kong and overseas, and most of the Group’s revenue is derived
in the PRC. As at 31 December 2022, the Group had a total of 21 projects at
various stages of development. As such, the Group is therefore subject to the
risks associated with the PRC property market. The Group’s operations in the
PRC may also be exposed to the risks of policy change, interest rate change,
demand-supply imbalance and the overall economic conditions, which may
pose an adverse impact on the Group's business, financial condition or results
of operations.
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Risks with regard to the funding of property development
The property development business is capital intensive. The Group funded its
land acquisitions and property developments primarily through bank loans,
internally generated cash flows (including proceeds from the pre-sale and
sale of the Group’s projects), note payable, convertible bonds and loans from
substantial Shareholders. The Group’s ability to obtain adequate funding
depends on a number of factors, some of which are beyond the Group’s
control, such as general economic conditions in the PRC, the performance and
outlook of the property development industry in the PRC, the Group’s financial
strength and performance, the availability of credit from financial institutions,
and regulatory measures instituted by the PRC government. There is no
assurance that the Group will be able to obtain adequate financing for land
acquisitions or property developments at all and/or on terms that will allow the
Group to earn reasonable returns.

Risks with regards to the redevelopment projects
Redevelopment projects in the PRC involve many uncertainties and are capital
intensive. The Group is required to obtain numerous government approvals in
relation to the Group’s urban redevelopment projects and to obtain consents to
relocate all of the existing residents. There is no assurance that the Group will
be able to obtain all of the necessary consents to relocate the existing residents
or that the Group will be able to obtain all necessary government approvals.

Risks with regard to the property leasing

The rental rates and the occupancy rates depend on various factors, including
but not limited to, prevailing supply and demand conditions, economic
conditions as well as the quality of the properties. There is no assurance that
the Group will be able to look for new tenants within a short period of time or
procure new leases or renew existing leases at the prevailing market rates.

Operational risks

The Group’s operation is subject to a number of risk factors distinctive to
property development and property related businesses. Default on the part of
the Group’s contractors, buyers, tenants, and strategic business partners, and
inadequacies or failures of internal processes, people and systems or other
external factors may have various levels of negative impact on the results of
the Group’s operation. In addition, accidents may happen despite systems and
policies set up for their prevention, which may lead to the Group’s financial
loss, litigation, or damage in reputation.

Interest rate risks

Most of the Group’s borrowings are floating-rate bank loans, which expose the
Group to rising interest rates. We will closely monitor the interest rate risk and
when appropriate adopt measures to manage the associated risk, including
but not limited to, the issuance of fixed rate bonds, and use of derivatives such
as interest rate swaps and management of the ratio of fixed or floating loan
portfolio. As at 31 December 2022, the Group had not carried out any hedging
activities to manage its interest rate exposure.
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Currency risks

Almost all of the Group’s operating activities are carried out in the PRC with
most of the transactions denominated in RMB. The Group is exposed to foreign
currency risk arising from the exposure of RMB against Hong Kong dollars or
US dollars as a result of its investment in Mainland China and the settlement
of certain general and administrative expenses and other borrowings in Hong
Kong dollars, United States dollars or Australian dollars. We will closely monitor
the fluctuations of the RMB exchange rate and give prudent consideration as
to entering into any currency swap arrangement as and when appropriate for
hedging corresponding risks. As at 31 December 2022, the Group had not
carried out any hedging activities to manage its foreign exchange rate risk.

HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Company has put in place a policy on handling and dissemination of
inside information which sets out the procedures and internal controls for
handling and dissemination of inside information in a timely manner in such
a way to avoid placing any person in a privileged dealing position. The inside
information policy also provides guidelines to employees of the Group to
ensure proper safeguards exists to prevent the Company from breaching the
statutory and listing rule disclosure requirements. The Company has appropriate
internal control and reporting systems to identify and assess potential inside
information. Dissemination of inside information of the Company shall be
conducted by publishing the relevant information on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company, according to the requirements of the Listing Rules.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the
“Model Code”) as its code of conduct for securities transactions by the
Directors. After having made specific enquiries with all Directors, all Directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the required standards set out
in the Model Code during the year ended 31 December 2022. To ensure
compliance, all Directors were requested to send a notice of intention to
deal with the securities of the Company to the chairman of the Corporate
Governance Committee and should obtain an approval from the chairman of
the Corporate Governance Committee or the designated person by the Board
during the year under review to deal with securities of the Company.

Relevant employees who are likely to be in possession of inside information of
the Company are also subject to compliance with guidelines on no less exacting
terms than the Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Upon specific enquiry by the Company and based on the confirmations from
the Directors, there has been no change in the information of the Directors
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules since
the date of the Company’s 2022 Annual Report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”),
Mr WONG Tak Chun, is responsible to the Board for ensuring that Board
procedures are followed and Board activities are efficiently and effectively
conducted. These objectives are achieved through adherence to proper Board
processes and the timely preparation and dissemination to the Directors of
comprehensive meeting agendas and papers. Minutes of all Board meetings
and Board committees are prepared and maintained by the Company Secretary
to record in sufficient details of the matters considered and decisions reached
by the Board or Board committees, including any concerns raised or dissenting
views voiced by any Director. All draft and final versions of the minutes of
Board meetings and meetings of Board committees are sent to Directors and
committee members respectively for comment and record and are available for
inspection by any Director upon request.

The Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring that the Board is fully
apprised of all legislative, regulatory and corporate governance developments
relating to the Group and that it takes these into consideration when making
decisions for the Group. From time to time, he organises seminars on specific
topics of significance and interest and disseminates reference materials to the
Directors for their information.

The Company Secretary is also directly responsible for the compliance of the
Group with all obligations of the Listing Rules and the Codes on Takeovers
and Mergers and Share Buy-backs, including the preparation, publication
and despatch of annual reports and interim reports within the time limits laid
down in the Listing Rules, the timely dissemination to the Shareholders and the
market of information relating to the Group.

Furthermore, the Company Secretary advises the Directors on their obligations
for disclosure of interests and dealings in securities of the Company, connected
transactions and inside information and ensures that the standards and
disclosures required by the Listing Rules are observed and, where required,
reflected in the annual report of the Company.

During the year under review, Mr WONG Tak Chun attended no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND SHAREHOLDERS'
RIGHTS

The Company ensures that fair and transparent disclosure is made for its
business and financial performance through a variety of formal communication
channels. Information regarding the Company is published in its website:
www.topspring.com. Interim and annual reports, circulars and notices of the
Company are despatched to the Shareholders. The website of the Company
provides information such as e-mail address, correspondence address,
telephone numbers for enquiries, and provides information on the business
activities of the Group. Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board in writing either by email to IR@topspring.com or direct
mailing to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong for the
attention of the Company Secretary.

The Company’s annual general meeting of the Shareholders is a good
opportunity for communication between the Board and the Shareholders.
Notice of annual general meeting and related documents will be sent to
Shareholders pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules and the Articles
of Association, and are published on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

Shareholders are encouraged to attend all general meetings of the Company.
Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association, Shareholders holding not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right,
by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of
any business specified in the requisition. The requisition must state the objects
of the meeting, and must be signed by the Shareholder(s) concerned and
may consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of
those Shareholders. The requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or
the Company Secretary via mail to the Company’s principal place of business
in Hong Kong at Rooms 04-08, 26th Floor, Shui On Centre, 6-8 Harbour
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The Company shall hold general meeting within
two months after receiving the requisition. If the Directors fail to proceed to
convene the extraordinary general meeting within twenty-one (21) days of the
deposit of such requisition, the Shareholder(s) himself or themselves may do so
in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by him/her/them as
a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the Shareholder(s) by
the Company.
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If a Shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a retiring Director
for election as a Director at a general meeting, pursuant to Article 85 of the
Articles of Association, the Shareholder (other than the person to be proposed)
duly qualified to attend and vote at the general meeting shall send a written
notice, duly signed by the Shareholder, of his/her intention to propose such
person for election and also a notice signed by the person to be proposed
of his/her willingness to be elected. These notices should be lodged at the
Company’s head office or the office of the Company’s share registrar in Hong
Kong (the “Hong Kong Share Registrar”), Tricor Investor Services Limited.
The period for lodgement of such notices shall commence on the day after the
despatch of the notice of such general meeting and end no later than seven
days prior to the date of such general meeting. All substantive resolutions at
general meetings are decided on a poll which is conducted by the Company
Secretary and scrutinised by the Hong Kong Share Registrar of the Company.
The results of the poll are published on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange. Regularly updated financial, business and other information on
the Group is made available on the website of the Company for Shareholders
and investors.

Shareholders may put forward proposals at general meetings by sending
written notice of their proposals to the Company Secretary at the Company’s
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong for the attention of
the Company Secretary.

The Company also meets the investment community and responds to their
enquiries about the status of the Company from time to time, so as to
strengthen the contacts and communication between the Company and its
investors.

During the AGM held on 8 June 2022, the Shareholders approved the proposed
amendments to the Articles of Association and adopted the new amended and
restated Articles of Association which can be downloaded from the HKEXnews
website and the Company’s website.

After taking into account that the Shareholders have multiple channels to
communicate their views as mentioned above as well as the steps taken by the
Board to solicit and understand the views of Shareholders and stakeholders
during the year ended 31 December 2022 including but not limited to open
discussion with the Shareholders during the AGM, the Board’s review of the
implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy
was found to be sound and adequate.
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr WONG Chun Hong (E# E), aged 68
Executive Director, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr WONG is the Founder of the Group and is the executive Director, Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. He is also a director of
various subsidiaries within the Group. In addition, he is also the founder, the
second largest shareholder and vice chairman of the board of directors of
Rainbow Digital Commercial Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange. He has over 30 years of experience in the real estate business in the
Mainland China and Hong Kong, and has profound accomplishments in the
finance and retail fields.

From 1993 to 1996, Mr WONG was the deputy managing director and the
second largest shareholder of Top Glory International Holdings Limited (formerly
known as World Trade Center Group Limited), a company which was listed on
the Stock Exchange and is now privatised and was the vice chairman of China
Foods Limited (formerly known as China Foods Holdings Limited), a company
listed on the Stock Exchange. From 1996 to 2001, Mr WONG was a major
shareholder, chairman and chief executive officer of ITC Properties Group
Limited (formerly known as Cheung Tai Hong Holdings Limited), a company
listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr WONG attended the Global CEO Programme
for China in 2007 which was co-organised by China Europe International
Business School, IESE Business School and Harvard Business School. He is the
executive chairman of Federation of Hong Kong Guangdong Community
Organizations Limited, the chairman of Hong Kong Federation of Guangzhou
Associations Limited, the president of Hong Kong Real Property Federation and
a member of Guangzhou Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
(BEMTE#BEZ). In July 2016, Mr WONG was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia
Star (BBS) by the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
in recognition of his continuous contribution to the well-being of Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region over the years, and for his achievements towards
the commercial sector and community affairs. The Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS)
was introduced in 1998 and is presented to individuals who demonstrate
remarkable performance in long-term community services. Mr WONG was
bestowed an Honorary Doctor of social science by City University of Hong Kong
in October 2020.
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Chance Again Limited (“Chance Again”), a substantial shareholder (as defined
in the Listing Rules) of the Company, is wholly-owned by Cheung Yuet (B.V.l.)
Limited (“BVI Co"). The entire issued share capital of BVI Co is wholly-owned
by HSBC International Trustee Limited (“HSBC International Trustee”) as
the trustee of The Cheung Yuet Memorial Trust, a discretionary family trust
established by Mr WONG (the “Wong's Family Trust”), the beneficiaries of
which include Mr WONG's family members. Mr WONG is the settlor and the
protector of the Wong’s Family Trust. Mr WONG is also a director of Chance
Again. Save as mentioned above, Mr WONG does not have any relationship
with any Directors, senior management, substantial Shareholders or controlling
Shareholders of the Company.

The discloseable interest of Mr WONG in the Shares and underlying Shares
under the provisions of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO") is set out in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s
Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of
the Company and its Associated Corporations” under the Directors’ Report of
this report.

Ms LAM Mei Ka, Shirley (# 3% %), aged 52
Executive Director

Ms LAM was appointed as an executive Director with effect from 1 March
2018. Ms LAM joined the Company in October 2017 and was appointed as the
managing director of Top Spring Healthcare Holdings (Hong Kong) Company
Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, where she was responsible for overseeing
the business operations related to education and healthcare services of the
Group. Prior to joining the Company, Ms LAM served in senior managerial
positions in a number of blue-chip property developers in Hong Kong, including
Techno Factor (Development) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Henderson
Land Development Company Limited, New World Development China Limited,
Hopewell Real Estate Agency Limited and MTR Corporation Limited. Ms LAM
has accumulated over 20 years of the management experience in the real estate
industry with a focus on real estate development, asset management and
management of shopping mall operations. Ms LAM graduated from Ottawa
University, the United States with a bachelor’s degree in business administration
and obtained a master's degree in Project Management from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. She is @ member of the Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors and Chartered Institute of Housing.

Ms LAM does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior management,
substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders of the Company.

Ms LAM does not have any interests in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations under the
provisions of Part XV of the SFO.
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Mr WONG Sze Yuen (Z2&JR), aged 39
Executive Director

Mr. WONG joined the Group in September 2015 and is in charge of overseeing
the operational management of the Group. Mr. WONG was or is currently
a director of a number of subsidiaries and joint ventures of the Company.
Mr. WONG was responsible for and brought about instigating growth and
increasing diversity within the Group's businesses. Mr. WONG possesses
extensive knowledge and professional experience which allows him to assist
the Group to seize growth opportunities in this ever-changing market. He was
appointed as an executive Director on 4 August 2022. Mr. WONG obtained
his Bachelor of Arts degree from University of New South Wales in 2006, his
Master of Commerce degree from University of New South Wales in 2009 and
his Juris Doctor degree from University of New South Wales in 2015.

Chance Again Limited (“Chance Again”), which is a substantial shareholder
(as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company, is wholly-owned by Cheung
Yuet (B.V.l.) Limited (“BVI Co"). The entire issued share capital of BVI Co is
wholly-owned by HSBC International Trustee Limited as the trustee of The
Cheung Yuet Memorial Trust, a discretionary family trust established by Mr.
WONG Chun Hong (the “Wong'’s Family Trust”), the beneficiaries of which
include Mr. WONG Chun Hong’s family members. As Mr. WONG is one of the
beneficiaries of the Wong's Family Trust, Mr. WONG is deemed to be interested
in the Shares held by Chance Again.

Mr. WONG is a son of Mr. WONG Chun Hong who is the founder of the
Group, an executive Director, the chairman of the Board, the chief executive
officer and a controlling shareholder of the Company.

Save as disclosed, Mr. WONG does not have any relationship with any Directors,
senior management or substantial or controlling shareholders of the Company.

Mr WONG does not have any interests in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations under the
provisions of Part XV of the SFO.
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Non-executive Director

Mr YIP Hoong Mun (EE ), aged 61
Non-executive Director

Mr YIP was appointed as a non-executive Director and a member of the
Corporate Governance Committee of the Company on 1 September 2017.
Mr YIP is the executive Director and Group Chief Executive Officer of Metro
Holdings Limited (“Metro Holdings”, together with its subsidiaries, the
“Metro Group”) since June 2019. Metro Holdings is a company listed on The
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited and a substantial shareholder (as
defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company.

Mr Yip has over 30 years of experience in executive and senior management
roles in strategic planning, operations, hospitality, real estate investment and
development. Mr Yip started his career with Indeco Engineers and later joined
BP South East Asia. Prior to joining Metro, he spent over 20 years with the
Capitaland Group, and served different roles in various strategic business units.
He was Managing Director of Ascott China in 2003 and then Chief Executive
Officer, Asia Pacific and the Gulf Region of The Ascott Group in 2006.
Subsequent to that, Mr Yip has been involved in property developments in the
Gulf Region, Vietnam and Indonesia of the CapitaLand Group.

Mr Yip has a Bachelor of Civil Engineering degree with first class honours
from the National University of Singapore and a Master’s degree in Business
Administration from Stanford University, USA. He also completed a
management course at Fudan University, Shanghai, China

Save as disclosed above, Mr YIP does not have any relationship with any
Directors, senior management or substantial or controlling Shareholders of the
Company.

Mr YIP does not have any interests in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations under the
provisions of Part XV of the SFO.
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Mr KUI Qiang (F25%), aged 37
Non-executive Director

Mr KUI was appointed as a non-executive Director on 6 December 2019. He is
currently the director and financial controller of Caiyun International Investment
Limited (“Caiyuan”). From December 2015 to March 2017, Mr KUl worked as
the deputy supervisor of the financial department of Yunnan Health & Cultural
Tourism Holding Group Co., Ltd. (“YHCT"). Mr KUI obtained a double bachelor
degree in E-commerce and English Studies from Northeast Normal University
(4L AN # K 28) in 2008 and a master degree in Accounting from the same
university in 2010. Mr KUl is also a certified management accountant of the
Institute of Management Accountants in the USA. Mr KUI has over 13 years
of experience in the fields of fund management, information technology, real
estate development and telecommunication.

Save as disclosed above, Mr KUI does not have any relationship with any other
Directors, senior management or substantial or controlling Shareholders (each
as defined in the Listing Rules).

Mr KUI does not have any interests in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations under the
provisions of Part XV of the SFO.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr CHENG Yuk Wo (Z8%i#1), aged 62
Independent non-executive Director

Mr CHENG was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 30
November 2010. Mr CHENG worked at PricewaterhouseCoopers (formerly
known as Coopers and Lybrand) in London in 1984 and at UBS AG (formerly
known as Swiss Bank Corporation) in Toronto in 1989. He is also the co-
founder of Centurion Corporate Finance Limited. In 1999, he became the sole
proprietor of Erik CHENG & Co., Certified Public Accountants. Mr CHENG
received his master’s degree of science (economics) in accounting and finance
from the London School of Economics and Political Science in 1984, and his
bachelor’s degree of arts (honours) in accounting from the University of Kent
in 1983. Mr CHENG is currently a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered
Professional Accountants of Canada, a Certified Public Accountant practising in
Hong Kong and a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales. Mr CHENG does not have any relationship with any Directors,
senior management, substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders of the
Company.
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The table below sets out Mr CHENG's directorships in a number of companies
listed in Hong Kong up to the date of this report:

B

Name of the listed company

PREAERKRARAR

CPMC Holdings Limited
BARBEMEARR AR

CSI Properties Limited
MANBEEERER AR

Somerley Capital Holdings Limited
BRIFMEER QR

Liu Chong Hing Investment Limited
SWEREERFR A A

Miricor Enterprises Holdings Limited
ERBEERFARAA

Chia Tai Enterprises International Limited
S A SEBIPR FE BR IR A 7]

Kidsland International Holdings Limited
FEBLRRKREBRAA

China Renewable Energy Investment Limited

BEERBD AR D A REES KB
BROIEXVEGEIA T RE RSN AR
EHEERESEEERIZTHRAEBRAR
AR EARBOAB AR - AR RIESHE

smMORE |8 e

Position

BUEMITESF
Independent non-executive director
BUEMITES
Independent non-executive director
B IFMITE S
Independent non-executive director
B IFMITE S
Independent non-executive director
B IFMITE S
Independent non-executive director
B IFMITE S
Independent non-executive director
B IFMITE S
Independent non-executive director
B IFMITE S

Independent non-executive director

The discloseable interest of Mr CHENG in the Shares and underlying Shares
under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO is set out in the section headed
"Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company and its Associated
Corporations” under the Directors’ Report of this report.
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Professor WU Si Zong (R 5R), aged 71
Independent non-executive Director

Professor WU was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on
30 November 2010. Since 1997 and until now, he is a professor, a doctoral
tutor, at [A% X2 (Tongji University), where he had been the secretary of the
Party Committee and the vice dean of the Economic and Management School.
Professor WU is the vice chairman of L/ 1 1% 2 & (Shanghai Marketing
Society) and the standing director of F Bl 1% 2 & (China Marketing Society).
Professor WU lectures in economics and international trade. His main research
fields are business management, marketing and international trade. From
1994 to 1997, he was the Head of Affairs Committee of the International
Trade Faculty at Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics (T 78 B A% K £2).
From 2001 to 2008, Professor WU published several theses and was involved
in various research projects in his fields of expertise. He also published many
books in marketing, commerce and trade from 2000 to 2007. Professor WU
received his Bachelor’s degree in Economics from (Jiangxi University of Finance
and Economics) JT 78 Bf £ K 2 in 1982. In 1995, he received his master’s
degree in economics at Shanghai University of Finance and Economics (_E &
B 48 K E2). Professor WU does not have any relationship with any Directors,
senior management, substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders of the
Company.

The discloseable interest of Professor WU in the Shares and underlying Shares
under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO is set out in the section headed
“Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company and its Associated
Corporations” under the Directors’ Report of this report.

Mr CHAN Yee Herman (B ), aged 68
Independent non-executive Director

Mr CHAN was appointed as an independent non-executive Director, the
chairperson of the Corporate Governance Committee and a member of
the Audit Committee of the Company on 2 January 2018. He is currently a
consultant of Y.T. Chan & Co., a law firm. Mr CHAN has more than 10 years of
experience in the legal sector. He was admitted as a solicitor of the High Court
in Hong Kong in May 2011. Prior to his legal career, he was a superintendent
in the Hong Kong Police Force and had served the public for over 38 years.
Mr CHAN obtained his bachelor of laws (LLB) degree from the University of
London in 2003 and a postgraduate certificate in laws from City University of
Hong Kong in 2005. Mr CHAN was a non-executive director of Infinity Financial
Group (Holdings) Limited (Stock Code: 1152) from July 2013 to June 2017.

Mr CHAN does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior
management, substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders of the
Company.

Mr CHAN does not have any interests in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations under the
provisions of Part XV of the SFO.
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Mr LI Guohua (Z Bl ), aged 49
Vice President

Mr LI joined the Group on 26 December 2009, and is currently the executive
vice president of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, he had held senior
management positions in a number of companies, including the general
manager at the Baolong Group (Qingdao) Commercial Properties Company
(BEEESESEREWERT). Mr L has engaged in real estate industry for
over 23 years and gained extensive experiences in practical management. Mr
LI obtained a degree specialized in radio communication from the South China
University of Technology in 1996, and completed the Private Equity Investment
and Corporate Listing Programme (L5 R E1% & B> % T HHE ) at the
HSBC Business School, Peking University in 2020. He is now attending the
Advanced Strategy Programme for the New Practical Real Estate (¥TE A S
E SRR HHEIL) at the Tsinghua Shenzhen International Graduate School.
Mr LI does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior management,
substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders of the Company.

Mr LI Shouwen (Z==758), aged 46
Vice President

Mr LI joined the Group in August 2018 and currently acts as the vice president
of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, he held various senior management
positions in several companies, including the general manager of business
development department of China Travel International Investment Hong Kong
Limited, the regional general manager of Kaisa Group Holdings Limited, the
general manager of Vanke Projects. Mr LI has over 23 years of outstanding
experience in real estates as well as cultural tourism projects. He has a thorough
understanding of the entire operation of real estate development and project
management and control of investment. He has extensive expertise and
practical management experience, as well as practical experience in cultural
tourism scenic area projects. Mr LI obtained a bachelor’s degree in industrial
and civil architecture from Xi‘an University of Architecture and Technology in
1998 and got the graduate degree in industrial and economic studies from the
Central University of Finance and Economics in December 2018. Mr LI does
not have any relationship with any directors, senior management, substantial
shareholder or controlling shareholder of the Company.
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Mr WONG Tak Chun (EZ &), aged 41
Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary

Mr WONG was appointed as chief financial officer of the Company on 9
January 2018. He joined the Group as the Company Secretary in February
2017. Mr WONG is a certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, and a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute and the Chartered Governance Institute.
He obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics from the University of British
Columbia in 2005, and a master’s degree in corporate governance from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2014.

Mr WONG has more than 18 years of experience in accounting, corporate
governance, corporate finance, capital markets, and investor relations. He
worked as an assistant manager in KPMG from August 2005 to May 2010.
From May 2010 to June 2013, he served as a company secretary and finance
manager of Central China Real Estate Limited (Stock Code: 0832). He served
as the deputy chief financial officer since February 2014 and the company
secretary since April 2014 of Modern Land (China) Co., Limited (Stock Code:
1107) until January 2016. He served as the company secretary and the chief
financial officer of Helidongsheng International Logistic Company Limited*
(RS2 R FHEE R ¥ m EE 2 B BR A A1) in Hunan, the PRC, from March 2016
to February 2017. Mr WONG has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Dadi Education Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8417) since
17 January 2017.

Mr WONG does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior
management, substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders of the
Company.

*for identification only
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The Directors are pleased to present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group is a
real estate property developer in the PRC and is specialised in the development
and operation of urban mixed-use communities, and the development and sale
of residential properties in the Greater Bay Area, the Yangtze River Delta, the
Beijing-Tianjin and the Chengdu-Chongqing regions in the PRC. Details of the
principal activities of the subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note 14 to
the financial statements. There were no significant changes in the nature of the
Group’s principal activities during the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A fair review of the business of the Group and a discussion and analysis of the
Group's performance during the year and the material factors underlying its
results and financial position as required under Schedule 5 to the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) are included in the
sections of Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis
of this report, respectively. The future development of the Group’s business is
discussed in the section of the Chairman’s Statement of this report. In addition,
further details regarding the Group’s principal risks and uncertainties are
included in the section of the Corporate Governance Report of this report. The
sections of the Chairman’s Statement, the Management Discussion and Analysis
and the Corporate Governance Report form part of this report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK1 cent
per Share attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company and the
holders of PCSs for the year ended 31 December 2022 (for the year ended 31
December 2021: HK1 cent) to the shareholders and the holders of PCSs whose
names appear on the register of members or the register of holders of PCSs of
the Company on Thursday, 1 June 2023. Upon approval by the shareholders of
the Company at the AGM, it is expected that the final dividend will be payable
on Thursday, 15 June 2023.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS AND
REGISTER OF HOLDERS OF THE PCSs

For the purposes of determining the eligibility of the shareholders to attend
and vote at the AGM and their entitlements to the proposed final dividend, the
register of members and the register of holders of the PCSs of the Company
will be closed as set out below:

(i)

For determining the eligibility of the shareholders of the Company to
attend and vote at the AGM or any adjournment of such meeting:

The register of members and the register of holders of the PCSs of the
Company will be closed from Thursday, 18 May 2023 to Tuesday, 23 May
2023 (both days inclusive), during such period no transfer of the Shares
and PCSs will be effected.

In order to qualify for attending and voting at the AGM or any
adjournment of such meeting, (a) in the case of the Shares, all transfers of
Shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong (the “Hong Kong
Share Registrar”), Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level 17, Far East
Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong by no later than 4:30 p.m.
on Wednesday, 17 May 2023; and (b) in the case of the PCSs, the notice
of conversion in prescribed form, together with the relevant certificate of
the PCSs and confirmation that any amounts required to be paid by the
holder of the PCSs have been so paid, must be duly completed, executed
and deposited with the Company at Rooms 04-08, 26th Floor, Shui On
Centre, 6-8 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m.
on Wednesday, 10 May 2023.

The record date for such purposes is Tuesday, 23 May 2023.
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(i) For determining the entitlement of the shareholders and the holders of
PCSs to the proposed final dividend:

The register of members and the register of holders of the PCSs of the
Company will be closed from Tuesday, 30 May 2023 to Thursday, 1 June
2023 (both days inclusive), during which period no transfer of the Shares
and PCSs will be effected.

In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, (a) in the case of
the Shares, all transfers of Shares accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Hong Kong Share Registrar at Level
17, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong by no later
than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 29 May 2023; and (b) in the case of the PCSs,
all transfers of the PCSs accompanied by the relevant certificate of the
PCSs must be lodged with the Company at Rooms 04-08, 26th Floor,
Shui On Centre, 6-8 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than
4:30 p.m. on Monday, 22 May 2023.

The record date for such purposes is Thursday, 1 June 2023.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on pages 277 to 280 of this report. This
summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT
PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property and equipment and investment properties
of the Group during the year are set out in note 12 to the financial statements,
respectively. Further details of the Group’s major investment properties are set
out in the section of Management Discussion and Analysis of this report.

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE

Details of the properties under development for sale of the Group during the
year are set out in note 18 to the financial statements. Further details of the
Group's major properties under development for sale are set out in the section
of Management Discussion and Analysis of this report.
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COMPLETED PROPERTIES FOR SALE

Details of the completed properties for sale of the Group during the year are set
out in note 18 to the financial statements. Further details of the Group’s major
completed properties held for sale are set out in the section of Management
Discussion and Analysis of this report.

LEASEHOLD LAND HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT FOR
SALE

Details of the leasehold land held for development for sale of the Group during
the year are set out in note 18 to the financial statements. Further details of the
Group’s major leasehold properties held for development for sale are set out in
the section of Management Discussion and Analysis of this report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year are set
out in note 28 to the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association
or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
December 2022.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the
year are set out in note 28 to the financial statements and in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, the aggregate amount of the Company’s reserves
available for distribution to equity shareholders and the holders of PCSs of
the Company, as calculated in accordance with the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands and the Articles of Association, was HK$4,941,556,000 (2021:
HK$4,851,298,000). Under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, the share premium of the
Company is available for paying distributions or dividends to Shareholders and
holders of PCSs subject to the provisions of the Articles of Association and
provided that immediately following the distribution of dividend the Company
is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business. In
accordance with the Articles of Association, dividends shall be distributed out of
the retained profits or other reserves, including share premium and contributed
surplus, of the Company.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2022
are set out in note 23 to the financial statements.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS (“KPI”)

(a) Pre-sales
o Definition and calculation: Pre-sales measures the sale performance
of the Group’s properties and car park units by multiplying the pre-
sold GFA with the pre-sales ASP.

o Purpose: The Group monitors its product mix to be launched for sale
on the basis of the pre-sold GFA and the pre-sales ASP. The pre-
sold GFA and the pre-sales ASP provide direction for the Group to
determine its sale strategies in the forthcoming year. The extent to
which this objective has been achieved is assessed by comparing the
Group’s actual pre-sales to the pre-sales target, as it is an indicator
showing the Group’s achievement in its sales planning.

o Quantified KPI data: The pre-sales, pre-sold GFA and pre-sales ASP
was approximately HK$703.0 million, 7,877 sq.m. and HK$84,207.2
per sg.m., respectively, for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021:
approximately HK$1,709.6 million, 25,527 sq.m. and HK$66,644.7
per sg.m.).
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(b) Gross profit margin

Definition and calculation: Gross profit margin measures the
profitability that the Group generates from its revenue by comparing
the revenue net of direct costs as a percentage of the revenue. It
indicates the financial success and viability of the Group’s principal
business.

Purpose: The Group aims to enhance its gross profit margin. The
extent to which this objective has been achieved is assessed by
comparing the Group’s gross profit margin from one year to the
next, as it is an indicator showing the Group's profitability.

Quantified KPI data: The gross profit margin was approximately
16.2% for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: approximately
50.1%).

(c) Profit for the year

Definition and calculation: Net profit measures the revenue derived
from the Group’s business, less all expenses and taxes. It indicates
the Group’s earnings from its business operations and other related
activities.

Purpose: The Group emphasises cost control. The net profit provides
direction for a better control and utilisation of expenses. The extent
to which this objective has been achieved is assessed by comparing
the Group’s net profit from one year to the next, as it is an indicator
showing the Group’s earnings from its business operations and other
related activities.

Quantified KPI data: The net loss was approximately HK$183.6
million for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: net profit
approximately HK$46.7 million).
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(d) Net gearing ratio
e Definition and calculation: Net gearing ratio measures the financial
leverage of the Group by comparing the total borrowings net of
cash and cash equivalents, and restricted and pledged deposits as a
percentage of total equity. It indicates the proportion of equity and
debt the Group has been using to finance its assets.

o Purpose: The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of a
net gearing ratio. The net gearing ratio provides direction for the
Group to optimise its financing and business development activities.
The extent to which this objective has been achieved is assessed by
comparing the Group’s net gearing ratio from one year to the next,
as it is an indicator showing the Group’s level of leverage.

e Quantified KPI data: The net gearing ratio was approximately 54.7%
as at 31 December 2022 (2021: 59.8%).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
approximately HK$1,463,000 (2021: HK$912,000).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, sales to the Group's five largest
customers accounted for approximately 11.6% of the Group’s revenue for the
year and sales to the largest customer amounted to approximately 6.6% of the
Group’s revenue for the year.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, purchases from the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 7.9% of the Group’s purchases for the
year and purchases from the largest supplier amounted to approximately 4.0%
of the Group’s purchases for the year.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any Shareholders (which,
to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any interest in any of the five largest customers and
suppliers of the Group.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Variation of Terms to Secured Facility Agreement

On 26 October 2018, Metro Property (BVI) Limited (“Metro Property”) and
Lee Kim Tah Holdings Limited (the “Lender(s)”), Top Spring International
(BVI) Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) (the “Borrower”),
Metro-LKT (BVI) Limited (“Metro-LKT") (as the security agent and the
facility agent) and the Company (as the guarantor) entered into a secured
facility agreement (the “Secured Facility Agreement”), pursuant to which,
among other things, the Lenders agreed to provide the Borrower with the
loan (the “Loan”) in an aggregate sum of US$120,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$938,400,000) for 24 months from 27 November 2018 (the “Utilisation
Date"”) with an option of 12-month extension at the Borrower’s request subject
to additional terms and conditions specified in the Secured Facility Agreement.

On 23 November 2020, the parties entered into the supplemental agreement
to the Secured Facility Agreement (the “First Supplemental Agreement”)
whereby the term of the Loan was extended for two years and the interest rate
of the Loan for the extended term was lowered.

On 11 October 2022, the parties entered into the second supplemental
agreement to the Secured Facility Agreement (the “Second Supplemental
Agreement”, together with the First Supplemental Agreement, the
“Supplemental Agreements”) whereby the parties agreed to make further
variations to the terms of the Secured Facility Agreement (as amended and
supplemented by the First Supplemental Agreement) (the “Further Variations
of Terms"”). The Further Variations of Terms include (i) LKT will cease to be a
Lender and a party to the Secured Facility Agreement; and (i) the term of the
Loan will be extended for an additional two years and the outstanding Loan
and all accrued and unpaid interest and all other sums payable shall be repaid
on the date failing 48 months from the Utilisation Date, or if the term of the
Loan is extended at the Borrower’s request, on the date failing 72 months from
the Utilisation Date.

The payment obligations of the Borrower under the Secured Facility Agreement
(as amended and supplemented by the Supplemental Agreements) has been
secured by the share charges and the shareholder’s loans assignment given by
the Borrower in favour of Metro-LKT as the security agent.
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Each of Metro Property and Metro-LKT is a subsidiary of Metro Holdings
Limited which is a substantial Shareholder, and is therefore an associate of
Metro Holdings Limited and a connected person of the Company. At the time
of the entering into of each of the Secured Facility Agreement and the First
Supplemental Agreement, as one or more of the applicable percentage ratios
in relation to the Loan exceeded 5%, the entering into of each of the Secured
Facility Agreement and the First Supplemental Agreement constituted a
connected transaction of the Company subject to the reporting, announcement
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules, and were approved by the then independent Shareholders
at the extraordinary general meetings of the Company held on 16 November
2018 and 29 December 2020 in accordance with the relevant Listing Rules
requirements.

The Further Variations of Terms contemplated under the Second Supplemental
Agreement constituted material variation to the terms of the Secured Facility
Agreement (as amended and supplemented by the First Supplemental
Agreement). According to the note to Rule 14A.35 of the Listing Rules, the
Company is required to announce this fact and re-comply with all other
applicable provisions under the Listing Rules. In this regard, the Company
issued the announcement on 11 October 2022 and obtained independent
Shareholders’ approval at the extraordinary general meeting held on 16
November 2022.

For further details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 11
October 2022 and circular of the Company dated 1 November 2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, save as disclosed above and/or
elsewhere in this report, the Group did not enter into any transactions which
constituted connected transaction or continuing connected transaction under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and for which the Company was required to
comply with any of the reporting, announcement or independent shareholders’
approval requirements under the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

BERH
Date of
resignation

Z{ERH
Date of

appointment

HTES Executive Directors
BRERE Mr WONG Chun Hong —ZETAFNA i@ A
(EEFITHAEE) (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)  —+HH N/A
25 August 2009
MERZ L Ms LAM Mei Ka, Shirley —T-NF=ZA—B TEA
1 March 2018 N/A
RImih Mr LIANG Rui Chi —“T-AFENARBE —ZE-—_FNAMNA
5 August 2019 4 August 2022
BRIREE Mr WONG Sze Yuen ZEZZFNAMAB TEA
4 August 2022 N/A
FHITES Non-executive Directors
BRI EE Mr YIP Hoong Mun —ET—tFNA—HB TEA
1 September 2017 N/A
BRog s A4 Mr KUI Qiang —T-NE+-AXAB TEA
6 December 2019 N/A
BUFHTES Independent non-executive Directors
BRGNS A Mr CHENG Yuk Wo —E-ZF+—A i A
=+H N/A
30 November 2010
RN R Professor WU Si Zong —T—TF+—A i@ A
=+H N/A
30 November 2010
PR {2 5 A Mr CHAN Yee Herman —“T-N\E—A-H T@EHA
2 January 2018 N/A

BIEBEZER@AUFEMMNG REERRBF K
gL BN HNEST(MARLIE=N
Fg AREEBEAERIR =028 AZ)
BWmERT BEREFBEELE-FRRER
FRAEHFET—X BFEINEEAB L
RERETREZANRTHERENES  WE
ZEENRAERET  BBABMESRE
BRTENES BRIEBZTSBIHBE) o o - R
BERMAESR)G REREFERKE
REATAESEEETSTmMESRIR
EARRE T —ERRAFASAFE - BT
EEET - RIBERMAIF833) 1K &5 84(1)
& BERLE BHFNLE  SNFRHER
PRIZEERABRAFASRERFTAERL
B B 8T -

In accordance with Article 84(1) of the Articles of Association, at each annual
general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-
third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three
years. The Directors to retire in every year will be those who have been longest
in office since their last re-election or appointment but as between persons
who became or were last re-elected Directors on the same day those to retire
will (unless they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot.
Also, pursuant to Article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, a Director who is
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition
to the existing Board shall hold office until the next annual general meeting
of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election. By virtue of Articles
83(3) and 84(1) of the Articles of Association, Mr WONG Sze Yuen, Mr CHENG
Yuk Wo, Professor WU Si Zong and Mr CHAN Yee Herman will retire from
office and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.
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Each of Mr CHENG Yuk Wo and Professor WU Si Zong has served the Company
for more than nine years. As an independent non-executive Director with
extensive experience and knowledge and in-depth understanding of the
Company’s operations and business, each of Mr CHENG Yuk Wo and Professor
WU Si Zong has expressed objective views and given independent guidance to
the Company over the past years. The Board considered that their long service
would not affect their exercise of independent judgment and was satisfied that
they have the required integrity and experience to continue fulfilling the role
of independent non-executive Directors and considered both of them to be
independent.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Company considers that, as at the date of this report, all
of the independent non-executive Directors are independent.

DIRECTORS" AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group
are set out in the section of Biography of Directors and Senior Management in
this report.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS

Upon specific enquiry by the Company and based on the confirmations from
the Directors, there has been no change in the information of the Directors
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B of the Listing Rules since the
Company’s last published annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the AGM has a service contract or
appointment letter (as the case may be) which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general meetings.
Other emoluments are determined by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer
and reviewed by the Remuneration Committee with reference to salaries
paid by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the
Directors, performance and contributions of the Directors and also the change
in market conditions.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT

Save as disclosed in note 32 to the financial statements, there is no transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance subsisting during or at the end of the
financial year under review in which a Director or an entity connected with a
Director is or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly.

REMUNERATION FOR SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The emoluments of the senior management of the Group by bands are as
follows:

A

Number of individuals

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 1

EERFRTRAEBREADAR
HEBZENRG HEROK
ESNEERAR

R-TE-—HE+-A=+—H ARFTEER
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BEHERERNRIEBEESFRBAEKROIEXVIE
TR8NWAMEARRNA KRB (BIEFER
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND
ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executives of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares
or debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (i) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) which were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO to be entered in the register referred to
therein; or (iii) which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code contained in the Listing Rules,
were as follows:
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RAERXBRGREBRGNETR Long positions in Shares and underlying Shares of the
Company

BAEXA
EERS FRBRE TRKES FERGR HERTRE
ERER #E (R #E (f) 8 (1) EYSEE BOEDL
Total number
Number of ~ Number of Share Number of of Shares and Approximate
Shares held options held PCSs held underlying percentage of

Name of Director Type of interest (Shares) (Shares) (Shares) Shares held issued Shares
(FisE1)
(Note 1)

EREEE(EEED (H:2) XREEER 148,500 - - 148,500 17 (L) 0.01
Mr WONG Chun Hong Interest in a controlled 148,500 Shares (L)
(“Mr WONG") (Note 2) corporation
EREEIZA 417,593,500 - 116,552,800 534,146,300 B (7 (L) 37.81
Settlor of a trust 534,146,300 Shares (L)
ERBAA 5,083,200 - - 5,083,200 %% (L) 0.46
Beneficial owner 5,083,200 Shares (L)
BEMEE(BEE]) (5E3) EalEBA - 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 & (L) 0.10
Mr CHENG Yuk Wo Beneficial owner 1,000,000 Shares (L)

("Mr CHENG") (Note 3)

RMRHR ([RAR]) (Hik4) BREEA - 400,000 - 400,000 &R 13 (L) 0.03
Professor WU Si Zong Beneficial owner 400,000 Shares (L)
("Professor WU") (Note 4)

B3 Notes:
(1) TLIHEEERROHIBEROBIETE (1) The letter “L" denotes the Director’s long position in the Shares or underlying Shares.

(2)  KangJun Limited ([Kang Jun]) BE e 42 &#A ©  (2)  Kang Jun Limited (“Kang Jun”) is wholly-owned by Mr WONG. By virtue of the SFO, Mr

BIEFESFRBEGKY - EEERERRM BAKang WONG is deemed to be interested in 148,500 Shares held by Kang Jun. Chance Again
Jun¥5 75 8 148,500 % ik 19 7 # B # 25 ° Chance is wholly-owned by BVI Co. The entire issued share capital of BVI Co is wholly-owned by
AgainHBVI Co2 B #H - BVI CoM 2 EE EITIR HSBC International Trustee as the trustee of the Wong's Family Trust and the beneficiaries
R ELBEBRERIEAERREEIZTIAR of which include Mr Wong’s family members. Mr WONG is the settlor and the protector
BHER HEXmAREREENRERE - &% of the Wong’s Family Trust. By virtue of the SFO, Mr WONG is deemed to be interested in
HRERREETNAIZARREA - RIBEFH 417,593,500 Shares held by Chance Again and 116,552,800 underlying Shares in relation
K EAE D] - B S E AR B Chance Again i B to the PCSs held by Chance Again. And Mr WONG beneficially owned 5,083,200 Shares.

417,593,500 X & 1 K 5 Chance Again % A £k
AR AR B A A B89 116,552,800 % 48 B8 A% 17 7
AR - HAAINE RS 5,083,200 A ©
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(3)  Mr CHENG s long position in the underlying Shares comprises (i) 420,000 options granted
to him by the Company under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (Lot 1) and (i) 1,000,000
options granted to him by the Company under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (Lot
3). These share options, all of which remained exercisable as at 31 December 2022, were
exercisable as to 1,000,000 Share options (Lot 3) at the subscription price of HK$3.3 per
Share during the period from 28 April 2016 to 27 April 2025.

(4)  Professor WU's long position in the underlying Shares comprises 400,000 options by the
Company under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (Lot 3). The share options, which
remained exercisable as at 31 December 2022, were exercisable as to 400,000 Share
options (Lot 3) at the subscription price of HK$3.3 per Share during the period from 28
April 2016 to 27 April 2025.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors or the
chief executives of the Company had or was deemed to have any interests or
short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were required (i) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions in which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), or (ii) which were required, pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (iii) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the year were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the
Company granted to any of the Directors or their respective spouses or minor
children, or were any such rights exercised by them; nor was the Company,
its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors or their respective spouses or minor
children to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING BUSINESS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, none of the Directors are considered
to have interests in a business which competes or is likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group, as defined in the Listing
Rules.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provide that the Directors are entitled to be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they
shall or may incur or sustain in or about the execution of the duties of their
office or otherwise in relation thereto, provided that this indemnity shall not
extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to
any of the Directors.

The Company has purchased and maintained Directors’ liability insurance
during the year under review and as at the date of this report, which provides
appropriate cover for the Directors.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of the equity-linked agreements entered into during the year or
subsisting at the end of the year are set out below:

Share Option Schemes

Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme on 28 February 2011
for the purpose of recognizing and acknowledging contributions that eligible
employees have made or may make to the Group. On 26 June 2012, 20 June
2013, 28 April 2015, 8 September 2015, 23 October 2015 and 5 December
2016, the Group granted 15,720,000 share options (Lot 1), 14,000,000 share
options (Lot 2), 82,650,000 share options (Lot 3), 3,000,000 share options
(Lot 4), 10,000,000 share options (Lot 5) and 31,000,000 share options (Lot
6) respectively, under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme at the exercise prices
of HK$2.264 per Share (adjusted), HK$4.14 per Share, HK$3.3 per Share,
HK$3.65 per Share, HK$3.45 per Share and HK$2.796 per Share respectively,
to certain Directors, senior management and selected employees of the Group.
The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme was terminated on 8 June 2022. While no
new share option can be granted, all outstanding share options granted shall
continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with the rules of the Post-
IPO Share Option Scheme. Subject to certain restrictions contained in the Post-
IPO Share Option Scheme, an option may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and the terms of grant thereof at
any time during the applicable option period, which is not more than 10 years
from the date of grant of the relevant share option. All the outstanding share
options have been vested and may be exercised by the grantees prior to the
respective expiry dates thereof.
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Movement of the outstanding share options under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2022 is as follows:

R®
R® —E-CF
—E=-C 2R 27 B BAX t+=A
=JE=[E B B BRE B ==
THE As at Share Share Share Share As at
Exercise 1 January options options options options 31 December
Price 2022 granted exercised cancelled lapsed 2022

BT

HK$

per Share

BRAREER  Post-PO
£t Lot 1 2.264 3,396,000 - - - 3,396,000 -
Ebii Lot 2 4.14 4,146,000 - - - 196,000 3,950,000
=t Lot 3 3.3 31,218,000 - - - 2,500,000 28,718,000
o uskiid Lot 4 3.65 220,000 - - - - 220,000
EH Lot 5 345 10,000,000 - - - - 10,000,000
Epaeii Lot 6 2.796 20,000,000 - - - 5,000,000 15,000,000
Mt Total 68,980,000 - - - 11,092,000 57,888,000
R-TBE-—F—H—HA#/3,396,0001 4477 Out of the 3,396,000 outstanding Lot 1 share options as at 1 January 2022,

55— HLEMEF - 1,400,000 B & k£
£+ 420,00017 REFSE A E KT 1,576,000
DHRAEEEERE REEZT_—_F1+=
A=+—HLEFE EEEHEHE 21,400,000
e — BB - B0t A 455 2 420,000 5
—HERELANEEESRF A 21,576,000
E—MERECKRR -Bt  R=F
F+ZA=+—8  WEEKRITEE R -

RZZE-_—_F—F—HZF1E4,146,00017 i&
RITEE_HERERAIEBEEERE - RE

E-E-F+-A=t+—HILFE KAEH

B#H 2 2%6196,00017 F —HHEED %k
MAWERE  TEREHEE _HERE R
I RZEZ=ZF+=A=+—H " 3,950,000
MERITEE_HEREEIHNEEEESR

o

1,400,000 of which were held by Mr. WONG, 420,000 of which were held
by Mr. CHENG while the remaining 1,576,000 were held by employees of
the Group. During the year ended 31 December 2022, 1,400,000 Lot 1 share
options held by Mr. WONG, 420,000 Lot 1 share options held by Mr. CHENG
and 1,576,000 Lot 1 share options held by employees of the Group lapsed.
Therefore, as at 31 December 2022, there was no outstanding Lot 1 share
option.

All 4,146,000 outstanding Lot 2 share options as at 1 January 2022 were
held by employees of the Group. During the year ended 31 December 2022,
196,000 Lot 2 share options all held by employees of the Group lapsed and
no Lot 2 share option was granted, exercised or cancelled. Therefore, as at 31
December 2022, there were 3,950,000 outstanding Lot 2 share options all held
by employees of the Group.
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Out of the 31,218,000 outstanding Lot 3 share options as at 1 January 2022,
1,000,000 of which were held by Mr. CHENG, 400,000 of which were held
by Professor WU while the remaining 29,818,000 were held by employees of
the Group. During the year ended 31 December 2022, 2,500,000 Lot 3 share
options held by employees of the Group lapsed and no Lot 3 share option was
granted, exercised or cancelled. Therefore, as at 31 December 2022, there were
28,718,000 outstanding Lot 3 share options, out of which 1,000,000 were
held by Mr. CHENG, 400,000 of which were held by Professor WU while the
remaining 27,318,000 were held by employees of the Group.

All 220,000 outstanding Lot 4 share options as at 1 January 2022 were held by
employees of the Group. During the year ended 31 December 2022, no Lot 4
share option was granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed. Therefore, as at 31
December 2022, there were 220,000 outstanding Lot 4 share options all held
by employees of the Group.

All 10,000,000 outstanding Lot 5 share options as at 1 January 2022 were held
by employees of the Group. During the year ended 31 December 2022, no Lot
5 share option was granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed. Therefore, as at 31
December 2022, there were 10,000,000 outstanding Lot 5 share options all
held by employees of the Group.

All 20,000,000 outstanding Lot 6 share options as at 1 January 2022 were
held by employees of the Group. During the year ended 31 December 2022,
5,000,000 Lot 6 share options all held by employees of the Group lapsed and
no Lot 6 share option was granted, exercised or cancelled. Therefore, as at 31
December 2022, there were 15,000,000 outstanding Lot 6 share options all
held by employees of the Group.

New Share Option Scheme

The New Share Option Scheme was adopted pursuant to an ordinary resolution
at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 8 June 2022 for the
purpose of (i) motivating the eligible participants to optimize their future
performance and efficiency for the benefit of the Group; (ii)attracting and
retaining talents or otherwise maintaining ongoing business relationship with
the eligible participants whose contributions are expected to be beneficial to
the Group; and (iii) recognizing and acknowledging the past contributions that
the eligible participants have made to the Group.
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The Board may at its absolute discretion grant share options under the New
Share Option Scheme to any director, employee, officer and/or consultant of
the Group. The Board may in its sole and absolute discretion select and subject
to such conditions (including, without limitation, any minimum period for which
a share option must be held before it can be wholly or partly exercised and/or
any performance targets which must be achieved before a share option can be
wholly or partly exercised) as it may think fit. The exercise period shall not be
more than 10 years.

The total number of Shares in respect of which share options may be granted
under the New Option Scheme is not permitted to exceed 141,273,244 Shares,
representing approximately 10% of the total number of issued Shares as at the
date of this report. The number of share options available for grant under the
New Option Scheme was 141,273,244 as at the date of its adoption on 8 June
2022 and the end of the financial year ended 31 December 2022, representing
approximately 100% of the total number of the issued Shares as at the date of
this report. As at 31 December 2022, the total number of Shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding share options granted under the 2018
Option Scheme is 0, representing approximately 0% of the total number of the
issued Shares as at the date of this report.

Without prior approval from the Shareholders, the number of Shares in respect
of which share options were granted and may be granted to any individual in
any 12-month period is not permitted to exceed 1% of the Shares in issue. For
any grant of share options to a substantial Shareholder or an independent non-
executive Director, or any of their respective associates, the Shares issued and
to be issued upon exercise of all options already granted and to be granted
(including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person within
any 12-month period shall not exceed 0.1% of the issued Shares in aggregate
and be with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the Shares at
the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million unless with the approval of the
Shareholders.

A consideration of HK$1.00 is payable by each grantee accepting the grant of
share options. Share options are exercisable at a price that is determined by the
Board, which will not be less than the higher of the closing price of the Shares
on the date of grant, and the average closing prices of the Shares for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant.

While the New Share Option Scheme will expire on 23 May 2032, the Company
may terminate the New Share Option Scheme by way of ordinary resolution in
general meeting of resolution in Board meeting.

No share option under the New Share Option Scheme was granted by the
Company from the effective date of 8 June 2022 to the date of this report.

Further details of the share option schemes of the Company are set out in note
27 to the financial statements.
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PERPETUAL SUBORDINATED CONVERTIBLE
SECURITIES (“PCSs")

Details of the deed poll in relation to the bonus issue of the PCSs subsisting at
the financial year ended 31 December 2022 are set out below:

On 20 June 2013, the Company executed the deed poll in relation to the
bonus issue of HK$25,092,080 PCSs. The bonus PCSs will be irredeemable
but will have conversion rights entitling the bonus PCS holders to convert into
an aggregate of 250,920,800 Shares (subject to adjustment). The conditions
precedent of the bonus issue of the PCSs are set out on page 9 of the
Company’s announcement dated 27 March 2013. All the conditions precedent
of the issue of the PCSs had been fulfilled on 20 June 2013. As at the latest
practicable date prior to the issue of this report, HK$13,436,800 PCSs had
been converted into 134,368,000 Shares, and there were HK$11,655,280
outstanding PCSs which can be convertible into 116,552,800 Shares (subject to
adjustment). For details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 27
March 2013.

The Directors considered that the bonus issue of the PCSs was a feasible and
practical solution to restore the minimum public float of the Shares.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance had been entered into between the Company or
any of its subsidiaries and the controlling shareholder of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries during the year under review.

There is no contract of significance for the provision of services to the Company
or any of its subsidiaries by the controlling shareholder of the Company or any
of its subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the management
and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries were entered into or existed during the year
under review.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
IN SHARES OR UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2022, so far as is known to any Director or the chief
executive officer of the Company, the following persons (other than a Director
or the chief executive officer of the Company) had interests or short positions
in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO or
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or, who was, directly or indirectly,
interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital
carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at the general meetings of any other
members of the Group:

Chance Again (F3£2)
Chance Again (Note 2)

BVI Co (Fizt2)
BVI Co (Note 2)

ELEREE(FE2)
HSBC International Trustee (Note 2)

BYELT((Bat]) (HE2k3)
Ms LIU Choi Lin (“Ms LIU") (Notes 2 & 3)

FE (Miit4)
Caiyun (Note 4)

ZHRIRED (Hi4)
YHCT (Note 4)

Crown Investments Limited
(TCrown Investments ) (Fi55)

Crown Investments Limited
("Crown Investments”) (Note 5)

Metro Holdings Limited (Metro ) (fi35)
Metro Holdings Limited (“Metro”) (Note 5)

ONG Jenn %4 (fizt6)
Mr ONG Jenn (Note 6)

ONG Sek Hian %54 (Fif3E6)
Mr ONG Sek Hian (Note 6)

BEXA
BERG ERRRE TRRES BERGBR EERTRH
#A #A %A HERAAH HEAE DL
Total number
of Shares and Approximate
Number of ~ Number of Share Number of underlying percentage of
Capacity Shares held options held PCSs held Shares held issued Shares
(KzE1)
(Note 1)
(@] (@+b)+c)
(X)) (13) FR(L)
(Shares) (Shares) (Shares) Shares (L)
EnBEBA 417,593,500 - 116,552,800 534,146,300 %M (1) 37.81
Beneficial owner 534,146,300 Shares (L)
PRERER 417,593,500 - 116,552,800 534,146,300 % (1) 37.81
Interest in a controlled corporation 534,146,300 Shares (1)
(SN 417,593,500 - 116,552,800 534,146,300 (1) 37.81
Trustee of a trust 534,146,300 Shares (L)
RiEEs 422,825,200 - 116,552,800 540,778,000 (% (L) 38.28
Interest of spouse 540,778,000 Shares (L)
ERERA 400,959,840 - - 400,959,840fkRk%A (1) 2838
Beneficial owner 400,959,840 Shares (L)
FREERER 400,959,840 - - 400,959,840 (L) 28.38
Interest in a controlled corporation 400,959,840 Shares (L)
REEEER 227,970,810 - - 227,970810[kR% (1) 16.14
Interest in a controlled corporation 227,970,810 Shares (L)
FRERER 228,390,110 - - 228390,110[®%H (L 16.17
Interest in a controlled corporation 228,390,110 Shares (L)
REEEER 228,390,110 - - 228390,110fRR% () 16.17
Interest in a controlled corporation 228,390,110 Shares (L)
SEEEER 228,390,110 - - 228390110 R (L) 16.17
Interest in a controlled corporation 228,390,110 Shares (L)
ERERA 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 &R (L) 0.14
Beneficial owner 2,000,000 Shares (L)
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Crown Investments B8 Metro China Holdings Pte Ltd
2 & 4A * Metro China Holdings Pte Ltd Bl {§ Metro
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& 19 K 419,300 A% A& 17 7 ¥ 5 # 245 © L 5D - ONG
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Notes:

(N

(2)

4

(6)

Save

The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares or underlying Shares of the
Company.

Chance Again is wholly-owned by BVI Co. The entire issued share capital of BVI Co is
wholly-owned by HSBC International Trustee as the trustee of the Wong's Family Trust. Mr
WONG is the settlor and the protector of the Wong’s Family Trust. By virtue of the SFO,
Mr WONG is deemed to be interested in 417,593,500 Shares held by Chance Again and
116,552,800 underlying Shares in relation to the PCSs held by Chance Again.

Ms LIU is the spouse of Mr WONG. By virtue of the SFO, Ms LIU is deemed to be
interested in all the Shares and underlying Shares in which Mr WONG is interested.

400,959,840 Shares were held by Caiyun, which is wholly-owned by YHCT. Accordingly,
YHCT is deemed to be interested in all the Shares and the underlying Shares held by
Caiyun.

227,970,810 Shares were held by Crown Investments which was in turn wholly-owned by
Metro China Holdings Pte Ltd which was in turn wholly-owned by Metro. 419,300 Shares
were held by Meren Pte Ltd which was in turn wholly-owned by Metro. By virtue of the
SFO, Metro is deemed to be interested in 227,970,810 Shares and 419,300 Shares held
by Crown Investments and Meren Pte Ltd, respectively.

Metro’s ultimate controlling shareholders (as defined under the Listing Rules) are Mr. Ong
Jenn and Mr. Ong Sek Hian, and their aggregate direct and deemed interest in Metro is
approximately 35.398%. By virtue of the SFO, Mr ONG Jenn is deemed to be interested
in the 227,970,810 Shares and 419,300 Shares held by Crown Investments and Meren
Pte Ltd, respectively. Mr ONG Sek Hian is deemed to be interested in the 227,970,810
Shares and 419,300 Shares held by Crown Investments and Meren Pte Ltd, respectively. In
addition, Mr ONG Sek Hian beneficially owned 2,000,000 Shares.

as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, no person (other than

a Director or chief executive(s) of the Company) had any interests or short
positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of
the SFO or which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

Notes:

Certain amounts and percentage figures included in this report have been subject to
rounding adjustments. Accordingly, figures shown as total sums in certain tables may not
be an arithmetic aggregation of figures preceding them.
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COMPLIANCE OF NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS

To protect the Group from potential competition, Mr WONG entered into
a deed of non-competition (the “Deed of Non-Competition”) with the
Company pursuant to which he represents, warrants and undertakes to the
Company (for itself and for the benefit of the other members of the Group),
among other things, that other than through the Group, neither he nor any
of his associates is currently interested, involved or engaged, or is likely to be
interested, involved or engaged, directly or indirectly, in any business which
is or is about to be engaged in any business which competes or is likely to
compete directly or indirectly with the Group’s business. Details of the Deed of
Non-Competition have been set out in the paragraph headed “Non-Competition
Undertakings from Mr WONG” in the section headed “Relationship with our
Controlling Shareholders and the Scarborough Group” of the prospectus of the
Company dated 11 March 2011.

The Company has received the annual confirmation from Mr WONG in respect
of his compliance with the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition.

In order to ensure compliance by Mr WONG of the Deed of Non-Competition
and to manage any potential conflict of interests arising from the business of
the Controlling Shareholders and to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders,
the Company has adopted the following corporate governance measures (the
“Corporate Governance Measures”):

(@ the independent non-executive Directors have reviewed, on an annual
basis, the compliance with the undertakings by Mr WONG under the
Deed of Non-Competition;

(b)  Mr WONG provided all information requested by the Company which
is necessary for the annual review by the independent non-executive
Directors of his compliance with the Deed of Non-Competition such as: (i)
information on business opportunities including project names, amount
of investment and the geographical location which may be identified
by him or any of his associate(s); and (i) information on any property
developments conducted by him or any of his associate(s) during the year
or a negative confirmation, as appropriate;

(c) the Company disclosed decisions on matters reviewed by the independent
non-executive Directors relating to (where applicable) (i) compliance
and enforcement of Mr WONG's non-competition undertakings; (ii) the
exercise of the pre-emption rights where a business opportunity is referred
to the Group; and/or (iii) any decision on the enforcement of breaches of
his non-competition undertakings either through the annual reports of
the Company, or by way of announcement to the public;
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Mr WONG made an annual declaration on compliance with his
non-competition undertakings in the annual report of the Company
and ensure that the disclosure of details of his compliance with and the
enforcement of his non-competition undertakings is consistent with the
principles of disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report contained in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules;

Mr WONG abstained from voting in all meetings of the Shareholders and/
or the Board where there is any actual or potential conflicting interest;

the Board has a balanced composition of executive Directors,
non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors so
that there is a strong element on the Board that can effectively exercise
independent judgement. With expertise in different professional fields,
the Company believes that the independent non-executive Directors have
the necessary caliber and expertise to form and exercise independent
judgement in the event that conflicts of interest between the Group and
the controlling shareholders arise;

in the event that potential conflicts of interest materialise, that is,
where a Director has an interest in a company that would enter into an
agreement with the Group, the Director(s) with an interest in the relevant
transaction(s) would not be allowed to attend the relevant Board meeting,
and would be excluded from the Board deliberation and abstained from
voting and would not be counted towards quorum in respect of the
relevant resolution(s) at such Board meeting;

in the event that potential conflicts of interest materialise, the
controlling shareholders would be required to abstain from voting in
the Shareholders’ meeting of the Company with respect to the relevant
resolution(s); and

the Group is administratively independent from the controlling
shareholders as it has its own company secretary, authorised
representatives and administrative personnel.

The Directors consider that the above Corporate Governance Measures are
sufficient to manage any potential conflict of interests between the Controlling
Shareholders and their respective associates and the Group and to protect the
interests of the Shareholders, in particular, the minority Shareholders.

The Directors confirm that each of the Corporate Governance Measures has
been performed satisfactorily during the financial year ended 31 December
2022.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group has compliance policies and procedures in place to ensure adherence
to applicable laws, rules and regulations, in particular, those have a significant
impact on the Group. The Group would seek professional legal advice from
its legal advisers to ensure transactions and business to be performed by the
Group are in compliance with the applicable laws and regulations. During the
year under review, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance with any
relevant laws and regulations that had a significant impact on it.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

Acting in an environmentally responsible manner, the Group endeavours to
comply with laws and regulations regarding environmental protection and to
adopt effective measures to achieve efficient use of resources, energy saving
and waste reduction. The Group has implemented internal recycling programme
for office consumables such as toner cartridges and paper to minimise the
operational impact on the environment and natural resources.

The Group will review its environmental practices from time to time and will
implement further eco-friendly measures and practices closely enhancing
environmental sustainability.

For details, please refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report in
this report.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH THE GROUP’S EMPLOYEES

The Group believes that employees are important and valuable assets. The
Group will provide trainings for employees to enhance their knowledge in
corporate values and culture and to implement them thoroughly. Meanwhile,
the Group accelerates development of young leaders and nurtures them
in establishing study-oriented teams and keeps them abreast of updated
knowledge and timely development.

The Group also aims to provide competitive and attractive remuneration
packages to retain the employees. Management reviews annually the
remuneration package offered to employees of the Group. Meanwhile, for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contributed to the success of the Group’s operations, the Group adopted the
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and the New Share Option Scheme. Information
about these scheme is set out in the paragraph headed “Share Option
Schemes” in the Directors’ Report of this report.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH THE GROUP’S CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Group values long standing relationships with its suppliers and customers.
The Group aims at delivering high quality properties and services to its
customers and developing mutual trust and enhancing communication and
commitment between the Group and its suppliers, especially the commercial
banks and financial institutions as the Group's businesses are capital intensive
which require on-going funding to maintain sustainable growth.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this report, there are no material events affecting
the Group after the end of the reporting period.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained the prescribed public
float under the Listing Rules as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of
this report.

AUDITORS

KPMG will retire and a resolution for their re-appointment as auditors of the
Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD
TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

WONG Chun Hong
Chairman

Hong Kong
28 March 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Top Spring International Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Top Spring
International Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the
Group”) set out on pages 145 to 276, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2022 and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs ]) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”) together with any ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in the Cayman
Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 2(b) to the consolidated financial statements,
which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of HK$183.6 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022. As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s current
bank loans and other borrowings amounted to HK$2,568.8 million, while
its cash and cash equivalents amounted to HK$580.0 million. In view of the
prevailing slow-down of the property market, the Group may take longer time
than expected to realise cash from the sale of its properties to meet its loan
repayment obligations. These conditions, along with the matters as set forth
in Note 2(b) indicate that a material uncertainty exists on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this
matter.
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HRETEE KEY AUDIT MATTERS

FRETEESRERMNEEXE - RAY  Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
B AHGAVEHREARAEBMEIE %% of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
EEARMEARRGEAMEHREEMILE AR of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
ERFETRE  BMTeYZESEEEREME  audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
BER -MAFELEFEHZEXTHTAZ  opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
—ENATIL A BIESS - TAEE N XATALAEIE  In addition to the matter described in the Material uncertainty related to going
RRBEMRE T EENBERESEER concern section, we have determined the matters described below to be the
key audit matter matters to be communicated in our report.

REYENGE
Valuation of investment properties
RRiEE BRI M T 12 REEHENFE2(0)

Refer to Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies Note 2(i).
MREEtEE RANESNMOEREZEE

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

RZZEZZF+-_A=+—H  EEEFE BMRTEREVENHEETHEAEFSEATEE:

AR BE AN EESNREWEMAS A Ouraudit procedures to assess the valuation of investment properties included
{818 /48,317,900,000 7T * & 215 EEME  the following:

BEBEN3% ZSRAEAVMEETEREGE

T -TERBAME - e HSUHRABHEEREZEMNINTIYEGER RN MEERSE - &MA
As at 31 December 2022, the Group held BERERESTHREVENLAABEOKE

a portfolio of investment properties located obtaining and inspecting the valuation reports prepared by the external
in mainland China and Hong Kong with a property valuers engaged by management and on which the directors’
fair value of HK$8,317.9 million which, in assessment of the fair values of investment properties was based,;

aggregate, accounted for 38% of the Group’s

total assets. These investment properties o FHEINSEGEEMAMHEEVESIANERE  SREFEMZ - U

principally comprise residential, retail and office MEBHEEHRE M KB

premises. assessing the external property valuers’ qualifications, experience and
expertise in the properties being valued and considering their objectivity

EZREBEEERINEMEMLER DR R and independence;

BYHE FIEREVWER_Z__F+=

A=+—HMAREE-

The fair values of the investment properties as

at 31 December 2022 were assessed by the

directors based on independent valuations

prepared by a firm of qualified external

property valuers.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Refer to Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies Note 2(i).
KA BT N EEZEER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BRET R
The key audit matter
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The determination of these fair values involves
significant management judgement and
estimation, particularly in relation to selecting
the appropriate valuation methodology,
capitalisation rates, market rents and average
market price of the comparable properties.
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We identified the valuation of investment
properties as a key audit matter because of the
inherent risks involved in estimating the values
of the properties, particularly in light of the
current economic circumstances.

ERPABYEGEZRKOGREN T - BN 3 (4 B R 3 5 R S
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with the assistance of our internal property valuation specialists, discussing
with the external property valuers their valuation methodology and the
key estimates and assumptions adopted in their valuations;

PR I5 ATF 2R RSB AT AT YE TG AR e T R - DA 5 AT
MBI R ER Y EET % - WEEERRANEEMFTRERR (2
FBEREE RITTMHESRALRTISERS) IREER &

evaluating the external property valuers’ valuation methodology and
challenging the key estimates and assumptions (including capitalisation
rates, prevailing market rents and comparable market transactions)
adopted in the valuations, on a sample basis, by comparison with available
market data and/or government produced market statistics; and

NHEERAE SRERIMBYEGEMZEUNEEER (BEAE
THe RHER) EAREE K XA XL ©

comparing tenancy information, including committed rents and occupancy
rates, provided by the Group to the external property valuers with
underlying contracts and related documentation, on a sample basis.
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REEEHEBPNERE=FRENGHE
Valuation of receivables from the third parties without specified dates of settlement
REiEE BRI M L 17 REFHENT2(g)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Refer to Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies Note 2(g).
RANFT N EEZEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BMTAREEAEEHNERE=ZFRENGEETHNETEFE
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Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of receivables from the third
parties without specified dates of settlement included the following:

BB B
The key audit matter
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As at 31 December 2022, the Group had
certain receivables from the third parties
without specified dates of settlement of
HK$1,266.3 million which were classified as
financial assets measured at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVPL") in the consolidated
statement of financial position. In 2022,
the Group recognised relevant fair value
gain of HK$0.2 million, regarding the above
receivables.
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These financial assets are classified as level 3
financial instruments in the fair value hierarchy.
The valuations of these financial assets are
derived from valuation models which require a
number of inputs and assumptions which are
not observable from market data and which are
significant to the entire measurement.
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We identified the valuation of receivables from
the third parties without specified dates of
settlement as a key audit matter because of the
degree of complexity involved in valuing these
financial assets and the degree of judgement
exercised by management in determining the
inputs used in the valuation models which may
have significant impact to the financial results
of the Group.

RRTHEEEERENMGE:

obtaining and inspecting the valuation prepared by management;
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with the assistance of our internal valuation specialists, assessing the
valuation methodology adopted in the valuations with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting standards and challenging
the estimation in future cash flows and discount rates adopted in the
valuations;
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evaluating the Group’s estimated future cash flows from the debtor used
in the valuation model which include reading the terms set out in the
respective agreements and challenging management’s assumptions in
respect of the ability of the debtors to pay and timing of settlements with
reference to the debtors’ financial condition; and

2ERTETEENRE - Th BEEERGEEVEBREFEEMR
R EE@ AR RBRRAOEET M -

assessing the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements in relation to the key inputs and assumptions adopted
in the valuation with reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Refer to Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies Note 2(f).
KA BT N EEZEER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BRET R
The key audit matter

RZE-_—_F+=-_A=+—8 RKR=_Z
—“NFURBHEHEBERGEELENEER
40,700,000/8 7T °

As at 31 December 2022, goodwill arising from
the acquisition of the educated related service
in 2018 amounted to HK$40.7 million.

EREGFREAT —HAEESEHENR
cEAET((REEEER]) FROUIERR
e TR YA B E TR ER S o BER
EHEEEL2REEEZRENIIEILERMR
B EREET

Management perform annual impairment
assessment of goodwill based on discounted
cash flow forecast prepared for each cash-
generating unit (“CGU") to which goodwill
is allocated. The impairment assessment is
carried out by management with reference to a
valuation report prepared by an external valuer
appointed by management.

HEURRERERAPREEEHFLHEX
HE - FRIRERESENEBMRBIKA
BRE  FEEREREFE -

The preparation of discounted cash flow
forecasts involves the exercise of significant
management judgement, in particular in
determining the appropriate short-term and
long-term revenue growth rates, profit margin
and discount rates.

BB EEEREETHNEAEFEEATSIE
Our audit procedures to assess the impairment of goodwill included the
following:

THREEBMRETHER  2ERTSHENNEX  FHYERS
EEBUNBNEEZRCELBUNEEDE

obtaining an understanding of the management’s impairment assessment
model, evaluating the identification of the CGU and the allocation of
assets to that CGU with reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;

M ERERENINSAEMANER KB REEMH
assessing the qualifications, experience and expertise of the external
valuer appointed by management;

EEIR B AR L ET B - WEBAEZ ST RRREEL 54
BBEBRATERIAEL L HRRRSREBFAN P ARAOEEMG R
BRLHEBERABRERFNEXAEE) REEE

discussing future operating plans with management and challenging
the key estimates and assumptions adopted in the discounted cash flow
forecast, in particular in relation to revenue growth rates and profit
margin, by comparing these with historical results, economic and industry
forecasts;

HERENFRIGEMAGH 2 T E & EETERTE - RS
BTl [ & 5 E ERRAREE (L

re-performing calculations made by management in arriving at the year
end assessments of recoverable amounts and comparing the calculated
recoverable amounts to the actual carrying amounts;

BRI P FENRRRSREANEAFENE
EH - ARHEEEERAERER T SEM MR EERE
performing a retrospective review by comparing the prior year’s discounted
cash flow forecast with the current year’s results to assess the reliability
and historical accuracy of management’s forecasting process;

ETTEPIE
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ARETEE G KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

B E R
Assessment of impairment of goodwill
DR A AN T 13 REFBENT2()

Refer to Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies Note 2(f).
HREEtEE RANESNMAEREZEE

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

HRBRSELEMATRESBENFEAE L o« AERMAFREEERHH T BBERTEEMALRA R M EEF
EBEXHN YRREEEFELEAHE R HRREM R E T

et EWNERKEEERAGHRRE - with the assistance of our internal valuation specialists, evaluating the
WERMEEHEREN HBERETSE- appropriateness of the discount rates by benchmarking against other
We identified the assessment of impairment comparable companies in the same industry;

of goodwill as a key audit matter because the
assessment of the recoverable amounts of CGU o 3 F ERH (BRERBESREBHFAAMERE RAER) ETH

can be inherently subjective and requires the RIEDHT - WERHRETEEENTERERAENNRBRER
exercise of significant management judgement EBEERE: &

and estimation which increases the risk of error performing sensitivity analysis of key assumptions, including growth
or management bias. rates and discount rates applied in the discounted cash flow forecast

and considering the resulting impact on the impairment assessment and
whether there were any indicators of management bias; and

o ZERTEHENNEX AN EEENBERENGEELEENE
HERPHIREE
assessing the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements in
respect of management’s impairment assessment of goodwill with
reference to the requirements of the prevailing accounting standards.
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ERETEE®

FEEEN 2B FE
Assessment on net realisable value of inventories
RRIR A B RA N it 18 R @5 R M7 2(0)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Refer to Note18 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies Note 2(o).

BRET R
The Key Audit Matter

WN_ZT-_—_F+-_A=+—H0  E£EF
ERAME((BREPYED RGFEEERTIY
¥(e%IYE) (GBAIFED 2EEA
{84 6,990,300,000 7 7T °

As at 31 December 2022, the aggregate
carrying value of the Group’'s properties
under for development for sales (“PUD") and
completed properties for sale (“Completed
Properties”) (together “Inventories”) totalled
HK$6,990.3 million.

ZEMEETEVRURNFY  REREED
FERBEEDE -

These principally comprise residential and
commercial properties in Shenzhen, Tianjin and
Hong Kong.

FEERKAEFAZRFENBIEEIR - &
EAFEERVEREINAZRFEHREERE
FARBIN B E B EMRR 2 AERETH -
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. The calculation of
the net realisable value for each Inventories at
the financial reporting date is performed by
management or based on valuation reports
prepared by external property valuers.

BAMESNAEREZEER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BAFEEFEN A Z R FERRNETIEF B
Our audit procedures to assess the net realisable value of inventories included
the following:

e MEMEHELERZEFENTEEEE BERAMKANTEAET
B EZENERIEG 2 RE R B
assessing the design and implementation of key internal controls over the
preparation and monitoring of management budgets and forecasts of
construction and other costs for each Inventories;

e LMKRFAEFERMETEMRE WREEENRARESEF
ENERERRMRZEFESHBANEREE
conducting site visits to Inventories’ sites, on a sample basis, and
discussing with management the progress of each Inventories visited
and the development budgets reflected in the latest forecasts for these
Inventories;

o MBUMEHIIBYELEMAAGEHNHERS - MERREHIE UL
EPERERTYEREBERIYENAIEERFE
obtaining and inspecting the valuation reports prepared by the external
property valuers on which the management’s assessment on net realisable
value of PUD in mainland China and Completed Properties in Hong Kong
was based;

o TEINBMIEMERBERE 2 REEME
assessing the external property valuers’ competence, capabilities and
objectivity;
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FEFEEN 2B FE
Assessment on net realisable value of inventories
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Refer to Note18 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies Note 2(0).

BB B
The Key Audit Matter

T B e BB 3 5 M8 3% IR W 35 9 3R TR AR A
RAmEsEFENTERRRFEER  HE
FENRERFHES R BERERE 6 R fhst -
The calculation of the net realisable value of
Inventories involves significant management
judgement and estimation in preparing and
updating estimations of the costs to complete
each PUD as well as in assessing the expected
future net selling prices for each Inventories.

HRAGFEYH BSEMNEZMN  URMGFS
EFEn 2R FEMY RNESRR - &
B ENGEFEN A Z R FER BRI
EDER

We identified the assessment of net realisable
value of Inventories as a key audit matter
because of the significance of Inventories to
the Group and because of the inherent risks
involved in estimating net realisable value for
each Inventories.

BN ET NN EEZSE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

SERTETEINER  FHERERTHTEANBE R TMED

AEBRFAEMRAGETERIINBYEE BRI EPE A RS
MERBEERIYENRZRFEMRNGER EHEE T
evaluating the appropriateness of the valuation methodologies adopted
by management for assessing the net realisable value of Completed
Properties in mainland China and those adopted by external property
valuers for assessing the net realisable value of PUD in mainland China and
Completed Properties in Hong Kong with reference to the requirements of
the prevailing accounting standards;

AT SR E R AR B R st KRR AR - BIEETEF
EERAEFERREAE@E  FEARBFEBRMSAGEER &
SEARFHNHEEETEETLR - WA TERKAR BES5EK
MERTBFEREEENEESRETLER

assessing the reasonableness of the key estimates and assumptions
adopted in the valuations, on a sample basis, including those relating to
average net selling prices and estimated construction cost, by comparing
net selling prices with market available data and the sales budget plans
maintained by the Group, and comparing estimated construction cost
with the Group’s latest development budget and signed construction
contracts;

EEREEFEN AT EINTEAEENZ AT ETLER I
BEE-T __¢+ R=+—HELNREAE T - —F+_-f
=T -HNEEETHR  UHMEEREERAREE BIZMERML
&

comparing the estimated construction costs to complete each Inventories
with the Group’s latest budgets and comparing the costs incurred to 31
December 2022 with budgets as at 31 December 2021 to assess the
accuracy of management's forecasting and budgeting process; and

REEREETHEREST - URTEBR MG RRREBFLESH
ROERENE M SERFEREERER  UEBEBR G REBR
BRI RSN AL ARREFEERERNEERAMRAATR o
inspecting sensitivity analyses prepared by management for the extent
of changes in key estimates and assumptions that, either individually or
collectively, would be required for Inventories to be materially misstated
and considering the likelihood of such a movement in those key
estimates and assumptions arising and whether there is any indication of
management bias in their selection.
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SERELENREN  LHEERBR T RER
FELEARNEE  UREAKBELLESS
At RIFEEFER EKEBRAuEF

HHEEMBENERTER -

EEAEERZEERYP TRETEE ESEH

BIREBENEE -

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND OUR AUDITOR’S
REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information included in the annual report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional

judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Wong Chun Pong.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

28 March 2023
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A Revenue 4 3,667,163 638,957
BEAR Direct costs (3,072,932) (318,788)
EF Gross profit 594,231 320,169
WEME RS FERFFE Valuation (losses)/gains on investment

HENREMENEE properties and investment properties

(B8 Wz classified as held for sale 12 (23,019) 202,341
EA g A Other revenue 5 169,689 175,544
B (BR) A FERE Other net (loss)/income 6 (3.768) 218,551
SHE R EHEAY Selling and marketing expenses (155,425) (82,825)
ITHAX Administrative expenses (258,101) (332,774)
B 5 K& H fth FE UL FRIA B Impairment loss on trade and other

BB EE receivables 29(a) (34,843) (9,477)
KRELEKEENER Profit from operations 288,764 491,529
=% Finance costs 7(a) (324,257) (294,547)
DA E R REE Share of losses of associates 15 (22,234) (1,997)
DA E P EEIE Share of losses of joint ventures 16 (15,299) (7,397)
BREAT (FE) B (Loss)/profit before taxation (73,026) 187,588
FRigT Income tax 8(a) (110,615) (140,874)
EE(FE) BA (Loss)/profit for the year (183,641) 46,714
BT ALHEM,: Attributable to:
AN A 2R AR R R AT F K A Equity shareholders of the Company

KR AT IRNR B and holders of bonus perpetual

(TRAAT]RBFESDIFEA subordinated convertible securities

("PCSs") (185,099) 33,432

SEERRE R Non-controlling interests 1,458 13,282
EE(FE) BA (Loss)/profit for the year (183,641) 46,714
SR (ER) BFGER) (Loss)/earnings per share (HK$)
RN R A E Basic and diluted 11 (0.12) 0.02

F153F 276 AWM sF AR i S ISk — 36
Do ENARBERIE Kok A AT IR 3B 55
B AR B R FBHRMIFE28(0) °

PCSs are set out in Note 28(b).

The notes on pages 153 to 276 form part of these financial statements. Details
of dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company and holders of
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BE_Z-—H+-A=+—HLEFEWBETIIF)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

FE(HR) BT (Loss)/profit for the year (183,641) 46,714

FEHM2HEWE (BRFREFH  Other comprehensive income for the year
DERER) (after tax and reclassification adjustments)

B#EGTEENSEEE=E)  Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to
EAH - profit or loss:

RiGmE  BERZMEHABREZE  Surplus on revaluation of property, plant and

RIREWMHEZ BOEGH AR equipment upon change of use to investment
properties - 5,619
BRREERIEEYEMEIL  Deferred tax liability arising on revaluation gain on
Was PrE SR RIENIBEAE change of use to investment properties = (1,405)
- 4,214
A& A BEE DI E B Items that may be reclassified subsequently to
HIEE - profit or loss:
HMEE N Z5 Exchange differences on translation of:
— BN B A R M BT SRR - financial statements of foreign subsidiaries (953,383) 379,050
~—HEWBRARIRAENE% - redassified to profit or loss upon disposal of
EFHEEER subsidiaries and joint ventures (1,034) 624
(954,417) 379,674
DIEEE AR REERERN Share of other comprehensive income of
Hi 2wk associates and joint ventures (8,860) (18,461)

.. (963277) 361,213
FEHEMEEKE > MIBRATEH Other comprehensive income for the year,

______________________________________ net of incometax (963,277) 365,427
FEX2HEHWSLRE Total comprehensive income for the year (1,146,918) 412,141
BT ALREML: Attributable to:

AN ERE 2 R BT sk A AT IR Equity shareholders of the Company and holder

RESFFEA of PCSs (1,137,985) 394,643
FEPE i = Non-controlling interests (8,933) 17,498
FEX2HEHWELE Total comprehensive income for the year (1,146,918) 412,141

%1535 276 BHIMTEHAAR S E G —55 o The notes on pages 153 to 276 form part of these financial statements.
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e BRI R
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RZZTZZF+ZA=+—8 GAETIIR)
At 31 December 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

kRBEE Non-current assets
wEYE Investment properties 12 8,297,230 8,970,030
Y - B NEEE Property, plant and equipment 12 173,388 192,006
8,470,618 9,162,036
E\REE Intangible assets 3,769 3,769
(SRS Goodwill 13 40,736 40,736
i RN o s Interest in associates 15 186,912 5,257
RELTEMER Interest in joint ventures 16 = 1,069,950
FEBIBREANMEBEALR  Financial assets measured at fair value
((ERBHEAAEE through profit or loss (“FVPL")
ARDFTENEMEE 17 1,341,514 1,443,808
H b FE WUk IE Other receivables 19 289,997 268,023
IRIEFIE & B Deferred tax assets 8(d) 83,293 87,451
10,416,839 12,081,030
REEE Current assets
FEREME LA Inventories and other contract costs 18 7,145,866 9,951,592
BERBHILEAAEBEAKR  Financial assets measured at FVPL
AENEREE 17 31,214 130,858
B 5 N H b E Y Zh 08 Trade and other receivables 19 1,578,368 2,152,059
TBfRIE Prepaid tax 8(c) 2,295 72,320
R R EERFR Restricted and pledged deposits 20 2,057,404 2,862,004
RehREEEEE Cash and cash equivalents 21(a) 579,975 1,077,346
11,395,122 16,246,179
DEABIEHENIEEYE Investment properties classified
as held for sale 12 20,679 46,600
11,415,801 16,292,779
REEE Current liabilities
H 5 R EMERRIE Trade and other payables 22 3,196,329 4,252,279
RITERRHEMEE Bank loans and other borrowings 23 2,568,827 6,196,768
BREE Contract liabilities 24 99,056 1,927,173
HEaE Lease liabilities 25 10,611 7,581
[EfIE S Bonds payable 26 - 249,665
FEAT IR Tax payable 8(c) 269,161 217,567
6,143,984 12,851,033
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

W-ZEZ—F+-A=+—HUANETIIT)
At 31 December 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

RMREME ... Netcurentassets ... 5201817 3,441,745
HEERRBERE Total assets less current liabilities 15,688,656 15,522,776
kRBAE Non-current liabilities
BITERRAMES Bank loans and other borrowings 23 5,097,072 3,649,180
HEAE Lease liabilities 25 35,874 39,204
BT IEEE Deferred tax liabilities 8(d) 1,273,704 1,464,559

_________________________________________________________________________________________ 6,406,650 5,152,943
EEFE NET ASSETS 9,282,006 10,369,833
BRAR#E CAPITAL AND RESERVES
il Share capital 28(c) 141,273 141,273
1 Reserves 9,082,607 10,161,553
ARATEEBRRRE KA Total equity attributable to equity

ARBREBSFEEA shareholders of the Company and

EEERARE holders of PCSs 9,223,880 10,302,826
FERER Non-controlling interests 58,126 67,007
ERBE TOTAL EQUITY 9,282,006 10,369,833

gxepN T -_=#=F -+ \BHLERER#E Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2023.
Iz -

HERE MER
Wong Chun Hong Lam Mei Ka Shirley
BE BE
Director Director

153 %276 B AR ZEMEHRER—ED o The notes on pages 153 to 276 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HE-Z - —F+-A=+—HILFE GBTIITR)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

A
Attrbutable to equity shareholders o the Company and holders of PCSs

e
1BE  ERER  EABR Bl AtERE  REEH
Reserve
aising from Property Non-
Share Share  issuance of Copitd ~ Bxchange ~ statutory  revaluation Other ~ Retained controllng Total
apital PCSs Tesene leserie  TeServes Tesene Tesere profts Totdl  interests equity
T T fn fn i fn T T f T in
§1000 ! §1000 §1000 §1000 §1000 l §1000 §1000 §1000 $000
RZB=-E-A-RNES  Balanceat 1 January 2001 W 192,15 165 605 (3395%) 488734 - (3219 7754868 10074929 79313 10154242
“Eo-ERERSE: Changes in equity for 2021;
ERHE Profit or the year - - - - - - - - BB BM O BW 64
Eprans Other compiehensie income - - - - % S - - BT 426 WA
2ENRER Total comprehensive income - - - - B9 - 414 - B w3 1748 A

WERRERUERBATS  Acuistons of additonal inteests n subsidaries

BiER from non-controling nterests - - - - - - - (596%) - beee) (1383 (61079
BiRbERERERRE Shre options and awarded share forfeied - - - (16403) - - - - 140 - - -
ERENELTRR Transer o PRC statutory resenves 28 - - - - T 3 - - ) - - -
LERIENRS Dividends approved n respect ofthe previous year ~ 281b) - - - - - - - KA A pi] - )

KERHENRS Dividend aporoved inrespect o the urrentyear —~~ 28() - - - - - - - S 58 (581) - (5819
X Dividend paid to 3 non-controling shareholder - - - - - - - - - - sa) 84

WoBZ-E+ZR=1-A  Balance at 31 December 2021
it 1123 195215 11,65 52672 1745 533,097 4214 (62975 7653290 10,302,826 67,007 10,369,833
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

BE_Z-—H+-A=+—HLEFEWBETIIF)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

KOARBRRRAATERRALAARE
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company and holders of PCSs

BTKA
T8EES {H
REEE ELNRE BARR  EXRE  RRRE  EHER  AMEE  REERA 8% FEREE EEEE
Reserve
arising from Property Non-
Share Share issuanceof  Capital  Exchange statutory revaluation Other  Retained controlling
capital ~ premium PCSs  reserve  reserve  reserves reseve  reserve profits Total  interests equity
S S i i o S i o S i S S
§1000 §1000 §1000 §/000 §1000 §1000 §'000 §1000 §1000 §1000 §1000 §000

RoB-ZE-B-ANER  Balanceat ! January 2002 M3 1952155 11,655 52,612 1745 533,007 44 (62975 7653290 10,302,826 67,007 10,369,833
CEoIERERY: Changes in equity for 2022:

EEEE Loss for the year - - - - - - - - (185,099)  (185,0%9) 1458 (183,641)
Ef2ENE Other comprehensie income - - - - (952886) - - - - (k886 (103%)  (963270)
2EhaEE Total comprehensive income - - - - (952886) - - - (185,099) (1,137,985) (8.933)  (1,146918)

WERRESNENBATN  Acutons of addtonal inteest n subsidaries

s from non-controling intrests - - - - - - - A3 - A3 (93041)  (18,686)

FAREARHBATEE  Copiainjecionin asubsidary rom
non-controling interest - - - - - - - - - - 93,099 93,099
BRMERERRERD Share options and awarded shares forfied - - - B33 = = = - B = = -
il Transfer to PRC statutory resenves 28(d)i) - - - - - 59497 - - (59497) - - -
Divdends approved in respect of the previous year —~ 28(0) - - - - - - - - (1530 (153 - (153

WZB-ZETZR=t-F  Balanceat 31 December 2022

if 3 M3 195,15 11,655 1310 (935441) 592,59 4214 138 746734 923880 58126 9,282,006

25153 £ 276 BRI EH MR —#5 ©  The notes on pages 153 to 276 form part of these financial statements.
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RERERER
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

BEZ-—F+-A=+—HIEFEGETIITR)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

REEHR Operating activities
EEREIRFTEER S Cash generated from operations 21(b) 306,677 303,485
EENETAE] Tax paid (62,250) (81,838)
REEBFEERESTFH Net cash generated from operating
activities 244,427 221,647
REFEE Investing activities
BEHMESMEENK Payment for purchase of other
financial assets (2,328,504) (2,766,684)
HEHEMESREEMNFTSKIE  Proceeds from disposal of other
financial assets 2,336,134 2,834,109
BEEBREBRZANER Payment for purchase of financial assets
ABRFFEMERMEENK measured at FVPL = (22,059)
HEFEBIBREABEAIR Proceeds from disposal of financial
ENERMEEMMEHIEAE assets measured at FVPL 22,206 47,530
BUFH & Interest received 59,574 74,976
B IR E W= Investment income received 5,447 49,086
HE—HeatE Proceeds from disposal of
Z TS EIAE a joint venture 751,353 -
—HAEREDIRZFTEHKIE  Proceeds from distribution of
a joint venture 228,360 -
MEBTERR Advance to joint ventures (121,589) (616,036)
EERAEDTEREERZAE Proceeds from repayment of loans to
B joint ventures 276,129 69,366
BRTFE=S Advance to third parties (6,000) -
BEMFE=FTIREERZHE  Proceeds from repayment of loans to
A third parties 46,908 -
HERBARZEE Net cash inflow from disposals of
MAFEE subsidiaries 23,316 499,523
BEWE BB RZERNK Payment for purchase of property, plant
and equipment (3,936) (9,130)
HEWE  BWERZHEH2 Proceeds from disposal of property,
FR8RA plant and equipment 194 377

RBAFEEMERERIRK Proceeds from other receivables
FRIE 2 PR RIE (B Y ERAE impaired in prior years with the

EEEHA) related compensation income
received - 191,847
I FE 428 FR AR 2 LKL B 4 2 1< 3K Payment for acquisition of interest from
non-controlling interest (18,686) (48,647)
RETBHEERETFH Net cash generated from investing

activities 1,270,906 304,258
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RERERER
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

BE_Z-—H+-A=+—HLEFEWBETIIF)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

RMEEE Financing activities
FIgIRITE R EAM Proceeds from new bank loans and
BE PRSHIA other borrowings 21(0) 3,471,664 3,420,842
BERTERREMEER Repayment of bank loans and
other borrowings 21(c) (5,288,014) (4,150,233)
BEENES Repayment of bonds payable 21(c) (255,847) -
ENEERS ZERIED Capital element of lease rentals paid 21(c) (12,775) (23,888)
BENHERS ZFEEHD Interest element of lease rentals paid 21(c) (2,860) (3,550)
JEFERR TR AR Advance from non-controlling interests ~ 21(c) (68,868) 30,661
FRBREHEIPFER Release of pledged deposits 604,625 315,419
BENFEREMEERR Interest and other borrowing costs paid ~ 21(c) (516,099) (587,561)
) FE % AR IR SRR A AR B Dividends paid to non-controlling
shareholders - (28,421)
AN A AE RS AR B MoK A ] #2%  Dividends paid to equity shareholders
BHEHFE AR S of the Company and holders of PCSs  28(b) (15,322) (107,050)
JEERR RS A — MM B ARz Capital injection in a subsidiary from
EE non-controlling interest 93,099 -
METHBARSFEE Net cash used in financing activities (1,990,397) (1,133,781)
ReERFELEEER Net decrease in cash and
WD RE cash equivalents (475,064) (607,876)
R—B—BHNERER Cash and cash equivalents
REeZEEAE at 1 January 21(a) 1,077,346 1,653,196
EXEEHNTE Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes (22,307) 32,026
R+=ZA=+—H® Cash and cash equivalents
ReRFAEEEEAE at 31 December 21(a) 579,975 1,077,346

5153 % 276 B THARZEM B HRE—3% o The notes on pages 153 to 276 form part of these financial statements.
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e M BmERMEE
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B S BERBEIN - LETIIR)
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

—REHR

RERBEBREEERQE ([XR2AR])RE
HEHRBRRNEFERE (—AKR—F&
Pl= BEERETNR_FTNLFNHA
“HREAEHREREEMKRILAER L
BREERR - ARARABROR T ——
FZA-T=B(LHEB)EETLH
BRZAERATE ([BRFF]) ERET -

AAREEZRFREER  MEMBQ
RAEERPEARKANE (HPEADKRE
MEZR DERE VWEEENEH
RIE AR B R RIS T -

2 FESFHBEK

() EHREHR
ZERBRROEBRELE A
2 ((BEREHMAE) RONME
EREBMBEREEA (EBUK
BEXERAD)  BEMEERENE
BUBREER BEEAEN(E
BERERA]D kRE FEARE
FTRAIR BB R B GRAIN K E R E
R ZEUBRRTTEE AR
ERBMABRARER EHHRA (L
TR NEREEGN - NEE
P EEZ @t BRREINWT -

ERGMASERMETEEM
BREERNNEET AR AEER
ARARWASF IR ERERKA
RERM - 20 RHEBEETIK
R B IR % 3 SO P S BUE A
AEBEARGETHME AR ZERH
BRPEH -

GENERAL INFORMATION

Top Spring International Holdings Limited (“the Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability on 25 August 2009 under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The Company’s
shares were listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) on 23 March 2011 (“Listing Date").

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are property development, property
investment, property management and related services and education
related services in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC").

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"),
which collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“the Listing Rules”). Significant accounting policies
adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs that are first
effective or available for early adoption for the current accounting
period of the Group and the Company. Note 2(c) provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from
initial application of these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Group for the current accounting periods reflected in
these financial statements.
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REMBHRME

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B S ERBIN - LUETIIR)
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 FETHEE®
(b) MEBRNWEHREE
HE-_T-_—_F+=ZA=+—HL
FENGAVBERRBELAAT R
HMIBAR (GBI AEE]) RAE
ERBERARRASDEMNER -

MU GRERFMAGEEERES
BRAE HATEERBRNOTX
NETHEMEBAEAABEST]
BE :

- REDFR BRBEREDE
MEETHREFHEZR K
KSEREMERSENEMAE
A (2B RE 23) -

- HtBEBREERERAESR (2
BIMfEE2(9) + &

— PTEESRTA(ZRME20) -

BEHEERDEEREMERR
AEEREERANBIEET R (2
BB 3% 2(aa)) °

RREEVBRESENREY R
REREEEFEHHE - B ER
®eWEHE  BERBRETE
HREMEMEBMNEE  AE -
WA RS H &5 e bt F bt R AR
RRABELBRMERBIBFRTR
REENZHEAMRZAER M
PS4 R A (EH 6 B BT A BE S
BAEMRRESNEERAE
FRHENKE BER&ERAUERH
NLE LTI

ZEMFAREERRSHESH -
ARV ERTEEERERT A
HHELFE WERETRE

ZHIE AR e EH AR ERT
U R AREHELRZE - ]
B 1E % & 7T B R A R 2R HA R A

B2 8 B A R 5 R R
{FE B 15 MR A AR 0 1 T A
R ffs 5t 7 e B 2 10 3 B AORM M
CELEEE

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2022 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together
referred to as the “Group”) and the Group’s interest in associates
and joint ventures.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except that the following
assets and liabilities are stated at their fair value as explained in the
accounting policies set out below:

—  investment properties, including interests in leasehold land and
buildings held as investment property where the Group is the
registered owner of the property interest (see Note 2(i));

- other investments in debt and equity securities (see Note 2(g));
and

- derivative financial instruments (see Note 2(h)).

Non-current assets held for sale are stated at the lower of carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell (see Note 2(aa)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs that
have significant effect on the financial statements and major sources
of estimation uncertainty are discussed in Note 3.
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mEMBRRMEE
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B S BERBEIN - LETIIR)
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 FESTHHEE®
(b) IR mBELE (5)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

HEELCLEERNERTREY
rEEBREBEZE-_TE_—_F+=-A
S+ BLEFERELEFBR
183,600,000/ T - R - T = —
+—A=+—8 X&EBEZHR
TER R EAEE A2,568,800,000
BT MEBRSRRESEEEL A
580,000,000 7 ° R W E T 5 T
BRE AEEEFTREREER
MEMBELEMEMBER S UE
EERET ZERBNBIGEES
AR e ANEBMEER
BRE 2B NEKEARNREM - R
EEBAEELELEE L EBRESP
BELAERSERE-

ERZEBR  ARRESERTMG
REBREBERTUBERFEK
B DERAEERRNREHE
CRETARERE - EEDEH
ERERENAEBRSRETEN -
EWMEZEg =T -_—F+t=-A=+—
BRAZLNEANHE - A&EE
B S SR EUE T 5T 8 I B DAUR S
RBESBRNIRREELGTEMRR
BEBRIERATEE:

() ANEESEERREENRE
BERPYMENERIMENTE
ERBE  WHIRKERER
& PTIS BUR K L M e W 3R0R -

(i) EEEBLERTIRERARE
BRERTHEETER &
ERSFEVBHRRIEDS -
190 458 33 KA o 7 B S 1 %

(iy AAREBREREEBRELLED
[N A &) B B 7 S 9 R A
BT+ =-H=+—H
BiAELAB+ @A &K
FEBUEERE HRFEMSE

&7 W7 48 A KR BB E B
TRREER -

(iv) 752 B 5 4 468 SR ERAE 1R 45 e DA
EHITTRARAR R EHERFX -

(Continued)
Material uncertainty related to going concern

The Group incurred a net loss of $183.6 million for the year ended
31 December 2022. As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s current
bank loans and other borrowings amounted to $2,568.8 million,
while its cash and cash equivalents amounted to $580.0 million.
In view of the prevailing slow-down of the property market, the
Group may take longer time than expected to realise cash from the
sale of its properties to meet its loan repayment obligations. These
conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and therefore, the Group may be unable to realise its assets
and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

In view of these circumstances, the directors of the Company have
given consideration to the future liquidity of the Group and its
available sources of finance in assessing whether the Group will have
sufficient financial resources to continue as a going concern. The
directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow projections prepared
by management, which covers a period of at least 12 months from
31 December 2022. Certain plans and measures have been or will be
taken to mitigate the liquidity pressures and to improve its financial
position which include, but not limited to, the following:

(i)  The Group will continue to implement measures to accelerate
the pre-sales and sales of its properties under development
and completed properties, and speed up the collection of
outstanding sales proceeds and other receivables.

(i)  Management is negotiating with the banks and borrowers
for renewal of existing bank facilities. No commitment or
agreement had been reached as of the date of approval of
these annual financial statements date.

(i) Mr. Wong Chun Hong, a substantial shareholder of the
Company, has issued a letter of financial support to the
Company for a period of at least twelve months from 31
December 2022 to make reasonable efforts to enable the
Group to meet its liabilities as they fall due and carry on
business without a significant curtailment of operations.

(iv) The Group will continue to take active measures to control
administrative costs and maintain containment of capital
expenditures.
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(RS AHEHEIN

LAETTEIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 FESTHE®@

(b)

(0

(d)

MBBROBREE (5)

HBELCEHRNEATREY (B)
EZgRA BEKNEE LG
BB AEEBERAEESR
CHAHEEERMHES TR
——Ff+-—A=+—HEH 1+
BABITEDBHOMEEE - Bt
BEECHRBERCEEERRGRS
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REBERARE IR Y% S B
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V1B L T DA B2 4K 5 R 28 30 W 25 4 R
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(Continued)
Material uncertainty related to going concern (Continued)

The board of directors are of opinion that, assuming success of the
above-mentioned plans and measures, the Group will have sufficient
working capital to finance its operations and to meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due within twelve months from
31 December 2022. Accordingly, the directors are satisfied that it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a
going concern basis.

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA to these financial statements for the current
accounting period:

e Amendments to HKAS 16, Property, plant and equipment:
Proceeds before intended use

o Amendments to HKAS 37, Provisions, contingent liabilities
and contingent assets: Onerous contracts — cost of fulfilling a
contract

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that
is not yet effective for the current accounting period. There is no
material impact by adoption of the amendment to the Group.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls
an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. When assessing whether
the Group has power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and
other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences until
the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions
and cash flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but
only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.
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mEMBRRMEE
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B S BERBEIN - LETIIR)
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 FESTHHEE®
(d) MEATRIEEBRELS @)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Continued)

FERERRELIFARNRRER
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25)HOREFEE M BN KRF 255
TEAE-

AEER—RHBARNERES
(I BB R R G P ERER
% WHER G H s AR R IRE
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Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not
attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in respect
of which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the
holders of those interests which would result in the Group as a
whole having a contractual obligation in respect of those interests
that meets the definition of a financial liability. For each business
combination, the Group can elect to measure any non-controlling
interests either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position within equity, separately from equity attributable
to the equity shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling
interests in the results of the Group are presented on the face of
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an
allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive income
for the year between non-controlling interests and the equity
shareholders of the Company. Loans from holders of non-controlling
interests and other contractual obligations towards these holders
are presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated statement of
financial position in accordance with Notes 2(s) or (t) depending on
the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in
a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions, whereby
adjustments are made to the amounts of controlling and non-
controlling interests within consolidated equity to reflect the change
in relative interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and
no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted for as a
disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with a resulting gain
or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in
that former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised
at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset (see Note 2(g)) or, when appropriate,
the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a
joint venture (see Note 2(e)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in
a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see Note 2(n)),
unless the investment is classified as held for sale (or included in a
disposal group that is classified as held for sale) (see Note 2(aa)).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(e) Associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company has
significant influence, but not control or joint control, over its
management, including participation in the financial and operating
policy decisions.

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group or Company
and other parties contractually agree to share control of the
arrangement, and have rights to the net assets of the arrangement.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for
in the consolidated financial statements under the equity method,
unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group
that is classified as held for sale) (see Note 2(aa)). Under the equity
method, the investment is initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any
excess of the Group’s share of the acquisition-date fair values of
the investee’s identifiable net assets over the cost of the investment
(if any). The cost of the investment includes purchase price, other
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of the investment, and
any direct investment into the associate or joint venture that forms
part of the Group’s equity investment. Thereafter, the investment
is adjusted for the post acquisition change in the Group’s share
of the investee’s net assets and any impairment loss relating to
the investment (see Note 2(f) and (n)(iii)). At each reporting date,
the Group assesses whether there is any objective evidence that
the investment is impaired. Any acquisition-date excess over cost,
the Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the
investees and any impairment losses for the year are recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, whereas the Group’s
share of the post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees’ other
comprehensive income is recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the associate
or the joint venture, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the investee. For this purpose, the
Group’s interest is the carrying amount of the investment under the
equity method together with any other long-term interests that in
substance form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate
or the joint venture (after applying the ECL model to such other
long-term interests where applicable (see Note 2(n)(i)).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(e) Associates and joint ventures (Continued)

(f)

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between
the Group and its associates and joint ventures are eliminated to
the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred, in which case they are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the
equity method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have significant
influence over an associate or joint control over a joint venture, it
is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that investee,
with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former investee at the date when significant
influence or joint control is lost is recognised at fair value and this
amount is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a
financial asset (see Note 2(g)).

Goodwiill
Goodwill represents the excess of

(i)  the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and
the fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree; over

(i) the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and
liabilities measured as at the acquisition date.

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a bargain purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill arising on a business combination is allocated to each cash-
generating unit, or groups of cash-generating units, that is expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination and is tested
annually for impairment (see Note 2(n)(iii)).

On disposal of a cash-generating unit during the year, any
attributable amount of purchased goodwill is included in the
calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g) Other investments in debt and equity securities
The Group's policies for investments in debt and equity securities,
other than investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
are set out below.

Investments in debt and equity securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group commits to purchase/sell the
investment. The investments are initially stated at fair value, plus
directly attributable transaction costs, except for those investments
measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) for which
transaction costs are recognised directly in profit or loss. For an
explanation of how the Group determines fair value of financial
instruments, see Note 29(g). These investments are subsequently
accounted for as follows, depending on their classification.

(@

Investments other than equity investments

Non-equity investments held by the Group are classified into
one of the following measurement categories:

amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection
of contractual cash flows which represent solely
payments of principal and interest. Interest income from
the investment is calculated using the effective interest
method (see Note 2(x)(vi)).

fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) —
recycling, if the contractual cash flows of the investment
comprise solely payments of principal and interest
and the investment is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both the collection of
contractual cash flows and sale. Changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income, except for
the recognition in profit or loss of expected credit losses,
interest income (calculated using the effective interest
method) and foreign exchange gains and losses. When
the investment is derecognised, the amount accumulated
in other comprehensive income is recycled from equity to
profit or loss.

fair value at profit or loss (FVPL) if the investment does
not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised
cost or FVOCI (recycling). Changes in the fair value of the
investment (including interest) are recognised in profit or
loss.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g) Other investments in debt and equity securities
(Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Contingent considerations assumed in business
combinations

Any contingent consideration assumed in a business
combination is measured at fair value at the date of acquisition.
If an obligation to pay contingent consideration that meets
the definition of a financial instrument is classified as equity,
then it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for
within equity. Otherwise, other contingent consideration is
remeasured at fair value at each reporting date and subsequent
changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration are
recognised in profit or loss.

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVPL unless
the equity investment is not held for trading purposes and
on initial recognition of the investment the Group makes an
irrevocable election to designate the investment at FVOCI
(non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income. Such elections are
made on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only be
made if the investment meets the definition of equity from
the issuer’s perspective. Where such an election is made, the
amount accumulated in other comprehensive income remains
in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) until the investment is
disposed of. At the time of disposal, the amount accumulated
in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to
retained earnings. It is not recycled through profit or loss.
Dividends from an investment in equity securities, irrespective
of whether classified as at FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised in
profit or loss as other income in accordance with the policy set
out in Note 2(x)(v).

(h) Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair value. At the
end of each reporting period the fair value is remeasured. The gain
or loss on remeasurement to fair value is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i)

()

Investment property

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are owned
or held under a leasehold interest (see Note 2(m)) to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation. These include land held
for a currently undetermined future use and property that is being
constructed or developed for future use as investment property.

Investment properties are stated at fair value, unless they are still
in the course of construction or development at the end of the
reporting period and their fair value cannot be reliably measured at
that time. Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value or from
the retirement or disposal of an investment property is recognised in
profit or loss. Rental income from investment properties is accounted
for as described in Note 2(x)(ii).

Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment are stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation (see Note 2(k)) and impairment
losses (see Note 2(n)(iii)):

—  interest in leasehold land and buildings where the Group is the
registered owner of the property interest (see Note 2(m));

—  right-of-use assets arising from leases over leasehold properties
where the Group is not the registered owner of the property
interest (see Note 2(m)); and

—  furniture, fixtures and other equipment.

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and equipment
includes the cost of materials, direct labour, the initial estimate,
where relevant, of the costs of dismantling and removing the items
and restoring the site on which they are located, and an appropriate
proportion of production overheads and borrowing costs (see Note

2(2)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item
of property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement
or disposal. Any related revaluation surplus is transferred from the
property revaluation reserve to retained profits and is not reclassified
to profit or loss.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(k) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

0]

(i) Ownership and leasehold interests in land and buildings

Depreciation is provided on the cost of the leasehold land of
properties over the unexpired terms of lease. Costs of buildings
thereon are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of the unexpired term of lease and their estimated useful lives,
being no more than 50 years after the date of completion.

(ii) Furniture, fixtures and other equipment

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of furniture,
fixtures and other equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight-line method over their
estimated useful lives of 3 to 5 years.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its
residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred. Expenditure on development activities
is capitalised if the product or process is technically and commercially
feasible and the Group has sufficient resources and the intention
to complete development. The expenditure capitalised includes the
costs of materials, direct labour, and an appropriate proportion of
overheads and borrowing costs, where applicable (see Note 2(z)).
Capitalised development costs are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses (see Note 2(n)(iii)). Other
development expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period
in which it is incurred.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated
at cost less accumulated amortisation (where the estimated useful
life is finite) and impairment losses (see Note 2(n)(iii)). Expenditure
on internally generated goodwill and brands is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful lives are
assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion that the useful life of
an intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed annually to determine
whether events and circumstances continue to support the indefinite
useful life assessment for that asset. If they do not, the change in
the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for
prospectively from the date of change and in accordance with the
policy for amortisation of intangible assets with finite lives.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset
for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Control is
conveyed where the customer has both the right to direct the use of
the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the economic
benefits from that use.

0]

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-lease
component(s), the Group has elected not to separate non-lease
components and accounts for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease component
for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-term
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of
low-value assets which, for the Group are primarily laptops and
office furniture. When the Group enters into a lease in respect
of a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise
the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments
associated with those leases which are not capitalised are
recognised as an expense on a systematic basis over the lease
term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments payable
over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, using
a relevant incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest
expense is calculated using the effective interest method.
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or
rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability
and hence are charged to profit or loss in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m) Leased assets (Continued)

(@

As a lessee (Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is
initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount
of the lease liability plus any lease payments made at or
before the commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets
also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove
the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the
site on which it is located, discounted to their present value,
less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see Notes 2(k) and 2(n)(iii)), except for the
following types of right-of-use asset:

—  right-of-use assets that meet the definition of investment
property are carried at fair value in accordance with Note
2(i); and

—  right-of-use assets related to interests in leasehold land
where the interest in the land is held as inventory are
carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value in
accordance with Note 2(0).

The initial fair value of refundable rental deposits is accounted
for separately from the right-of-use assets in accordance
with the accounting policy applicable to investments in debt
securities carried at amortised cost (see Notes 2(g)(i), 2(z)(vi)
and 2(n)(i)). Any difference between the initial fair value and
the nominal value of the deposits is accounted for as additional
lease payments made and is included in the cost of right-of-use
assets.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m) Leased assets (Continued)

(0]

As a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in
future lease payments arising from a change in an index
or rate, or there is a change in the Group's estimate of
the amount expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee, or there is a change arising from the reassessment
of whether the Group will be reasonably certain to exercise
a purchase, extension or termination option. When the lease
liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment
is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is
recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change
in the scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that
is not originally provided for in the lease contract (“lease
modification”) that is not accounted for as a separate lease.
In this case the lease liability is remeasured based on the
revised lease payments and lease term using a revised discount
rate at the effective date of the modification.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the
current portion of long-term lease liabilities is determined as
the present value of contractual payments that are due to be
settled within twelve months after the reporting period.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Leased assets (Continued)
(ii) As alessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease
inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an operating
lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to the
ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee. If this is not
the case, the lease is classified as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease components,
the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
The rental income from operating leases is recognised in
accordance with Note 2(x)(ii).

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the sub-leases
are classified as a finance lease or as an operating lease with
reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease.
If the head lease is a short-term lease to which the Group
applies the exemption described in Note 2(m)(i), then the
Group classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease.

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit
losses (ECLs) on the following items:

—  financial assets measured at amortised cost (including
cash and cash equivalents, restricted and pledged
deposits, trade receivables and other receivables,
including loans to joint ventures, which are held for the
collection of contractual cash flows which represent solely
payments of principal and interest); and

- lease receivables.

Other financial assets measured at fair value, including equity
and debt securities measured at FVPL and derivative financial
assets, are not subject to the ECL assessment.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(@

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit
losses are measured as the present value of all expected cash
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the following
discount rates where the effect of discounting is material:

—  fixed-rate financial assets and trade and other receivables:
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition or
an approximation thereof;

- variable-rate financial assets: current effective interest
rate; and

- lease receivables: discount rate used in the measurement
of the lease receivable.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the
maximum contractual period over which the Group is exposed
to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account reasonable
and supportable information that is available without undue
cost or effort. This includes information about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected to
result from possible default events within the 12 months
after the reporting date; and

—  lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result
from all possible default events over the expected lives of
the items to which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these financial
assets are estimated based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors
and an assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions at the reporting date.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(@

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk of the financial instrument
since initial recognition, in which case the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credlit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of default occurring on the financial
instrument assessed at the reporting date with that assessed
at the date of initial recognition. In making this reassessment,
the Group considers that a default event occurs when (i) the
borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in
full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as realising
security (if any is held); or (ii) the financial asset is 90 days past
due. The Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition:

—  failure to make payments of principal or interest on their
contractually due dates;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in a
financial instrument’s external or internal credit rating (if
available);

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

—  existing or forecast changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have a significant
adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its obligation
to the Group.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(@

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective basis.
When the assessment is performed on a collective basis, the
financial instruments are grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics, such as past due status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since initial
recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is recognised as an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises
an impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through
a loss allowance account, except for investments in debt
securities that are measured at FVOCI (recycling), for which the
loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the fair value reserve (recycling).

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with Note 2(x)(vi) is
calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e.
the gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial
asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a financial
asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-impaired
when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have
occurred.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(@

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income (Continued)

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the
following observable events:

- significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

—  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

— it becoming probable that the borrower will enter into
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an adverse
effect on the debtor; or

—  the disappearance of an active market for a security
because of financial difficulties of the issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or lease
receivable is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally
the case when the Group determines that the debtor does not
have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient
cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written
off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in profit or loss
in the period in which the recovery occurs.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer (i.e.
the guarantor) to make specified payments to reimburse the
beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the
holder incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantees issued are initially recognised at fair value,
which is determined by reference to fees charged in an arm’s
length transaction for similar services, when such information
is obtainable, or to interest rate differentials, by comparing
the actual rates charged by lenders when the guarantee is
made available with the estimated rates that lenders would
have charged, had the guarantees not been available, where
reliable estimates of such information can be made. Where
consideration is received or receivable for the issuance of the
guarantee, the consideration is recognised in accordance with
the Group’s policies applicable to that category of asset. Where
no such consideration is received or receivable, an immediate
expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the amount initially
recognised as deferred income is amortised in profit or loss
over the term of the guarantee as income from financial
guarantees issued.

The Group monitors the risk that the specified debtor will
default on the contract and recognises a provision when ECLs
on the financial guarantees are determined to be higher than
the carrying amount in respect of the guarantees (i.e. the
amount initially recognised, less accumulated amortisation).

To determine ECLs, the Group considers changes in the risk
of default of the specified debtor since the issuance of the
guarantee. A 12-month ECL is measured unless the risk that
the specified debtor will default has increased significantly
since the guarantee is issued, in which case a lifetime ECL
is measured. The same definition of default and the same
assessment of significant increase in credit risk as described in
Note 2(n)(i) apply.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Credit losses from financial guarantees issued (Continued)

As the Group is required to make payments only in the event
of a default by the specified debtor in accordance with the
terms of the instrument that is guaranteed, an ECL is estimated
based on the expected payments to reimburse the holder for a
credit loss that it incurs less any amount that the Group expects
to receive from the holder of the guarantee, the specified
debtor or any other party. The amount is then discounted using
the current risk-free rate adjusted for risks specific to the cash
flows.

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period to identify indications that
the following assets may be impaired or, except in the case of
goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

property, plant and equipment, including right-of-use
assets;

—  intangible assets;

- goodwill;

— Interests in associates and joint ventures; and

—  investments in subsidiaries in the Company'’s statement of
financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset's recoverable amount

is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, intangible assets that

are not yet available for use and intangible assets that have

indefinite useful lives, the recoverable amount is estimated
annually whether or not there is any indication of impairment.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
(iii) Impairment of other non-current assets (Continued)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of
its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. Where an asset does not generate cash inflows
largely independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group
of assets that generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a
cash-generating unit). A portion of the carrying amount
of a corporate asset (for example, head office building)
is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if the
allocation can be done on a reasonable and consistent
basis, or to the smallest group of cash-generating units if
otherwise.

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit
to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-
generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating
unit (or group of units) and then, to reduce the carrying
amount of the other assets in the unit (or group of units)
on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying value of an
asset will not be reduced below its individual fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if
determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment
loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.
Reversals of impairment losses are credited to profit or
loss in the year in which the reversals are recognised.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
(iv) Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required to prepare an
interim financial report in compliance with HKAS 34, Interim
financial reporting, in respect of the first six months of the
financial year. At the end of the interim period, the Group
applies the same impairment testing, recognition, and reversal
criteria as it would at the end of the financial year (see Notes
2(n)(i) and (iii)).

(o) Inventories and other contract costs

(0]

Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in the ordinary
course of business, in the process of production for such sale
or in the form of materials or supplies to be consumed in the
production process or in the rendering of services.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value as follows:

—  Leasehold land held for development for sale

The cost of leasehold land, which is held for development
for sale, represents the cost of acquisition and the
premium, if any, payable to the relevant government
authorities. Net realisable value is determined by
reference to management estimates based on prevailing
market conditions.

—  Properties held for/under development for sale

The cost of properties held for/under development for
sale comprises specifically identified cost, including the
acquisition cost of interests in leasehold land, aggregate
cost of development, materials and supplies, wages
and other direct expenses, an appropriate proportion of
overheads and borrowing costs capitalised (see Note 2(z)).
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price,
based on prevailing market conditions, less estimated
costs of completion and costs to be incurred in selling the
property.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(o) Inventories and other contract costs (Continued)

0]

(i)

Inventories (Continued)
—  Completed properties for sale

The cost of completed properties held for sale comprises
all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition.

In the case of completed properties developed by the
Group which comprise of multiple units which are sold
individually, the cost of each unit is determined by
apportionment of the total development costs for that
development project to each unit on a per square metre
basis, unless another basis is more representative of the
cost of the specific unit. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price less costs to be incurred in
selling the property.

—  Low value consumables and supplies

Cost is determined using the weighted average method.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised.

The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable
value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense
in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of
any reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised
as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an
expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

Other contract costs

Other contract costs are either the incremental costs of
obtaining a contract with a customer or the costs to fulfil a
contract with a customer which are not capitalised as inventory
(see Note 2(0)(i)), property, plant and equipment (see Note 2(j))
or intangible assets (see

Note 2(1)).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o) Inventories and other contract costs (Continued)
(ii) Other contract costs (Continued)

177

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that
the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it
would not have incurred if the contract had not been obtained
e.g. an incremental sales commission. Incremental costs of
obtaining a contract are capitalised when incurred if the costs
relate to revenue which will be recognised in a future reporting
period and the costs are expected to be recovered. Other costs

of obtaining a contract are expensed when incurred.

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the costs relate
directly to an existing contract or to a specifically identifiable
anticipated contract; generate or enhance resources that
will be used to provide goods or services in the future; and
are expected to be recovered. Costs that relate directly to an
existing contract or to a specifically identifiable anticipated
contract may include direct labour, direct materials, allocations
of costs, costs that are explicitly chargeable to the customer
and other costs that are incurred only because the Group
entered into the contract (for example, payments to sub-
contractors). Other costs of fulfilling a contract, which are not
capitalised as inventory, property, plant and equipment or

intangible assets, are expensed as incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Impairment losses are
recognised to the extent that the carrying amount of the
contract cost asset exceeds the net of (i) remaining amount of
consideration that the Group expects to receive in exchange
for the goods or services to which the asset relates, less (ii) any
costs that relate directly to providing those goods or services

that have not yet been recognised as expenses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is charged to profit or
loss when the revenue to which the asset relates is recognised.
The accounting policy for revenue recognition is set out in Note

2(x).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(p)

(a)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays non-
refundable consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue (see Note 2(x)). A contract liability would also be recognised
if the Group has an unconditional right to receive non-refundable
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue. In
such cases, a corresponding receivable would also be recognised (see
Note 2(q)).

When the contract includes a significant financing component,
the contract balance includes interest accrued under the effective
interest method (see Note 2(x)).

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration is
unconditional if only the passage of time is required before payment
of that consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised before
the Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration, the
amount is presented as a contract asset.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component are initially measured at their transaction price. Trade
receivables that contain a significant financing component and other
receivables are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs.
All receivables are subsequently stated at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method and including allowance for credit losses
(see Note 2(n)(i)).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management are also included
as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of
the consolidated cash flow statement. Cash and cash equivalents
are assessed for expected credit losses (ECL) in accordance with the
policy set out in Note 2(n)(i).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(s) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value.
Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other payables are
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at invoice amounts.

()

(u)

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair value less
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing
borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Interest expense is recognised in accordance with the
Group's accounting policy for borrowing costs (see Note 2(z)).

Employee benefits

()

Short-term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where payment
or settlement is deferred and the effect would be material,
these amounts are stated at their present values.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“the
MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF
scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions to
the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a
cap of monthly relevant income of $30,000. Contributions to
the plan vest immediately, there is no forfeited contributions
that may be used by the Group to reduce the existing level of
contribution.

The employees of the Group participate in retirement
plans (defined contribution retirement plans) managed by
respective local governments of the municipalities in which
the Group operates in mainland China. The contribution to
the retirement plan is calculated based on fixed rates of the
employees’ salaries cost and charged to profit or loss as and
when incurred, except to the extent that they are included
in the cost of inventories not yet recognised as an expense.
Contributions to the scheme vest immediately, there is no
forfeited contributions that may need to be used by the Group
to reduce the existing level of contribution. The Group has
no other obligation for the payment of retirement and other
post-retirement benefits of staff other than the contributions
described above.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(u) Employee benefits (Continued)
(ii) Share-based payments

The fair values of share options and awarded shares granted
to employees are recognised as employee costs with a
corresponding increase in a capital reserve within equity. The
fair value is measured at grant date using valuation techniques,
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which
the options and awarded shares were granted. Where the
employees have to meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the options, the total estimated fair
values of the options and awarded shares are spread over the
vesting period, taking into account the probability that the
options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options and
awarded shares that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any
resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in
prior years is charged/credited to the profit or loss for the year
of the review, unless the original employee expenses qualify
for recognition as an asset, with a corresponding adjustment
to the capital reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognised
as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of
options and awarded shares that vest (with a corresponding
adjustment to the capital reserve) except where forfeiture is
only due to not achieving vesting conditions that relate to the
market price of the Company’s shares. The equity amount
is recognised in the capital reserve until either the option/
awarded share is exercised (when it is transferred to the share
premium account) or the option/awarded share expires (when
it is released directly to retained profits).
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Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for
the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end
of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect
of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable
temporary differences respectively, being the differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from
unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities, and
all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be
utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal of existing
taxable temporary differences, provided those differences relate
to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and
are expected to reverse either in the same period as the expected
reversal of the deductible temporary difference or in periods into
which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried
back or forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and
credits, that is, those differences are taken into account if they relate
to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are
expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or
credit can be utilised.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(v) Income tax (Continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are those temporary differences arising from goodwill
not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided
they are not part of a business combination), and temporary
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that,
in the case of taxable differences, the Group controls the timing of
the reversal and it is probable that the differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible differences,
unless it is probable that they will reverse in the future.

Where investment properties are carried at their fair value in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2(i), the
amount of deferred tax recognised is measured using the tax rates
that would apply on sale of those assets at their carrying value at
the reporting date unless the property is depreciable and is held
within a business model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the property over time,
rather than through sale. In all other cases, the amount of deferred
tax recognised is measured based on the expected manner of
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end
of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction
is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(v)

(w)

Income tax (Continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements
therein, are presented separately from each other and are not
offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities,
and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Group
or the Company has the legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following additional
conditions are met:

— inthe case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Group or the
Company intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities
or assets are expected to be settled or recovered,
intend to realise the current tax assets and settle the
current tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle
simultaneously.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation
and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of
money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(w) Provisions and contingent liabilities (Continued)

(x)

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision
is expected to be reimbursed by another party, a separate asset is
recognised for any expected reimbursement that would be virtually
certain. The amount recognised for the reimbursement is limited to
the carrying amount of the provision.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises from the
sale of properties, the provision of services or the use by others of
the Group’s assets under leases in the ordinary course of the Group’s
business.

The Group is the principal for its revenue transactions and recognises
revenue on a gross basis. In determining whether the Group acts
as a principal or as an agent, it considers whether it obtains control
of the products before they are transferred to the customers.
Control refers to the group’s ability to direct the use of and obtain
substantially all of the remaining benefits from the products.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income recognition
policies are as follows:

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service
is transferred to the customer at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties
such as value added tax or other sales taxes and is after
deduction of any trade discounts.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(x) Revenue and other income (Continued)

(@

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(@)

(b)

(©

Sale of properties

Revenue arising from the sale of properties developed for
sale in the ordinary course of business is recognised when
property is delivered to customers in mainland China or
when legal assignment is completed in Hong Kong, which
are the point in time when the customer has the ability to
direct the use of the property and obtain substantially all
of the remaining benefits of the property.

Advanced payments received on properties and prior
to the date of revenue recognition are included in the
statement of financial position as contract liabilities (see
Note 2(p)).

To the extend that the advance payments from customer
are regarded as providing a significant financing benefit
to the Group, revenue recognised under that contract
includes accreted on the contract liability under the
effective interest method during the period between
the payment date and the date of delivery of property
in mainland China or the completion date of legal
assignment in Hong Kong. The discount rate applied is
reflective of the rate in a separate financing transaction
between the group and the customer at contract
inception. The interest is expensed as accrued unless it
is eligible to be capitalised under HKAS 23, Borrowing
costs, in accordance with the policies set out in Note 2(z).

Property management and related services income

Property management and related services income is
recognised when services are provided.

Education related services income

Education related services income is recognised when
services are provided.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(x) Revenue and other income (Continued)

(@

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(d)  Other practical expedients applied

The Group has applied the following practical expedients:

For property management and related services
income and education related services income that
had an original expected duration of one year or
less, the Group has not disclosed the information
related to the aggregated amount of the transaction
price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations in accordance with paragraph 121(a) of
HKFRS 15. In addition, the Group does not adjust
the consideration for any effects of a significant
financing component as the period of financing is
12 months or less in accordance with paragraph 63
of HKFRS 15.

The Group has recognised the incremental costs of
obtaining contracts relating to the sale of completed
properties and services as an expense when incurred
in accordance with paragraph 94 of HKFRS 15, as
the amortisation period of the assets that the Group
otherwise would have recognised is within the same
reporting period as the date of entering into the
contract.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(x) Revenue and other income (Continued)
(ii) Revenue from other sources and other income

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over the
accounting periods covered by the lease term, except
where an alternative basis is more representative of the
pattern of benefits to be derived from the use of the
leased asset. Lease incentives granted are recognised in
profit or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net lease
payments receivable. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income in
the accounting period in which they are earned.

Dividends

Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised
when the shareholder’s right to receive payment is
established.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method using the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost that are not credit-impaired,
the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying
amount of the asset. For credit-impaired financial assets,
the effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost
(i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the
asset (see Note 2(n)(i)).

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement
of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the Group
will comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants
that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are
recognised as income in profit or loss on a systematic
basis in the same periods in which the expenses are
incurred.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(y) Translation of foreign currencies

(2)

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. The transaction date
is the date on which the company initially recognises such non-
monetary assets or liabilities. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the
fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement
of financial position items are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the closing foreign exchange rates at the end of the reporting
period. The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in equity in the
exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of the
exchange differences relating to that foreign operation is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss on disposal is
recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale
are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a
qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the asset is
being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities
that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale
are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or
ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or
complete.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(aa) Non-current assets held for sale
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A non-current asset (or disposal group) is classified as held for sale
if it is highly probable that its carrying amount will be recovered
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use
and the asset (or disposal group) is available for sale in its present
condition. A disposal group is a group of assets to be disposed
of together as a group in a single transaction, and liabilities
directly associated with those assets that will be transferred in the
transaction.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control
of a subsidiary, all the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are
cla